SPRINGER BRIEFS IN FOOD, HEALTH, AND NUTRITION

Lucia Rivas Glen E. Mellor Kari Gobius Narelle Fegan

Detection and Typing Strategies for Pathogenic Escherichia coli



SpringerBriefs in Food, Health, and Nutrition

Editor-in-Chief

Richard W. Hartel University of Wisconsin – Madison, USA

Associate Editors

J. Peter Clark, Consultant to the Process Industries, USA John W. Finley, Louisiana State University, USA David Rodriguez-Lazaro, ITACyL, Spain Yrjo Roos, University College Cork, Ireland David Topping, CSIRO, Australia

Springer Briefs in Food, Health, and Nutrition present concise summaries of cutting edge research and practical applications across a wide range of topics related to the field of food science, including its impact and relationship to health and nutrition. Subjects include:

- Food chemistry, including analytical methods; ingredient functionality; physic-chemical aspects; thermodynamics
- Food microbiology, including food safety; fermentation; foodborne pathogens; detection methods
- Food process engineering, including unit operations; mass transfer; heating, chilling and freezing; thermal and non-thermal processing, new technologies
- · Food physics, including material science; rheology, chewing/mastication
- Food policy
- And applications to:
 - Sensory science
 - Packaging
 - Food quality
 - Product development

We are especially interested in how these areas impact or are related to health and nutrition.

Featuring compact volumes of 50 to 125 pages, the series covers a range of content from professional to academic. Typical topics might include:

- A timely report of state-of-the art analytical techniques
- A bridge between new research results, as published in journal articles, and a contextual literature review
- A snapshot of a hot or emerging topic
- An in-depth case study
- A presentation of core concepts that students must understand in order to make independent contributions

For further volumes: http://www.springer.com/series/10203 Lucia Rivas • Glen E. Mellor Kari Gobius • Narelle Fegan

Detection and Typing Strategies for Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*



Lucia Rivas Institute of Environmental Science and Research Riccarton Christchurch New Zealand

Glen E. Mellor CSIRO Food and Nutrition Flagship Archerfield Queensland Australia Kari Gobius CSIRO Food and Nutrition Flagship Werribee VIC Victoria Australia

Narelle Fegan CSIRO Food and Nutrition Flagship Werribee VIC Victoria Australia

 ISSN 2197-571X
 ISSN 2197-5728 (electronic)

 SpringerBriefs in Food, Health, and Nutrition
 ISBN 978-1-4939-2345-8

 ISBN 978-1-4939-2345-8
 ISBN 978-1-4939-2346-5 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-2346-5
 ISBN 978-1-4939-2346-5 (eBook)

Library of Congress Control Number: 2014960070

Springer New York Heidelberg Dordrecht London © The Authors 2015

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Contents

1	Intr	oduction to Pathogenic <i>Escherichia coli</i>	1
	1.1	Pathotypes of E. coli Causing Diarrheal Diseases	1
	1.2	E. coli	4
	1.3	Pathogenic Types of E. coli	4
	1.4	Shiga Toxin-Producing and Enterohemorrhagic E. coli	8
		1.4.1 Virulence Determinants of Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli	9
		1.4.2 Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli-Mediated Disease	13
		1.4.3 Epidemiology of Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli	14
		1.4.4 Ecology of Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli	14
		1.4.5 Transmission of Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli	15
		1.4.6 Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli Occurrence in Foods	19
	1.5	Enterotoxigenic E. coli	23
	1.6	Enteropathogenic E. coli	24
	1.7	Enteroinvasive E. coli	26
	1.8	Enteroaggregative and Diffusely Adherent E. coli	26
	Refe	erences	28
2	Isola	ation and Detection of Pathogenic <i>Escherichia coli</i> in Foods	39
	2.1	Introduction	39
	2.2	General Method of Isolation for E. coli	40
	2.3	Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli	41
		2.3.1 Culture and Isolation of Shiga	
		Toxin-Producing E. coli	41
		2.3.2 Molecular Detection of Shiga	
		Toxin-Producing E. coli	46
	2.4	Enumeration of Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli	50
	2.5	Immunological Detection Methods for Pathogenic E. coli	50

	2.6	Cell C	ulture Assays Used for Pathogenic E. coli	54
		2.6.1	Cell Cytotoxicity Assay for Shiga	
			Toxin-Producing E. coli	54
		2.6.2	Cell Adherence Assavs	54
	2.7	Entero	invasive E. coli	55
	2.8	Entero	toxigenic <i>E. coli</i>	56
	2.9	Entero	pathogenic <i>E. coli</i>	57
	2.10	Entero	aggregative E. coli and Diffusely Adherent E. coli	58
	Refe	rences		59
3	Tyni	na and	Subtyping Methods for Pathogenic <i>Escharichia coli</i>	67
5	3 1	Introdu	uction	67
	3.1	Bioche	emical Profiling	71
	3.2	Seroty	ning	71
	3.5	Dhage	ping Tuning	71
	3.4	Multil	Typing	72
	3.5	Multil	ocus Seguence Typing	73
	3.0 2.7	Dulaad	Eigld Gal Electrophorogia	74
	2.0	Multin	-Field Oel Electiopholesis	70
	3.0 2.0	Donati	tive Element Delindromic Delumerose Chein Resetion	19
	5.9 2.10	Dondo	m Amplified Delymorphie DNA	02 02
	5.10 2.11	Kando Shigo '	III Amplified Polymorphic DNA	03
	3.11 2.12	Siliga	Toxin Subtypes and Bacteriophage Insertion Siles	03 06
	3.12	Lineag	Compare Security Secu	80
	3.13 D.C	whole	Genome Sequencing	89
	Refe	rences		90
4	Eme	erging a	and Future Trends and Technologies for the	
	Dete	ection a	nd Typing of Escherichia coli	101
	4.1	Future	Trends in Foodborne Illness and <i>Escherichia coli</i>	101
	4.2	Future	Trends in the Detection and Typing of Pathogens	102
		4.2.1	Microarrays	103
		4.2.2	Matrix Assisted Laser-Desorption	
			Ionization-Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry	104
		4.2.3	Nanotechnology	105
		4.2.4	Next-Generation Sequencing of the Whole	
			Bacterial Genome	106
	Refe	rences		108

Chapter 1 Introduction to Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*

1.1 Pathotypes of E. coli Causing Diarrheal Diseases

Escherichia coli is one of the predominant facultative anaerobes in the human gastrointestinal tract. Many strains of *E. coli* are harmless and even provide many health benefits to the host, including preventing colonization of the gut by harmful pathogens. However, there are small groups of *E. coli* that have evolved and developed pathogenic strategies that can cause a broad spectrum of disease, including severe diarrheal disease and serious sequelae, in the human host and are more commonly referred to as pathogenic *E. coli* (Nataro and Kaper 1998). These pathogenic, diarrhea-causing *E. coli* can be broadly classified into six recognized pathotypes for which pathogenicity in outbreaks or volunteer studies has been established: Enterotoxigenic *E. coli* (ETEC), Shiga-toxin producing *E. coli* (STEC, also referred to as Verotoxigenic or Verocytotoxigenic *E. coli* (VTEC), which includes a subgroup known as Enterohemorrahagic *E. coli* (EHEC), Enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC), Enteroaggregative *E. coli* (DAEC) (Table 1.1).

There are other extraintestinal pathogenic *E. coli* (ExPEC) that can cause a variety of infections in both humans and animals including urinary tract infections, meningitis, and septicemia (Belanger et al. 2011), but the main focus of this brief will be those *E. coli* that are important for food safety and cause diarrheal disease, with a particular emphasis on the STEC/EHEC group due to their role in major foodborne outbreaks worldwide (Inset 1.1). The pathogenesis of the specific *E. coli* groups will not be described in detail in this review but the reader is referred to the following publications for further information in this area (Nataro and Kaper 1998; Kaper et al. 2004; Steiner et al. 2006; Turner et al. 2006; Gyles 2007).

, FIULU 2010, INTALILIT 2013)	Human disease	Non-bloody to bloody diarrhea, hemorrhagic coli- tis (HC), sudden onset of severe abdominal pain, vomiting, no fever, hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS), acute renal failure in children, thrombocy- topenia, acute nephropathy, seizures, coma, death	Infant diarrhea, can cause severe dehydration and be fatal. Fever, vomiting and abdominal pain. In adults, severe watery diarrhea with mucus without blood, nausea, vomiting abdominal cramps, head- ache, fever and chills	Traveller's diarrhea: watery diarrhea, low-grade fever, abdominal cramps, malaise, nausea. Severe cases have cholera-like extreme diarrhea with watery stools which can lead to dehydration. Usu- ally self-limiting in adults	Similar to shigellosis with profuse diarrhea or dysentery, chills, fever, headache, muscular pain, abdominal cramps	Persistent diarrhea in children. Occasionally bloody diarrhea or secretory diarrhea, vomiting	Childhood diarrhea, septicemia, urinary tract infections
ss. (Auapteu IIUIII Stelliei et al. 2000	Toxins/virulence	At least four: Stx1, Stx2, Stx2c and Stx2d. Multiple variants of Stx2. Locus of enterocyte efface- ment (LEE), virulence plasmid (p0157), intimin, non-LEE encod- ing genes (Nles)	No toxins, Type 4 bundle-forming pilus by typical EPEC strains, intimin/Tir	Heat-liable enterotoxin (LT), Heat-stable enterotoxin (ST), fimbriae	Invasion and adhesin proteins	Small fimbrial adhesins, toxins (Pet, EAST1, ShET1) transcrip- tional activator gene (aggR)	Adhesins of the Afimbrial Adhesin (AFA) family, AIDA adhesin
	Key E. coli/host interaction	Attachment to intesti- nal cells and produc- tion of attaching and effacing lesions	Attaches to intestinal cells and produc- tion of attaching and effacing lesions	Attachment to intesti- nal cells and produc- tion of toxins eliciting chloride secretion from intestinal cells	Invades cells in the colon and spread laterally from cell to cell	Binds in aggregative clumps to cells of the small intestine and produces toxins	Fimbrial and non- fimbrial adhesins identified
monypes associated with	Predominant serotypes	0157, 026, 0103, 0111, 0113+ approximately 50 others	018ab, 018ac, 026, 044, 055, 086, 0114, 0119, 0125, 0126, 0127, 0128, 0142	06, 015, 025, 027, 063, 078, 0115, 0148, 0153, 0129	028ac, 029, 0112ac, 0121, 0124, 0135, 0144, 0152, 0167, 0173	03, 044, 051, 077, 086, 099, 0111, 0126	01, 02, 0121, 075
TAULE I.I E. COM Par	Pathotype	Shiga toxigenic/ Enterohemor- rhagic <i>E. coli</i> (STEC/EHEC)	Enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC)	Enterotoxigenic <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i> (ETEC)	Enteroinvasive E. coli (EIEC)	Entroaggregative E. coli (EAEC)	Diffusely adherent E. coli (DAEC)

Table 11 *F coli* matheticnes associated with human diarrheal diseases (Adanted from Steiner et al. 2006; Hunt 2010; Mainil 2013)

Inset 1.1: Foodborne Disease and E. coli

Foodborne diseases, particularly diarrheal diseases, are an important cause of morbidity and mortality and are a public health concern worldwide. Depending on the agent, illness can vary from gastroenteritis to chronic, and in some cases, life-threatening and death. Although a number of countries have conducted studies to determine the burden of foodborne disease, obtaining global estimates has been more challenging (Flint et al. 2005). This is due to the fact that (a) foods can be contaminated by many different agents (i.e., bacteria, viruses, parasites, and chemicals), (b) transmission can occur through a variety of other exposure such as direct contact with animals or with other infected persons, and by exposure to contaminated water, and (c) only a small proportion of illnesses are confirmed and reported (Scallan et al. 2011). Microbes, parasites, and chemicals are the major agents that contribute to the burden of foodborne diseases as a result of the consumption of contaminated food stuffs.

Current estimates from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) state that there are approximately 48 million cases of foodborne illness per year in the USA, with approximately 128,000 hospitalizations and 3000 deaths. An estimation of illness due to 30 pathogens and unspecified agents based on 10 years of data (2000–2010) in Canada found a total of 4.0 million episodes of foodborne illness (Thomas et al. 2006). The World Health Organisation (WHO) reported that 70% of 2.2 million deaths that occur each year due to acute diarrheal disease are associated with water or foodborne contamination, but because many cases are not reported to the health officials, the true health impact of these foodborne illnesses is unknown (WHO 2008).

The overall burden of pathogenic *E. coli* in foods is unknown, but STEC is one of the main groups of pathogens known to contribute to the vast majority of illnesses, hospitalization, and deaths in the USA and in other countries (CDC 2011). In the USA, *E. coli* O157:H7, the most predominate serotype of STEC was reported to cause 73,000 illnesses annually with 52% of outbreaks reported to be foodborne (Rangel et al. 2005). Determining the foodborne burden of other non-STEC pathogenic *E. coli* requires information on the incidence of illnesses caused by each pathotype (EPEC, ETEC, EIEC, and EAEC) and attributable fractions to specific foods. This information is not available as few, if any, laboratories examine food or fecal samples for these organisms and infections with these organisms are not categorized as notifiable diseases. It may be possible that other pathotypes of *E. coli* are among the millions of cases of illness where there is insufficient data to estimate the agent-specific disease burden (Thomas et al. 2006; CDC 2011).

Surveillance and outbreak investigations performed in industrialized countries have enabled authorities and industries to study trends over years as well as gain valuable information on the epidemiology of these pathogens by identifying transmission routes, vehicles, and mechanisms of contamination. Although comparison of surveillance data between different countries is difficult to undertake, given the inherent differences in methodological approaches and data sources, the information obtained from such activities is vital for developing and implementing prevention and control measures in a cost-effective manner (Thomas et al. 2006). In developing countries, foodborne disease is all too common and the lack of efficient surveillance systems demonstrates the significant burden of illness and death due to diarrheal pathogens (Mead et al. 1999). A global estimate of the burden of foodborne disease is therefore unknown.

1.2 E. coli

Escherichia coli is a member of the family *Enterobacteriaceae*. The bacterium is a short, nonspore-forming, Gram-negative bacillus that grows readily on simple culture media or synthetic media with as little as glycerol or glucose as its only nutrient. It may also be motile by peritrichous flagella, or nonmotile and is a facultative anaerobe. Other biochemical characteristics include indole production, lack of citrate fermentation, positive methyl red test and negative urease, and Voges–Proskauer reactions (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003; Steiner et al. 2006).

E. coli is also characterized by a serotyping scheme based on three fundamental antigens, O (lipopolysaccharide), K (capsular), and H (flagellar), all of which can be subdivided into partial antigens. Fimbriated strains can also be classified based on fimbrial antigens. Although there are between 50,000 and 100,000 or more *E. coli* serotypes, the number of pathogenic serotypes in gastrointestinal infections is limited. Each of the major categories of diarrheagenic *E. coli* can be generally grouped based on O:H serotypes, which has proven to be useful in understanding the pathogenesis and epidemiology of enteric *E. coli* infections (Nataro and Kaper 1998; Steiner et al. 2006).

1.3 Pathogenic Types of E. coli

Pathogenic *E. coli* strains use a multistep scheme of pathogenesis that is similar to that used by other mucosal pathogens, which consists of colonization of a mucosal site, evasion of host defenses, multiplication, and host damage (Kaper et al. 2004; Steiner et al. 2006). Pathogenic *E. coli* are grouped into pathotype lists based on (a) mechanisms of pathogenicity (e.g., patterns of attachment to, and invasion of host cells), (b) virulence properties (e.g., toxin production, presence of virulence plasmids, attachment mechanisms), and (c) clinical syndromes (Kaper et al. 2004). The nomenclature for pathogenic *E. coli* is complex and comprehension is not aided

by the relatively large number of *E. coli* pathotypes described, the similarity in the names given to different pathotypes, inconsistencies in usage in the literature, and the emergence of new pathotypes.

It is important to note that some groups and strains of *E. coli* can share similar virulence traits and there are many overlaps in the mechanisms of pathogenesis for various pathotypes. For example, both EPEC and EHEC produce intimin, a protein that allows the pathogen to attach to intestinal cells. In addition, many of the virulence genes carried by these pathogenic *E. coli* groups are contained within mobile genetic elements and can be transferred between strains to create "emerging" strains. This type of transfer is demonstrated in the 2011 outbreak in Germany that involved an *E. coli* O104:H4 and is described in Insert 1.2.

Inset 1.2: Enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* O104:H4 Outbreak—A Paradigm of Emerging Foodborne Pathogens

Emerging diseases have been described as those whose prevalence has increased in recent decades or is likely to increase in the near future (Altekruse and Swerdlow 1996). New pathogens may emerge due to the uptake of mobile virulence factors found in large regions of DNA known as pathogenicity islands (PAIs). These islands may be shared among various pathogens and contribute to their evolution and adaption to new conditions that the organism may encounter. This transfer of genes is acquired through mobile genetic elements such as plasmids, transposons, conjugative transposons, and bacteriophages (Ahmed et al. 2008; López-Campos et al. 2012). In addition, many pathogens do not cause disease in their animal host but emerged due to ecological changes which brought their exposure and adaptation to various other conditions within the food chain.

Food production and distribution for the industrialized countries occur across complex global networks in increasingly shorter timescales. As a result, the food chain is a dynamic system and foodborne pathogens within this system have unique opportunities to cross-species lines, become resistant to antimicrobial agents, change and adapt to new and existing niches, and thus emerge or reemerge to cause a public health concern. A number of factors have contributed to the current era of emerging infections and include:

- 1. Rapid population growth and demographic shift toward an ageing population.
- 2. An increasing global market in fresh produce, meats, ethnic foods, and some of these originating from countries without appropriate food safety procedures.
- 3. Improved transport logistics and conditions that enable pathogens to survive on food products and increase the risk of exposure to the consumer.
- 4. An increase in international travel that distributes a transient intestinal flora worldwide.

- 5. Changes in eating habits, such as an increase in convenience foods and the consumption of raw or lightly cooked foods and the demand for exotic foods.
- 6. A shift from low- to high-protein foods globally.
- 7. A greater proportion of immune-compromised individuals either as a result of the increasing elderly population or the increased numbers of highly susceptible individuals with immunosuppressive diseases or treatments.
- Changing farming practices that include the drive to increase food production at a cheaper cost and the increasing demand for organic or freerange products.
- 9. The increasing intrusion of man on native wildlife habitats.
- 10. Climate change that includes the changes in vectors and carriage of diseases to other regions globally (Newell et al. 2010).

Globalization of the food supply has served to expand the range of foodborne pathogens as well as to amplify health and economic impacts of a single contamination event (King 2012). Indeed, surveillance and outbreak investigations have highlighted the changing epidemiology of foodborne diseases; where traditional pathogens are being controlled or reduced in foods while other unknown pathogens appear to emerge and demonstrate the contribution of globalization on the economic and health impacts of foodborne disease outbreaks (Newell et al. 2010; King 2012).

The large foodborne outbreak in 2011 caused by an unusual EHEC O104:H4 is an example of an emerging pathogen. This outbreak was centered in Germany but affected over 4000 people in 17 countries, with 908 cases of hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS) and 50 deaths (World Health Organisation 2011; CDC 2013c) and has been reported to be one of the deadliest E. coliassociated disease outbreaks to date. Early in the outbreak, it became evident that international surveillance would be necessary to determine the extent of the outbreak, characterize the disease, and identify the source. The pathogen was isolated from clinical samples but not from the epidemiologically suspected food vehicle. Epidemiological investigations identified salad sprouts as a possible contamination source; however, the specific EHEC O104:H4 strain was not isolated from sprout products in the market. The source of the contamination remained unclear as the EHEC strain was only identified in leftovers and refuse. Fenugreek sprouts were also identified as a suspected source due to the coincidence between French and German clinical cases. Their origin could be traced back to a common import of seed from Egypt (Karch et al. 2012; King et al. 2012).

Efforts to identify the source implicated in the outbreak quickly resulted in some local authorities warning the public of the possible sources of contaminated produce, which in the end were not genuine. Initial reports had linked the German outbreak to Spanish vegetables, which were later found to be negative for the O104:H4 serotype (Karch et al. 2012). This confusion over the source of the outbreak caused massive economic losses to industries at a time of global financial hardship. The European Union (EU) approved US\$ 287 million in emergency aid for European vegetable farmers affected by the crisis, which was estimated to be only a small fraction of actual losses generated (King 2012). Surveillance conducted in the USA during the outbreak identify six cases associated with the outbreak but none of the patients recalled consumption of sprouts (CDC 2013c).

The EHEC O104:H4 outbreak was unusual in that there were important clinical and microbiological differences between this outbreak and other previous outbreaks of E. coli O157:H7. Historically, E. coli O104:H4 had been associated with sporadic cases of human disease but not with large-scale outbreaks (Mellmann et al. 2011; Scheutz et al. 2011). Outbreak investigations discovered that the E. coli O104:H4 strain possessed a combination of virulence properties of two different diarrhea-causing E. coli pathotypes, typical EAEC and STEC. Comparative genomics showed that the outbreak strain carried the chromosomal backbone of a typical EAEC strain but had also acquired the bacteriophage-encoded Shiga toxin and antibiotic-resistant factors from an ancestral precursor of the strain (Frank et al. 2011; Mellmann et al. 2011; Rasko et al. 2011; Scheutz et al. 2011). In addition, the strain was identified to be negative for the genes coding for intimin (eae), hemolysin A (hylA, also known as ehxA) and EAST1 toxin (astA), commonly associated with STEC infection but was positive for the *agg*R gene that regulates the expression of aggregative adherence fimbriae associated with EAEC (Gault et al. 2011). Due to the hybrid pathogenicity characteristics, a new pathotype "Entero-Aggregative-Haemorrhagic E. coli (EAHEC)" has been proposed (Brzuszkiewicz et al. 2011), but others have suggested that the outbreak strain belonged to the EHEC pathotype as it reflects the major clinical attributes and follows the precedent set by other eae-negative EHEC outbreak strains (Mellmann et al. 2011).

Other unusual clinical differences were observed between this outbreak strain compared to previous outbreaks of STEC. First, the number of cases of HUS represented over 20% of cases, which is a much greater percentage compared to other outbreaks. Second, there was a high predominance of adult women among the cases rather than children, and finally a longer median incubation period than expected for cases of STEC (Frank et al. 2011; Gault et al. 2011). Evaluation of the laboratory testing regimes within the EU reported that during the outbreak, many countries lacked the capability at national level to detect and characterize STEC O104:H4. The results highlighted the complexity of the detection and identification of STEC, which made it difficult to diagnose cases. There was also evidence of limited sensitivity of routine diagnostic methods for detecting the outbreak serotype and pathotype, suggesting that further improvements in this area are required in

order to fill surveillance gaps (Rosin et al. 2013). In the USA, the CDC recommended protocols for routine testing of acute community-acquired diarrhea samples that included assays to detect Shiga toxins, and simultaneous culture on selective and differential agar to distinguish STEC O157 and other non-O157 serotypes (CDC 2013c).

This outbreak demonstrates the paradigm of bacterial genome plasticity and the ability of an *E. coli* strain to gain and/or lose chromosomal and plasmid-encoded virulence factors to create a highly pathogenic hybrid of two pathotypes of *E. coli*. Investigations have emphasized the threat posed by newly emergent strains of pathogenic *E. coli* and the need for improved methods to identify such strains within the food chain, as well as the need for public health surveillance of STEC infections and its important role in devising and implementing control measures (Rosin et al. 2013).

1.4 Shiga Toxin-Producing and Enterohemorrhagic *E. coli*

STEC form the majority of the *E. coli* implicated in foodborne disease and can cause illnesses ranging in severity from mild diarrhea to severe kidney complications that can result in death. STEC are a heterogeneous group of *E. coli* linked by a single feature; the ability to produce Shiga toxins (Stx) (Nataro and Kaper 1998). As Shiga toxins are cytotoxic to Vero cells, an alternative nomenclature has been used that includes the terms Vero toxins (VT) and Verotoxigenic *E. coli* (VTEC) (Karmali et al. 2010). Apart from the production of toxins, STEC are quite diverse with respect to other known virulence determinants and are thought to be equally diverse in their capacity to cause disease (Law 2000).

EHEC is a group that has a number of definitions and classifications but it is a term generally used to describe STEC isolated from cases of human infection, such as bloody diarrhea or HUS, and often consists of particular serotypes of *E. coli* such as O157:H7, or O157:H-, O111:H- and O26:H11 or strains that possess certain virulence markers (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003; Mainil and Daube 2005). Most EHEC can be differentiated from STEC as they possess accessory virulence markers such as a locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) and a virulence plasmid (pO157), which are common in strains associated with disease (Law 2000). However, not all EHEC contain these accessory virulence markers and it is often difficult to determine which STEC strains have the potential to cause disease. While not all STEC strains are believed to be pathogens, all EHEC strains possessing certain virulence markers are considered to be pathogens. It remains unclear if all STEC present in animal reservoirs present a risk to the human population, though information on virulence continues to expand as more clinical cases arise and other potential virulence factors are identified (Law 2000; Paton et al. 2001).

The STEC seropathotype (SPT) classification is based on a serotype-specific spectrum of disease frequency and severity with discrete intervals ranging from the most pathogenic serotype *E. coli* O157:H7 (SPT-A) to STEC serotypes that are either frequently, occasionally, or infrequently associated with clinical cases (SPTs B-D, respectively) to strains that have never been associated with human disease (SPT E) (Karmali et al. 2003, 2010). The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) evaluated the seropathotype classification scheme and concluded that the scheme did not define pathogenic STEC or provide an exhaustive list of pathogenic serotypes. It only classifies STEC based on their reported frequency in human disease, their known association with outbreaks, and their severity of the outcome including HUS and hemorrhagic colitis (HC). Therefore, pathogenicity could not be excluded nor confirmed for given STEC serogroups or serotypes based on the seropathotype scheme or analysis of the public health surveillance data (EFSA 2013).

The serogroup O157 is currently the predominant EHEC serogroup to cause infections worldwide and as a result has been the focus of research and regulatory framework (Grant et al. 2011; Vally et al. 2012; Eurosurveillance Editorial Team 2013; Luna-Gierke et al. 2014). However, non-O157 serogroups are increasingly recognized as important foodborne pathogens worldwide, with reports of severe disease and outbreaks linked to produce, meat, and dairy products (Table 1.2). Currently, more than 200 virulent non-O157 serotypes have been isolated from outbreaks and sporadic cases of HUS and severe diarrhea (Kaspar et al. 2010). In the USA, a 6-year study (2005–2010) evaluating an enhanced STEC testing regime in clinical samples found that the most common non-O157 serogroups identified were O103, O26, O111, O45, O121, and O145 (Mingle et al. 2012).

These serogroups have been associated with severe disease in humans and involved in outbreaks, though less frequently than the O157 serogroup (Karmali et al. 2003). These serogroups are also consistently found in other countries, but other serogroups can also be found depending on the country and geographical regions (Mellor et al. 2013). Currently, it is difficult to determine which serotypes of *E. coli* are EHEC and it is equally challenging to predict the emergence of strains that can acquire the genes for Shiga-toxin production or other virulence factors and so cause human illness (Coombes et al. 2008) (Inset 1.2). The true incidence and severity of non-O157 remain unknown due to our current inability to detect all non-O157 cases. Literature suggests the need to identify more predictive virulence factors because serotype does not consistently predict disease severity (Wang et al. 2013b). It is likely that virulence results from a combination of factors (Grant et al. 2011).

1.4.1 Virulence Determinants of Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli

Human STEC strains can harbor two potent bacteriophage-encoding Shiga toxins (Nataro and Kaper 1998). The two major immunological groups within the Stx family are known as Stx1 and Stx2, with multiple subtypes of Stx2, and strains may express Stx1 only, Stx2 only, or both toxins (Agbodaze 1999; Law 2000). Both

	Reference	(CDC 2013a)	(CDC 2013b)	(Launders et al. 2013)	(CDC 2012b)	(CDC 2012a)	(CDC 2013c)	(Slayton et al. 2013)	(CDC 2010)	(CDC 2009b)	(CDC 2009a)	(Greenland et al. 2009)	(Health Protection Agency UK 2011)
	Food Source	Frozen food product	Ready-to-eat salads	Watercress	Organic spinach and spring mix blend	Raw clover sprouts	Fenugreek sprouts	Romaine lettuce	Cheese	Beef	Beef	Steak tartare	Vegetables and soil
	Deaths	0	0	0	0	0	50	0	0	0	2	0	-
	No. of HUS ^a	2	2	0	0	0	908	3		2	5	0	4
ated with food	No. of hospitalizations	6	7	7	13	7	I	34	15	12	19	7	74
utbreaks associ	No. of cases	35	33	19	33	29	4075	58	38	17	26	20	250
producing E. coli ou	Country	USA	USA	UK	USA	USA	France, Germany, USA	USA	USA	USA	USA	Netherlands	UK
d Shiga-toxin	Year	2013	2013	2013	2012	2012	2011	2011	2010	2009	2009	2008–2009	2011
Table 1.2 Selecté	Serotype	<i>E. coli</i> 0121	E. coli 0157	E. coli 0157	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7	E. coli O26	<i>E. coli</i> 0104	E. coli 0157:H7	E. coli 0157:H7	E. coli 0157:H7	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H-	E. coli 0157

10

Table 1.2 (contir	(pənu							
Serotype	Year	Country	No. of cases	No. of hospitalizations	No. of HUSª	Deaths	Food Source	Reference
E. coli 0157:H7	2012	Canada	29	7	0	0	Pork	(Trotz-Williams et al. 2012)
<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7	2009	USA	77	35	10	0	Ready-to-bake cookie dough	(Neil et al. 2012)
<i>E. coli</i> 026:H11	2007	Denmark	20	I	I	I	Beef sausage	(Ethelberg et al. 2007)
<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7	2006	USA	199	102	31	3	Fresh spinach	(CDC 2006)

^a HUS hemolytic uremic syndrome

types of toxins have a similar structure and mode of action, although their effect *in vitro* and *in vivo* varies considerably. There is increasing evidence that Stx2-producing strains are potentially more virulent than strains that produce Stx1 only or that produce both Stx1 and 2 (Werber et al. 2003; Mainil and Daube 2005; Luna-Gierke et al. 2014). Studies have suggested that *E. coli* O157:H7 strains that express Stx2 are more important than Stx1 in the development of HUS and may result in an increase in disease severity (Werber et al. 2003). Shiga toxins act by assisting the bacterium to lyse gastrointestinal epithelial cells that release limiting nutrients such as iron (Torres and Payne 1997).

Aside from the production of Shiga toxins, STEC are known to be diverse with respect to other known virulence determinants. Many virulence genes have been found in clusters known as PAIs typically surrounded with unstable or mobile sequence repeats, indicating insertions that are likely to be transferred between bacteria (LeBlanc 2003). A number of STEC virulence factors are responsible for the attachment of the pathogen to the intestinal epithelial cells and destruction or effacement of the bush-border of microvilli. This process is known as the attaching and effacing (A/E) phenotype and is also found to be a mechanism of other bacterial groups, including the EPEC group (LeBlanc 2003). The LEE contains the genes implicated in the A/E phenotypes and can be described as three functional regions: (1) the regions that encode the effector proteins termed the EPEC secreted proteins (Esps), (2) a type III secretion systems (TTSS), required for the secretion of proteins including the products of the Esps, and (3) the region containing eae gene that encodes intimin, an outer membrane protein required for intimate attachment, and Tir encoding the protein translocated intimin receptor (Tir) that acts as a receptor for intimin (Law 2000; LeBlanc 2003).

Many STEC carry a conserved plasmid such as pO157, pSFO157, and pO113 (Burland et al. 1998, 2006; Newton et al. 2009). The pO157 was the first described and carries a number of putative virulence genes, such as espP, katP and toxB (Burland et al. 1998; LeBlanc 2003; Fratamico et al. 2011). This plasmid also encodes a hemolysin (*hlvA* or *ehxA*) that has been found to illicit an immune response in clinical disease (Schmidt et al. 1995); however, the role of this hemolysin in disease is not fully understood. Several other potential virulence factors have been implicated in EHEC adherence including the IrgA homologue adhesin (Iha), E. coli factor of adherence 1 (Efa1), STEC autoagglutinating adhesin (Saa), production of a serine protease, production of a heat-stable enterotoxin (EAST), and the presence of a special catalase system (Law 2000; Tarr et al. 2000; Paton et al. 2001). Most genes associated with E. coli O157:H7 pathogenesis appear to have been acquired from multiple recombination events with foreign DNA originating from other species, through horizontal transfers such as conjugation, bacteriophage transfers, or natural transformations. However their exact roles in the adherence process are not fully understood (LeBlanc 2003). The high virulence of STEC strains such as O157:H7 is also aided by the pathogen's ability to survive environmental stress conditions, such as resistance to low pH levels found in the gastrointestinal tract, which contributes to its very low infectious dose (50–100 colony forming units) (Viazis and Diez-Gonzalez 2011).

Additional studies also indicated that the pathogenesis of STEC/EHEC infection involves other effector molecules that are encoded on PAIs outside the LEE, including many non-encoding effectors (Nles) (Karmali et al. 2003; Gruenheid et al. 2004; Coburn et al. 2007; Coombes et al. 2008; Luzader et al. 2013). The surge of whole genome sequencing technologies has also seen a growing number of *E. coli* O157:H7 and other non-O157 genomes becoming available (Ju et al. 2012a; Eppinger et al. 2013). These technologies are becoming more commonly used during outbreak situations (Frank et al. 2011; Mellmann et al. 2011; Rasko et al. 2011; Scheutz et al. 2011), and thus comparative genome analysis will undoubtedly expand the list of putative virulence factors in the near future.

1.4.2 Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli-Mediated Disease

Infections caused by EHEC may be asymptomatic or associated with a variety of gastrointestinal symptoms ranging from mild, non-specific diarrhea to life threatening HC; a bloody diarrhea with inflammation of the large bowel, which is dependent on serotype and a combination of virulence factors (Karch et al. 2005; Gyles 2007). EHEC infection is also the major cause of HUS, a triad comprising intravascular hemolysis, thrombotic thrombocytopenia purpure (TTP, low circulating platelets), and kidney impairment. A systematic review and meta-analysis to determine the proportion that develops chronic sequalae found that the estimated proportion of *E. coli* O157:H7 cases that developed HUS ranged from 17.2% in extra-small studies (<50 cases) to 4.2% in extra-large case studies (>1000 cases) (Keithlin et al. 2014). HUS has also been reported to have a mortality rate of 2–10% of cases (Law 2000) and the most severe clinical signs are normally seen in children and the elderly (Karch et al. 2005). The person-to-person spread observed and the small numbers of cells in contaminated foods have shown that the infective dose of *E. coli* O157:H7 is low (Armstrong et al. 1996).

Several serotypes of non-O157 have been associated with sporadic and epidemic human infections worldwide. Some cause clinical disease indistinguishable from that caused by *E. coli* O157:H7, but generally are associated less frequently with bloody diarrhea and HUS (Johnson et al. 2006; Preussel et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2013b), and their animal reservoirs and modes of transmission are not well understood (Karch et al. 2005; Ferens and Hovde 2011). No specific treatment for EHEC infection is available; therapy is symptomatic only, and antibiotic therapy as with many gastrointestinal infections is contraindicated (Nataro and Kaper 1998). Although *E. coli* O157:H7 causes the most EHEC infections, the isolation rates of non-O157 STEC serotypes from foods and animal feces are higher than those of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Johnson et al. 2006; Mathusa et al. 2010; Grant et al. 2011). This suggests that humans are exposed to non-O157 STEC from food and environmental sources more often than *E. coli* O157. However, the incidence of non-O157 STEC infections is lower than *E. coli* O157. The lack of uniformity in the association between non-O157 STEC disease and outbreaks suggests that variability in the

virulence of non-O157 STEC strains is likely and that *E. coli* O157:H7 may be more virulent or transmissible than other STEC (Nataro and Kaper 1998; Johnson et al. 2006; Coombes et al. 2008). It is unclear which factors make *E. coli* O157:H7 more prevalent in disease than non-O157 STEC.

1.4.3 Epidemiology of Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli

Over 380 different STEC serotypes have now been associated with gastrointestinal disease in humans and both Stx-positive and Stx-negative strains can be found in animals (Karmali et al. 2010). Although isolates belonging to serogroup O157 are regarded as the most clinically significant STEC strains, a number of non-O157 serotypes have been implicated in both sporadic disease and outbreaks (Johnson et al. 2006; Mathusa et al. 2010; Grant et al. 2011; Luna-Gierke et al. 2014). Certainly the increasing detection coincides with a marked rise in reporting of sporadic non-O157 STEC, which is related to improved methods and surveillance (Luna-Gierke et al. 2014). Reporting of non-O157 STEC in the USA has increased every year since it was designated a nationally notifiable infection in 2000 (Wang et al. 2013b). Recent FoodNet data suggest that non-O157 STEC infections have started to gain predominance over O157 (Wang et al. 2013a). Six STEC serogroups, O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, and O145 (often referred to as the "top 6") accounted for 75% of the total non-O157 STEC illnesses in the USA, while other highly pathogenic serogroups, e.g., O91, O104, O113, and O128 are serogroups more prevalent in other countries (Karmali et al. 2003; Johnson et al. 2006; Eurosurveillance Editorial Team 2013). Results from studies have tended to suggest that non-O157 STEC may be associated overall with less severe diseases based on hospitalization rates and serious sequalae (Preussel et al. 2013).

1.4.4 Ecology of Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli

Ruminants, particularly cattle and sheep, are recognized to be the major reservoir of STEC, where it is mainly harbored in the lower intestine and is intermittently isolated from the rumen and upper gastrointestinal tract (Low et al. 2005; Ferens and Hovde 2011). The rectoanal junction has been found to be a site for the colonization of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Low et al. 2005). *E. coli* O157:H7 has been detected in dairy and beef cattle, both pasture and lot fed and in healthy and diarrheic cattle (Low et al. 2005; Callaway et al. 2009; Wells et al. 2014). It has also been found in other ruminants such as buffalo, goat, sheep, and deer (Mainil and Daube 2005). *E. coli* O157:H7 is uncommon in chicken, but can colonize these animals and wild birds (Best et al. 2005; Ejidokun et al. 2006). STEC strains have also been associated with disease in piglets, and can be shed by swine, although the role that this food animal plays in STEC transmission to humans is unclear (Ho et al. 2013; Tseng et al. 2014). STEC have also been found in various other animals, such as pigeons, flies, horses and ponies, dogs, and cats, but the great majority of these strains are non-O157 serotypes and are of questionable pathogenicity (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003).

Cattle appear to be the most important reservoir in terms of human infection (Callaway et al. 2009; Arthur et al. 2010). Stx-positive E. coli have been found in bovine herds in many countries (Table 1.3). Isolation rates, which vary between countries, can be as high as 64% and these bacteria are typically associated with healthy animals. The wide range of the reported prevalence rates is very likely a consequence, not only of differences in climate, ecology, and farming practice in different regions, but also of variation in the sampling and testing protocols used in different studies (Gill and Gill 2010). The shedding of STEC from individual animals in feces is transient and sporadic and is affected by diet, age, feeding, and levels of stress (Callaway et al. 2009; Wells et al. 2011, 2014). Fecal shedding of E. coli O157:H7 persists longer in calves than in adult cattle and the type of feed consumed by cattle can influence the prevalence and acid resistance of this organism (Callaway et al. 2009). Diet can also influence the microbiotic composition of the feces but little is known about the interaction between the indigenous microbiota and fecal shedding of E. coli O157:H7 (Wells et al. 2014). STEC have been reported to survive for a number of months in soil environments and manure, and have been isolated from cattle water troughs and natural water supplies (McGee et al. 2002; Bolton et al. 2011).

1.4.5 Transmission of Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli

STEC can be transmitted via food, water, person-to-person, and animal-to-person. Many cases involve the consumption of contaminated foods, with undercooked ground beef patties and unpasteurized milk constituting major sources of human infection (Rangel et al. 2005). These bacteria appear to enter the food chain through the contamination of bovine fecal matter during slaughter (Fegan et al. 2005; Arthur et al. 2010; Duffy et al. 2014). Ground beef products present a particular problem as they are prepared from meat obtained from many animals and if one is contaminated, then grinding disperses the bacteria throughout the lot (Duffy et al. 2014). Other types of meats, including those from porcine and avian sources have also been identified, less frequently, as vehicles of infection (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003; Rangel et al. 2005). E. coli O157:H7 can grow and survive in low pH environments in foods such as fermented salami where other pathogens will not survive. Widespread fecal contamination of the environment (soil or water), by farm and wild animals and the use of cattle feces as manure, have also contributed to the contamination of raw foods (Beuchat 2002; CDC 2007; Park et al. 2012). As a result, outbreaks have been reported from contaminated fruit and vegetables, mayonnaise, milk, unpasteurized apple juices, and water (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003; Berger et al. 2010).

Infections have also been attributed to direct person-to person contact (Seto et al. 2007) and there has been an increased incidence of STEC infection through

Table 1.3 Selected pr	evalence and concentra	ation data of Shiga-toxin producin	ng <i>E. coli</i> in farm	ı animals		
Country	Pathogen	Source	Number tested	Positive samples (%)	Enumeration (cfu/g) ^a	Reference
Australia	STEC 026	Cattle, feces	300	0.3		Barlow and Mellor
	STEC 045		300	1.7		(2010)
	STEC 091		300	2.3		
	STEC 0103		300	1.7		
	STEC 0111		300	0.3		
	STEC 0121		300	0.7		
	STEC 0145		300	0		
	STEC 0157		300	1.3		
Britain	E. coli 0157	Livestock waste-cattle	428	9.1–13.2	$1.2\times 10^{3}2.6\times 10^{2}$	Hutchison et al. (2005)
		Livestock waste-pig	58	11.9–15.5	$3.9 \times 10^{3} - 1.3 \times 10^{3}$	
		Livestock waste-sheep	6	20.8-22.2	$7.8 \times 10^{2} 2.5 \times 10^{2}$	
Canada	E. coli O157	Cattle feces—corn fed	4318	1.3	Mean 2.96 \log_{10}	Berg et al. (2004)
		Cattle feces-barley fed	4364	2.4	Mean $3.27 \log_{10}$	
England and Wales	E. coli 0157	Livestock waste-cattle	810	13.2	2.6×10^8	Hutchison et al. (2004)
		Livestock waste-pig	126	11.9	7.5×10^5	
		Livestock waste-sheep	24	20.8	$5.0 imes 10^3$	
Ireland	STEC 0157	Cattle, feces	301	17.6	1000-1300	Thomas et al. (2012)
	STEC 025		402	0.2	<200	
	STEC 0111		402	0		
	STEC 0103		402	0.2		
	STEC 0145		402	0		
Japan	STEC	Cattle, beef feces	272	23		Kijima-Tanaka et al.
		Pig, feces	179	14		(2005)

16

Table 1.3 (continued)						
Country	Pathogen	Source	Number tested	Positive samples (%)	Enumeration (cfu/g) ^a	Reference
Korea	STEC 0157	Cattle, feces	1854	0.04		Jo et al. (2004)
		Pig, feces	345	0		
Mexico	E. coli 0157	Cattle feces	240	1.25		Callaway et al. (2004)
		Swine feces	240	2.08		
New Zealand	STEC	Cattle-rectoanal mucosa	187	18.7		Cookson et al. (2011)
		Sheep-rectoanal mucosa	132	64.4		
Norway	STEC 0157	Cattle feces	156	7.0		Wasteson et al. (2005)
		Sheep feces	117	17		
		Hen feces	22	13.6		
	STEC	Cattle, dairy, rectal feces	680	61		LeJeune et al. (2006)
Scotland	STEC 0157	Cattle, beef feces	14856	7.9		Gunn et al. (2007)
	STEC 0157	Sheep feces	1082	2.9		Evans et al. (2011)
	STEC 026		1082	5.2		
	STEC 0103		1082	0		
	STEC 0145		1082	0		
Spain	Non-0157	Cattle, beef, rectal feces	124	46		Oporto et al. (2008)
		Cattle, dairy, rectal feces	82	20.7		
Switzerland	STEC	Cattle, dairy	966	53 ^b		Kuhnert et al. (2005)
	$E. \ coli \ O157$		966	4.6		

Table 1.3 (continued)						
Country	Pathogen	Source	Number tested	Positive samples (%)	Enumeration (cfu/g) ^a	Reference
USA	E. coli 0157:H7	Beef cattle, rectal feces	408	4.7		Doane et al. (2007)
		Dairy cattle, rectal feces	408	3.4		
		Poultry, rectal feces	588	2.7		
		Swine, rectal feces	570	8.9		
	E. coli 0157:H7	Cattle, feces	10,622	10.2		Sargeant et al. (2003)
	STEC	Cattle, dairy feces	2208	3.2		Cho et al. (2006)
	STEC	Cattle, dairy, rectal feces	750	14.4		LeJeune et al. (2006)
	STEC 026	Cattle, feces	1897	1		Kalchayanand et al.
	STEC 045		1897	0.1		(2013)
	STEC 0103		1897	0.3		
	STEC 0111		1897	0.05		
	STEC 0121		1897	0		
	STEC 0145		1897	0.2		

^a colony forming units per gram ^b PCR screen only

animal-to-person contact, particularly through petting zoos or agricultural fairs (Ihekweazu et al. 2012; Jaros et al. 2013). There is accumulating evidence that contact with farm animals or farming environments is an important risk factor for sporadic infection with *E. coli* O157:H7 (Locking et al. 2001). The infectious dose of *E. coli* O157:H7 for humans has been found to be as low as 50–100 bacteria (Armstrong et al. 1996). In combination with disease severity, *E. coli* O157:H7 and other STEC are therefore important pathogens in terms of clinical implications.

1.4.6 Shiga-Toxin Producing E. coli Occurrence in Foods

Reports of *E. coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 STEC in foods from various countries demonstrate a variation in prevalence estimates (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003; Erickson and Doyle 2007). Many STEC outbreaks have been linked to the consumption of contaminated meat and the majority of prevalence data available focus on this food commodity (Table 1.4). Meat can become contaminated on the carcass surface, primarily at slaughter and during hide removal. Contamination can also occur during carcass washing, dressing, and processes such as grinding. In addition, cross-contamination can occur through handling and food preparation (Duffy et al. 2014). Prevalence values of *E. coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 in meat samples, including carcass samples, vary significantly between countries, but this may be due to the variation in the sampling and testing protocols used for different studies (Gill and Gill 2010).

In 1994, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)'s Food Safety and Inspection Service (FSIS) declared *E. coli* O157:H7 an adulterant in raw ground beef and began a microbiological testing program later that year. In 2012, the USDA/FSIS expanded the zero-tolerance policy for *E. coli* O157:H7 in raw, non-intact beef products (ground beef, its components, and tenderized steaks) to include six other STEC serotypes ("Big 6"), which include O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, and O145 (Wang et al. 2013a). FSIS undertakes a verification testing for these non-O157 STEC in domestic and imported beef manufacturing trimmings from cattle. Results for 2012 showed that the rate of *E. coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 in trimmings was low (0.65 and 1.09%, respectively) (USDA-FSIS 2014)

Several recent outbreaks have implicated the consumption of contaminated fruits and vegetables (Beuchat 2002; CDC 2007; Berger et al. 2010). The most notable was the 2011 outbreak caused by EHEC O104:H4 that affected over 4000 people in the EU and USA (refer to Insert 1.2). Another large outbreak involving *E. coli* O157:H7 in the USA involved contaminated spinach, where approximately 200 people were infected and three deaths occurred (CDC 2007). Milk and dairy production from cattle and other milk-producing animals are also potential vehicles of STEC and have been linked to both O157 and non-O157 STEC infections (European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control and European Food Safety Authority 2011).

Table 1.4 S	elected studies reporting prevale	ence of E. coli O157:H	7 and non-O157	' in meat		
Country	Products tested	Number tested	% positive		Enumeration (log cfu/g)	Reference
			E. coli O157	non-0157		
Argentina	Beef and chicken burgers	279	6.8	ND	ND	Chinen et al. (2001)
Australia	Sheep carcasses	917	0.7	ND	ND	Phillips et al. (2001a)
	Frozen boneless sheep meat	467	1.3	ND	ND	
	Beef carcasses	1275	0.1	ND	ND	Phillips et al. (2001b)
	Boxed frozen boneless beef	066	0	ND	ND	
	Lamb cutlets, retail	275	0	40	ND	Barlow et al. (2006)
	Ground beef, retail	285	0	16	ND	
Croatia	Chopped beef and baby beef	114	0	ND	ND	Uhitil et al. (2001)
England	Beef products (raw)	3216	1.1	ND	ND	Chapman et al. (2001)
	Lamb products (raw)	1020	2.9	ND	ND	
	Mixed meat products (raw)	857	0.8	ND	ND	
	Beef carcasses	1500	1.4	ND	ND	
	Lamb carcasses	1500	0.7	ND	ND	
	Meat products	4983	0.4	ND	ND	
Ireland	Beef trimmings	1351	2.4	ND	<0.7-1.6	Cagney et al. (2004)
	Beef carcasses	132	3	ND	<0.7-1.4	
	Head meat	100	3	ND	0.7-1.0	
	Minced/ground beef (retail)	1533	2.8	ND	0.5-4.0 for 50% positives, <0.5 for 50% positives	Cagney et al. (2004)
France	Minced beef	3450	0.12	ND	ND	Vernozy-Rozand et al. (2002)

20

Table 1.4 (c	ontinued)					
Country	Products tested	Number tested	% positive		Enumeration (log cfu/g)	Reference
			E. coli 0157	non-0157		
Holland	Minced pork	260	0	ND	ND	Heuvelink et al. (1999)
	Raw minced beef	571	1.1	ND	ND	
	Raw minced mixed beef and pork	402	0.5	Ŋ	ND	
	Raw minced pork	76	1.3	ND	ND	
	Other pork products	393	0.3	ND	ND	
	Cooked or fermented RTE meats	328	0.3	Ŋ	ND	
	Other raw beef products	223	0	ND	ND	
	Sheep or lamb products	46	0	ND	ND	
Italy	Minced beef	75	0	ND	ND	Stampi et al. (2004)
	Mixed minced beef and chicken	10	0	Ŋ	ND	
	Hamburger	30	3.3	ND	ND	
	Hamburger with vegetables	24	8.3	ND	ND	
	Meatballs	10	0	ND	ND	
	Minced beef	931	0.4	ND	ND	Conedera et al. (2004)
Morocco	Meat and meat products	460	0.9	ND	ND	Badri et al. (2011)
New	Beef	91	ND	12.1	ND	Brooks et al. (2001)
Zealand	Lamb/mutton	37	ND	17.1	ND	
	Pork	35	ND	1	ND	
	Chicken	36	ŊŊ	0	ND	

Table 1.4 (c	ontinued)					
Country	Products tested	Number tested	% positive		Enumeration (log cfu/g)	Reference
			E. coli 0157	non-O157		
USA	Ground pork	231	ND	5.2	ND	Ju et al. (2012b)
	Ground beef	249	ND	5.2	ND	
	Ground beef	4133	ŊŊ	7.3	ŊŊ	Bosilevac and Koohmaraie (2011)
	Ground beef	26,521	0.7	ND	ND	Naugle et al. (2005)
	Ground beef	296	16.8 ^a	ND	ND	Samadpour et al. (2002)
	Carcass-pre-eviseration	334	ND	53.9	ND	Arthur et al. (2002)
	Carcass-post-eviseration	326	ND	8.3	ND	
	Beef carcasses	1232	1.2	ND	ND	Barkocy-Gallagher et al.
	Beef carcasses	1232	16.2 ^a	ND	ND	(2003)
	Beef carcasses	330	1.8	ND	ND	Elder et al. (2000)
a CTEC value						

^a STEC value

Milk can become contaminated from skin, hides, and the dairy environment during milking. As STEC is sensitive to pasteurization, raw milk and raw milk products are the main public health risks (Baylis 2009).

1.5 Enterotoxigenic E. coli

ETEC are an important cause of diarrheal disease in infants (6–18 months of age), young children, and the elderly in the developing world (Wenneras and Erling 2004; Qadri et al. 2005). School-age children and adults typically have low incidence of symptomatic ETEC infection. Symptoms include acute watery diarrhea that may be mild and of short duration and which in some cases is similar to cholera. It is also known to be the major cause of "traveler's diarrhea" acquired by tourists visiting developing nations (Qadri et al. 2005). The burden of disease is estimated at 840 million cases per year in the developing world, with an additional 50 million asymptomatic carriers in children less than 5 years of age (Wenneras and Erling 2004). These figures provide a conservative estimate because of high rates of asymptomatic infection (as high as 20% of infections) and the fact that ETEC is a clinically under-recognized pathogen in both developing and industrialized nations. This makes determining the true worldwide incidence difficult.

ETEC is defined as E. coli strains that contain at least one member of two defined groups of enterotoxins: heat-labile (LT) and/or heat-stable (ST) toxins (Fratamico et al. 2002). Characteristically, ST-ETEC strains cause the majority of endemic cases (Nataro and Kaper 1998). After ETEC colonizes the surface of the small bowel, these enterotoxins are produced and secreted, eliciting chloride secretion from secretory crypt cells in the intestine, causing the characteristic watery diarrhea associated with ETEC infection (Kaper et al. 2004). Several forms of the enterotoxins have been described and these appear to be associated with particular animal species (Tsen and Jian 1998). Another defining feature of ETEC is their ability to adhere to the intestinal epithelium. This process is mediated by the expression of colonization factor antigens (CFAs), filamentous bacterial surface appendages that are encoded by plasmids and associated with particular animal hosts (Nataro and Kaper 1998). Adherence of the pathogens allows the delivery of the enterotoxins and the subsequent host secretory response that is experienced as diarrhea (Elsinghorst 2002). Indeed, colonization factors currently identified for different animals are clearly different from those of human origin (Qadri et al. 2005). Due to the specificity of these adhesins, animal ETEC strains normally do not infect humans.

Very few studies have investigated the prevalence of ETEC in foods and water, especially in recent years. In 1977, Sack et al. found that 8% of 240 *E. coli* isolates obtained from food of animal origin were ETEC and produced either or both LT and ST (Sack et al. 1977), but none of the food products tested were associated with diarrheal outbreaks. A study from Brazil in 1980 reported that 18 of 1200 (1.5%) *E. coli* strains isolated from hamburger or sausage were found to be ETEC (Reis et al. 1980), while a study in 1996 isolated ETEC from 24 out of 36 (66%) food samples

that included milk, cheese, and ground beef (Alexio and Aver 1996). ETEC has been isolated from drinking water in Bangladesh, where 11 out of 233 (4.7%) *E. coli* isolates obtained were ETEC (Talukdar et al. 2013).

Epidemiologic investigations have implicated contaminated food and water as the most common vehicles for ETEC infection (Nataro and Kaper 1998). In many cases, contamination has been derived from human feces, either directly via an infected food handler or indirectly via contaminated water (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003). In developing countries, where ETEC infections are endemic, contaminated weaning food is the primary mode of transmission to children (Nataro and Levine 1994). In industrialized countries, large outbreaks of ETEC have been reported in communal dining situations such as catered events, cruise ships, cafeteria meals at schools, and restaurants (Taylor et al. 1982; CDC 1994; Mitsuda et al. 1998; Daniels et al. 2000; Beatty et al. 2006). ETEC is not a common cause of sporadic, endemic diarrhea in industrialized countries with good hygiene. Humans are a major reservoir for ETEC, but person-to-person transmission of ETEC is thought to be rare due to the relatively high dose required to induce infection (Oadri et al. 2005). ETEC have often been detected in the feces of asymptomatic human carriers in developing countries. In endemic areas, young children experience extensive exposure to ETEC and develop immunity (Nataro and Kaper 1998).

In animals, ETEC are a major cause of diarrheal disease in piglets and newborn calves, lambs, and dogs. These animal infections cause significant morbidity and mortality in these animals with substantial economic impact on the livestock industry. Post-weaning ETEC-associated diarrhea is one of the most economically important diseases for the North American swine industry. ETEC are responsible for the death of 10.8% of all pre-weaning pigs and 1.5–2% of all weaned pigs (Tubbs et al. 1993). In pigs, the incidence of neonatal diarrhea and subsequent death has been reduced substantially by the introduction of vaccines (Qadri et al. 2005).

1.6 Enteropathogenic E. coli

Many EPEC isolates correspond to certain well-recognized O:H serotypes, however, advances in molecular and cellular detection of EPEC have identified EPEC lineages that include strains that would not have been considered EPEC based on serotype alone (Reid et al. 2000; Scaletsky et al. 2010; Croxen et al. 2013). The main distinguishing feature of EPEC is the ability to induce a characteristic histopathology called the attaching and effacing (A/E) lesion (Trabulsi et al. 2002). This characteristic distinguishes EPEC from most other pathotypes of diarrheagenic *E. coli* such as EAEC, EIEC, and ETEC (Blank et al. 2002). This ability is encoded by a chromosomal genomic PAI called the LEE (McDaniel et al. 1995). Both EPEC and STEC possess the LEE and can produce A/E lesions, however, EPEC do not produce Shiga-like toxin (Campos et al. 2004). EPEC are often described as "typical" or "atypical" EPEC subtypes. Typical EPEC subtypes adhere to intestinal cells by the bundle-forming pilus (BFP), which is encoded on a virulence plasmid called the EPEC adherence factor plasmid (pEAF) (Clarke et al. 2003). Atypical EPEC do not possess pEAF and do not form a localized adherence pattern, but can possess the LEE plasmid and produce an adherence pattern similar to EAEC (Trabulsi et al. 2002).

Typical EPEC are not only the major cause of acute or chronic enteritis in children in developing countries, but they also cause sporadic cases and outbreaks in industrialized nations (Nataro and Kaper 1998; Sakkejha et al. 2013). Typical EPEC serotypes that cause disease in humans have not been found in animals, so humans are thought to be the only reservoir (Trabulsi et al. 2002). The microorganism is transmitted from host to host via the fecal-oral route through contaminated surfaces, weaning fluids, and human carriers (Levine and Edelman 1984). Advances in water decontamination and improvements in domestic and hospital hygiene have reduced the incidence of EPEC in much of the industrialized world; however, EPEC currently remain a significant contributor to infant diarrhea in developing nations (Levine and Edelman 1984). Very few outbreaks among adults have occurred through the ingestion of contaminated food and water, but a specific environmental reservoir has not been identified as a source of infection (Kaper et al. 2004; Croxen et al. 2013). In contrast, atypical EPEC are rarely isolated from diarrheal patients in the developing world and are more commonly isolated from patients in industrialized countries (Trabulsi et al. 2002). Atypical EPEC serotypes have been isolated from many farm and domestic animal species and they may serve as potential reservoirs for human infection (Trabulsi et al. 2002; Monaghan et al. 2013).

There is very little evidence that indicates that typical EPEC is a foodborne pathogen for adults and a limited number of outbreaks of EPEC disease have been linked to food- and waterborne transmission in Europe and North America. In Korea, it was recently reported that EPEC was the most common subtype of *E. coli* identified as a causative organism in 26 outbreaks involving food and water (Lee et al. 2012). Cold meat and meat pie have also been implicated in two British outbreaks (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003). Very few studies have investigated the presence of EPEC in foods but they have been detected in ready-to-eat lettuce (Althaus et al. 2012). A study in Brazil isolated EPEC from 11 out of 36 (30%) food samples including milk, cheese, and ground beef (Alexio and Aver 1996).

In contrast, atypical EPEC have been implicated with raw chicken and beef (O'Sullivan et al. 2007; Alonso et al. 2011; Comery et al. 2013). The study of Wedley et al. (2013) described an unusual atypical EPEC that was isolated from affected individuals and linked to food consumption. The strain was identified as *eae*-positive *E. coli* O111 that was negative for the EAEC EAST-1 toxin present in other strains of EPEC associated with foodborne outbreaks but demonstrated bacterial attachment to HEp-2 cell monolayers through the induction of actin at the site of attachment (Wedley et al. 2013). Detection of EPEC in food is difficult especially if it is present in low numbers. The complex tests necessary to establish potential pathogenicity of EPEC isolates have led to infrequent attempts to examine food for EPEC unless a food is incriminated in an outbreak (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003).

1.7 Enteroinvasive E. coli

EIEC are genetically and phenotypically more closely related to *Shigella* than to other *E. coli* (Kaper et al. 2004). EIEC strains possess some of the biochemical characteristics of *E. coli* and yet can cause dysentery using the same method of invasion as *Shigella*. Sequencing of various housekeeping genes has indicated that EIEC is more related to *Shigella* than to non-invasive *E. coli* and that *Shigella* and EIEC evolved from the same ancestor and form a single pathovar within *E. coli* (van den Beld and Reubsaet 2012).

Humans are the main reservoir for EIEC and this pathotype has not been found to be carried in animals or foods. Unlike other E. coli, EIEC are mainly non-motile, lysine decarboxylase negative, and 70% of strains do not ferment lactose (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). EIEC is also the only *E. coli* pathotype to invade and multiply within host epithelial cells, and can cause invasive inflammatory colitis and dysentery, but most symptomatic infections are characterized by watery diarrhea indistinguishable from that produced by other diarrheagenic E. coli pathotypes (Bolton 2011). Outbreaks of EIEC are usually associated with water or food contaminated with human feces or person-to-person transmission, but its incidence in the industrialized world is low. In the USA, a large outbreak occurred following the consumption of imported contaminated Brie and Camembert cheese (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003). An outbreak in Italy in 2012 reported 109 cases being attributed to cooked vegetables served in a canteen (Escher et al. 2014). Seventeen cases and two asymptomatic kitchen workers were positive for the *Shigella* marker gene *iph*H (a multicopy gene found exclusively in all Shigella and EIEC). An EIEC strain O96:H19 possessing the *ipa*H gene was isolated from six cases (Escher et al. 2014)

1.8 Enteroaggregative and Diffusely Adherent E. coli

Two other diarrheagenic *E. coli* types characteristically adhere to HEp-2 tissue cells in either an aggregative pattern of microcolonies, known as EAEC, or as a diffuse adherence known as DAEC. Little is known about these groups of *E. coli* and whether they are important for foodborne disease. EAEC are increasingly recognized as an emerging enteric pathogen and cause of persistent diarrhea (greater than 2 weeks duration) in children and adults in both developing and industrialized countries (Huang et al. 2006), but very few studies have also investigated the roles of putative EAEC virulence genes in acute diarrheal disease (Law and Chart 1998; Kaur et al. 2010).

Strains belonging to the EAEC group produce specific adhesins (aggregative adherence fimbraie (AAF)) responsible for the adherence to HEp-2 cells and for colonization (Law and Chart 1998; Pierard et al. 2012). Once the organism attaches to the colonic and ileal mucosa, mucus production aids in the formation of a thick biofilm on the mucosal surface. Typical histopathology of EAEC in animal models

is characterized by a thick layer of autoaggregating bacteria loosely adherent to the mucosal surface (Harrington et al. 2006). EAEC do not produce LT, ST, or Shiga toxins, but they are capable of significant mucosal damage via the secretion of different combination of EAEC-specific enterotoxins (the plasmid-encoded autotransporter toxin Pet, the enteroaggregative heat-stable toxin EAST1, and the *Shigella* enterotoxin ShET1). However, the role of these toxins in pathogenesis is unclear, as they can also be produced by other pathogenic *E. coli* strains (Kaper et al. 2004; Pierard et al. 2012). EAEC are a heterogeneous group of strains in terms of their properties and virulence gene repertoires with not all strains likely to be pathogenic (Pierard et al. 2012). To date, the highest correlation between the aggregative adherence phenotype on cell culture and diarrhea in humans is the presence of the *agg*R gene that codes for a transcriptional regulator of the expression of several virulence associated genes (Harrington et al. 2006; Kaur et al. 2010; Pierard et al. 2012).

EAEC have not been reported in animals and very little is known about the ecology of this pathotype of *E. coli*. There are some reports of foodborne diarrheic outbreaks associated with EAEC strains in both developed and industrialized countries after humanborne contamination. In Italy, two EAEC outbreaks affecting 24 individuals were linked to contaminated unpasteurized cheese (Scavia et al. 2008). A large outbreak affecting 2697 children from 16 schools in Japan was caused by EAEC Ountypable:H10. Food that was centrally prepared and distributed to each school was believed to be the vehicle of infection, although EAEC was not isolated from any of the tested foods (Itoh et al. 1997). Two large prospective surveillance studies in the UK and the USA identified EAEC among the most commonly isolated bacterial species from individuals with diarrhea (Wilson et al. 2001; Nataro et al. 2006; Chaudhuri et al. 2010). In addition, a meta-analysis of previously published case control studies from various geographical regions reported a role for EAEC in mediating diarrheal disease and that this group of *E. coli* is an important emerging pathogen (Huang et al. 2006).

DAEC show a diffuse adherent pattern on HEp-2 cells and many carry fimbrial structures but do not produce toxins or other virulence factors described for other pathotypes. The pathogenicity of DAEC strains is generally poorly understood but they have been associated with diarrhea in young children under 12 months in age and which are typically mild without blood in the feces, but can become persistent in both developing and industrialized countries (Kaper et al. 2004). The relative risk of diarrhea associated with DAEC increases with the age of the children and intestinal carriage of these strains has been reported to be widespread in older children and adults. They may contribute to inflammatory intestinal disease (Bouzari et al. 2005; Servin 2005; Steiner et al. 2006).

Little is known about DAEC, and their significance as enteric pathogens is uncertain. DAEC are generally characterized by the absence of virulence properties associated with other *E. coli* pathotypes, and their characteristic diffuse pattern of adherence in the HEp-2 model epithelial cell culture system (Fratamico et al. 2002). Upon attachment, DAEC induce gut epithelial cells to produce finger-like extensions, which wrap around the adherent bacteria, a phenomenon also characteristic of uropathogenic *E. coli*. Induction of these finger-like extensions is dependent on bacterial expression of a family of fimbriae belonging to the Dr family of related fimbrial adhesins (Bernet-Camard et al. 1996). Approximately 75% of DAEC produce the same Dr family fimbrial adhesin called F1845. Some DAEC have been shown to produce α -hemolysis and cytotoxic necrotizing factor 1, suggesting that some DAEC might be closely related to, or the same as, necrotoxic *E. coli* (NTEC) and/or cell-detaching *E. coli* (CDEC). However, the exact mechanism by which DAEC produce diarrhea is still unclear (Clark 2001).

References

- Agbodaze D (1999) Verocytotoxins (Shiga-like toxins) produced by *Escherichia coli*: a minireview of their classification, clinical presentations and management of a heterogeneous family of cytotoxins. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 22:221–230
- Ahmed N, Dobrindt U, Hacker J, Hasnain SE (2008) Genomic fluidity and pathogenic bacteria: applications in diagnostics, epidemiology and intervention. Nat Rev Microbiol 6(5):387–394
- Alexio JA, Aver, GP (1996) Prevalence of Enteropathogenic and Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli in foods of animal origin in Southern Brazil. Ciencia Rural. Santa Maria 26(2):247–250
- Alonso MZ, Padola NL, Parma AE, Lucchesi PM (2011) Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli contamination at different stages of the chicken slaughtering process. Poult Sci 90(11):2638–2641
- Altekruse SF, Swerdlow DL (1996) The changing epidemiology of foodborne diseases. Am J Med Sci 311(1):23–29
- Althaus D, Hofer E, Corti S, Julmi A, Stephan R (2012) Bacteriological survey of ready-to-eat lettuce, fresh-cut fruit, and sprouts collected from the Swiss market. J Food Prot 75(7):1338–1341
- Armstrong GL, Hollingsworth J, Morris JG, Jr. (1996) Emerging foodborne pathogens: *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 as a model of entry of a new pathogen into the food supply of the developed world. Epidemiol Rev 18(1):29–51
- Arthur TM, Barkocy-Gallagher GA, Rivera-Betancourt M, Koohmaraie M (2002) Prevalence and characterization of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* on carcasses in commercial beef cattle processing plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 68(10):4847–4852
- Arthur TM, Brichta-Harhay DM, Bosilevac JM, Kalchayanand N, Shackelford SD, Wheeler TL, Koohmaraie M (2010) Super shedding of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by cattle and the impact on beef carcass contamination. Meat Sci 86:32–37
- Badri S, Fassouane A, Filliol I, Hassar M, Cohen N (2011) Detection of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in meat marketed in Casablanca (Morocco). Cell Mol Biol 57(Suppl):OL1476–1477.
- Barkocy-Gallagher GA, Arthur TM, Rivera-Betancourt M, Nou X, Shackelford SD, Wheeler TL, Koohmaraie M (2003) Seasonal prevalence of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*, including O157:H7 and non-O157 serotypes, and *Salmonella* in commercial beef processing plants. J Food Prot 66(11):1978–1986
- Barlow RS, Mellor GE (2010) Prevalence of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* serotypes in Australian beef cattle. Foodborne Pathog Dis 7(10):1239–1245
- Barlow RS, Gobius KS, Desmarchelier PM (2006) Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in ground beef and lamb cuts: results of a one-year study. Int J Food Microbiol 111(1):1–5
- Baylis C (2009) Raw milk and raw milk cheeses as vehicles for infection by Verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. Int J Dairy Technol 62(3):293–307
- Beatty ME, Adcock PM, Smith SW, Quinlan K, Kamimoto LA, Rowe SY, Scott K, Conover C, Varchmin T, Bopp CA, Greene KD, Bibb B, Slutsker L, Mintz ED (2006) Epidemic diarrhea due to enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. Clin Infect Dis 42(3):329–334.

- Belanger L, Garenaux A, Harel J, Boulianne M, Nadeau E, Dozois CM (2011) *Escherichia coli* from animal reservoirs as a potential source of human extraintestinal pathogenic *E. coli*. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 62(1):1–10
- Berg J, McAllister T, Bach S, Stilborn R, Hancock D, LeJeune J (2004) *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 excretion by commercial feedlot cattle fed either barley- or corn-based finishing diets. J Food Prot 67(4):666–671
- Berger CN, Sodha SV, Shaw RK, Griffin PM, Pink D, Hand P, Frankel G (2010) Fresh fruit and vegetables as vehicles for the transmission of human pathogens. Environ Microbiol 12(9):2385–2397
- Bernet-Camard MF, Coconnier MH, Hudault S, Servin AL (1996) Pathogenicity of the diffusely adhering strain *Escherichia coli* C1845: F1845 adhesin-decay accelerating factor interaction, brush border microvillus injury, and actin disassembly in cultured human intestinal epithelial cells. Infect Immun 64(6):1918–1928
- Best A, La Ragione RM, Sayers AR, Woodward MJ (2005) Role for flagella but not intimin in the persistent infection of the gastrointestinal tissues of specific-pathogen-free chicks by Shiga toxin-negative *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Infect Immun 73(3):1836–1846
- Beuchat LR (2002) Ecological factors influencing survival and growth of human pathogens on raw fruits and vegetables. Microbes Infect. 4(4):413–423
- Blank TE, Nougaurede J-P, Donneberg MS (2002) Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* In: Donnenberg MS (ed) *Escherichia coli*: virulence mechanisms of a versatile pathogen. Elsevier Inc, San Diego, pp 81–118
- Bolton DJ (2011) Verocytotoxigenic (Shiga Toxin-Producing) *Escherichia coli*: virulence factors and pathogenicity in the farm to fork paradigm. Foodborne Pathog Dis 8(3):357–365
- Bolton DJ, Monaghan A, Byrne B, Fanning S, Sweeney T, McDowell DA (2011) Incidence and survival of non-O157 verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in soil. J Appl Microbiol 111(2):484– 490
- Bosilevac JM, Koohmaraie M (2011) Prevalence and characterization of non-O157 Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* isolates from commercial ground beef in the United States. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(6):2103–2112
- Bouzari S, Jafari A, Zarepour M (2005) Distribution of virulence related genes among enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* isolates: using multiplex PCR and hybridization. Infect Genet Evol 5(1):79–83
- Brooks HJ, Mollison BD, Bettelheim KA, Matejka K, Paterson KA, Ward VK (2001) Occurrence and virulence factors of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in retail meat in Dunedin, New Zealand. Lett Appl Microbiol 32(2):118–122
- Brunder W, Karch H, Schmidt H (2006) Complete sequence of the large virulence plasmid pSFO157 of the sorbitol-fermenting enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H- strain 3072/96. Int J Med. Microbiol 296(7):467–474
- Brzuszkiewicz E, Thurmer A, Schuldes J, Leimbach A, Liesegang H, Meyer FD, Boelter J, Petersen H, Gottschalk G, Daniel R (2011) Genome sequence analyses of two isolates from the recent *Escherichia coli* outbreak in Germany reveal the emergence of a new pathotype: Entero-Aggregative-Haemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EAHEC). Arch Microbiol 193(12):883–891
- Burland V, Shao Y, Perna NT, Plunkett G, Sofia HJ, Blattner FR (1998) The complete DNA sequence and analysis of the large virulence plasmid of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Nucleic Acids Res 26(18):4196–4204
- Cagney C, Crowley H, Duffy G, Sheridan JJ, O'Brien S, Carney E, Anderson W, McDowell DA (2004) Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in minced beef and beef burgers from butcher shops and supermarkets in the Republic of Ireland. Food Microbiol 21:203–212
- Callaway TR, Anderson RC, Tellez G, Rosario C, Nava GM, Eslava C, Blanco MA, Quiroz MA, Olguin A, Herradora M, Edrington TS, Genovese KJ, Harvey RB, Nisbet DJ (2004) Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle and swine in central Mexico. J Food Prot 67(10):2274–2276.
- Callaway TR, Carr MA, Edrington TS, Anderson RC, Nisbet DJ (2009) Diet, *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, and cattle: a review after 10 years. Curr Issues Mol Biol 11(2):67–79.

- Campos L, Franzolin M, Trabulsi L (2004) Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* categories among the traditional enteropathogenic *E. coli* O serogroups—a review. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz, Rio de Janeiro 99(6):545–552
- CDC (1994) Foodborne outbreaks of Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*—Rhode Island and New Hampshire, 1993. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 43(5):87–88
- CDC (2006) Update on multi-state outbreak of *E. coli* O157:H7 infections from fresh spinach, October 6, 2006. http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2006/september/updates/100606.htm. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2007) Irrigation water issues potentially related to 2006 *E. coli* O157:H7 in spinach outbreak. http://www.cdc.gov/nceh/ehs/Docs/Investigation_of_an_E_Coli_Outbreak_Associated with Dole Pre-Packaged Spinach.pdf. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2009a) Multistate outbreak of *E. coli* O157:H7 infections associated with beef from Fairbank Farms. http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2009/1124.html. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2009b) Multistate outbreak of *E. coli* O157:H7 infections associated with beef from JBS Swift Beef Company. http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2009/0701.html. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2010) Investigation update: multistate outbreak of *E. coli* O157:H7 infections associated with cheese. http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2010/cheese0157/index.html. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2011) Estimates of foodborne illness in the United States. http://www.cdc.gov/foodborneburden/. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2012a) Multistate outbreak of Shiga Toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O26 infections linked to raw clover sprouts at Jimmy John's restaurants (final update). http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2012/O26-02-12/index.html. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2012b) Multistate outbreak of Shiga Toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections linked to organic spinach and spring mix blend (final update). http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2012/ O157H7-11-12/index.html. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2013a) Multistate outbreak of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O121 infections linked to farm rich brand frozen food products (final update). http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2013/ O121-03-13/. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2013b) Multistate outbreak of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infections linked to ready-to-eat salads (final update). http://www.cdc.gov/ecoli/2013/o157h7-11-13/in-dex.html. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- CDC (2013c) Outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 infections associated with sprout consumption—Europe and North America, May-July 2011. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 62(50):1029–1031
- Chapman PA, Cerdan Malo AT, Ellin M, Ashton R, Harkin (2001) *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle and sheep at slaughter, on beef and lamb carcasses and in raw beef and lamb products in South Yorkshire, UK. Int J Food Microbiol 64(1–2):139–150
- Chaudhuri RR, Sebaihia M, Hobman JL, Webber MA, Leyton DL, Goldberg MD, Cunningham AF, Scott-Tucker A, Ferguson PR, Thomas CM, Frankel G, Tang CM, Dudley EG, Roberts IS, Rasko DA, Pallen MJ, Parkhill J, Nataro JP, Thomson NR, Henderson IR (2010) Complete genome sequence and comparative metabolic profiling of the prototypical enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* strain O42. PloS One 5(1):e8801
- Chinen I, Tanaro JD, Miliwebsky E, Lound LH, Chillemi G, Ledri S, Baschkier A, Scarpin M, Manfredi E, Rivas M (2001) Isolation and characterization of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from retail meats in Argentina. J Food Prot 64(9):1346–1351
- Cho S, Diez-Gonzalez F, Fossler CP, Wells SJ, Hedberg CW, Kaneene JB, Ruegg PL, Warnick LD, Bender JB (2006) Prevalence of Shiga toxin-encoding bacteria and Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* isolates from dairy farms and county fairs. Vet Microbiol 118(3–4):289–298
- Clark S (2001) Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli*—an emerging problem? Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 41:93–98
- Clarke S, Haigh R, Freestone P, Williams P (2003) Virulence of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*, a global pathogen. Clin Microbiol Rev 16(3):365–378
- Coburn B, Sekirov I, Finlay BB (2007) Type III secretion systems and disease. Clin Microbiol Rev 20(4):535–549
- Comery R, Thanabalasuriar A, Garneau P, Portt A, Boerlin P, Reid-Smith RJ, Harel J, Manges AR, Gruenheid S (2013) Identification of potentially diarrheagenic atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* strains present in Canadian food animals at slaughter and in retail meats. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(12):3892–3896
- Conedera G, Dalvit P, Martini M, Galiero G, Gramaglia M, Goffredo E, Loffredo G, Morabito S, Ottaviani D, Paterlini F, Pezzotti G, Pisanu M, Semprini P, Caprioli A (2004) Verocytotoxinproducing *Escherichia coli* O157 in minced beef and dairy products in Italy. Int J Food Microbiol 96(1):67–73
- Cookson AL, Taylor SCS, Bennett J, Thomson-Carter F, Attwood GT (2011) Serotypes and analysis of distribution of Shiga toxin producing *Escherichia coli* from cattle and sheep in the lower North Island, New Zealand. NZ Vet J 54(2):78–84
- Coombes BK, Wickham ME, Mascarenhas M, Gruenheid S, Finlay BB, Karmali MA (2008) Molecular analysis as an aid to assess the public health risk of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 74(7):2153–2160
- Croxen MA, Law RJ, Scholz R, Keeney KM, Wlodarska M, Finlay BB (2013) Recent advances in understanding enteric pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Clin Microbiol Rev 26(4):822–880
- Daniels NA, Neimann J, Karpati A, Parashar UD, Greene KD, Wells JG, Srivastava A, Tauxe RV, Mintz ED, Quick R (2000) Traveler's diarrhea at sea: three outbreaks of waterborne enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* on cruise ships. J Infect Dis 181(4):1491–1495
- Desmarchelier P, Fegan N (2003) Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. In: Hocking A (ed) Foodborne microorganisms of public health significance, 6th edn. Australian Institute of Food Science and Technology Incorporated, NSW Branch, Food Microbiology Group, Waterloo DC, pp 267–310.
- Doane CA, Pangloli P, Richards HA, Mount JR, Golden DA, Draughon FA (2007) Occurrence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in diverse farm environments. J Food Prot 70(1):6–10.
- Duffy G, Burgess CM, Bolton DJ (2014) A review of factors that affect transmission and survival of verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in the European farm to fork beef chain. Meat Sci 97(3):375–383.
- EFSA (2013) Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ); Scientific Opinion on VTEC-seropathotype and scientific criteria regarding pathogenicity assessment. EFSA J 11(4):3138
- Ejidokun OO, Walsh A, Barnett J, Hope Y, Ellis S, Sharp MW, Paiba GA, Logan M, Willshaw GA, Cheasty T (2006) Human Vero cytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (VTEC) O157 infection linked to birds. Epidemiol Infect 134(2):421–423
- Elder RO, Keen JE, Siragusa GR, Barkocy-Gallagher GA, Koohmaraie M, Laegreid WW (2000) Correlation of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 prevalence in feces, hides, and carcasses of beef cattle during processing. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 97(7):2999–3003
- Elsinghorst EA (2002) Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* In: Donnenberg MS (ed) *Escherichia coli*: virulence mechanisms of a versatile pathogen. Academic, San Diego, pp 155–187
- Eppinger M, Daugherty S, Agrawal S, Galens K, Sengamalay N, Sadzewicz L, Tallon L, Cebula TA, Mammel MK, Feng P, Soderlund R, Tarr PI, Debroy C, Dudley EG, Fraser CM, Ravel J (2013) Whole-genome draft sequences of 26 Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains. Genome Announc 1(2):e0013412
- Erickson MC, Doyle MP (2007) Food as a vehicle for transmission of Shiga Toxin–Producing *Escherichia coli*. J Food Prot 740:2426–2449
- Escher M, Scavia G, Morabito S, Tozzoli R, Maugliani A, Cantoni S, Fracchia S, Bettati A, Casa R, Gesu GP, Torresani E, Caprioli A (2014) A severe foodborne outbreak of diarrhoea linked to a canteen in Italy caused by enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli*, an uncommon agent. Epidemiol Infect 13:1–8
- Ethelberg S, Smith B, Torpdahl M, Lisby M, Boel J, Jensen T, Molbak K (2007) An outbreak of Verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O26:H11 caused by beef sausage, Denmark 2007. Euro Surveill 12(22):3208
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, European Food Safety Authority (2011) Shiga toxin/verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in humans, food and animals in the EU/ EEA, with special reference to the German outbreak strain STEC O104. ECDC, Stockholm

- Eurosurveillance Editorial Team (2013) The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2011 has been published. Euro Surveill 18(15):20449
- Evans J, Knight H, McKendrick IJ, Stevenson H, Varo Barbudo A, Gunn GJ, Low JC (2011) Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 and serogroups O26, O103, O111 and O145 in sheep presented for slaughter in Scotland. J Med Microbiol 60(Pt 5):653–660
- Fegan N, Higgs G, Vanderlinde P, Desmarchelier P (2005) An investigation of *Escherichia coli* O157 contamination of cattle during slaughter at an abattoir. J Food Prot 68(3):451–457
- Ferens W, Hovde C (2011) *Escherichia coli* O157:H7: animal reservoir and sources of human infection. Foodborne Pathog Dis 8(4):465–487
- Flint JA, Van Duynhoven T, Angulo FJ, DeLong SM, Braun P, Kirk M, Scallan E, Fitzgerald M, Adak GK, Sockett P, Ellis A, Hall G, Gargouri N, Walke H, Braam P (2005) Estimating the burden of acute gastroenteritis, foodborne disease and pathogens commonly transmitted by food: an international review. J Food Safety 41:698–704
- Frank C, Werber D, Cramer JP, Askar M, Faber M, an der Heiden M, Bernard H, Fruth A, Prager R, Spode A, Wadl M, Zoufaly A, Jordan S, Kemper MJ, Follin P, Muller L, King LA, Rosner B, Buchholz U, Stark K, Krause G (2011) Epidemic profile of Shiga-toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 outbreak in Germany. New Engl J Med 365(19):1771–1780
- Fratamico P, Smith J, Buchanan R (2002) Escherichia coli. In: Cliver D, Riemann H (eds) Foodborne diseases. Academic, Amsterdam, pp 79–101
- Fratamico PM, Yan X, Caprioli A, Esposito G, Needleman DS, Pepe T, Tozzoli R, Cortesi ML, Morabito S (2011) The complete DNA sequence and analysis of the virulence plasmid and of five additional plasmids carried by Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O26:H11 strain H30. Int J Med Microbiol 301(3):192–203
- Gault G, Weill FX, Mariani-Kurkdjian P, Jourdan-da Silva N, King L, Aldabe B, Charron M, Ong N, Castor C, Mace M, Bingen E, Noel H, Vaillant V, Bone A, Vendrely B, Delmas Y, Combe C, Bercion R, d'Andigne E, Desjardin M, de Valk H, Rolland P (2011) Outbreak of haemolytic uraemic syndrome and bloody diarrhoea due to *Escherichia coli* O104:H4, south-west France, June 2011. Euro Surveill 16(26):19905
- Gill A, Gill CO (2010) Non-O157 verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* and beef: a Canadian perspective. Can J Vet Res 74(3):161–169
- Grant MA, Hedberg C, Johnson R, Harris J, Logue CM, Meng J, Sofos JN, Dickson JS (2011) The significance of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in food. Food Prot Trends Jan:33–45
- Greenland K, de Jager C, Heuvelink A, van der Zwaluw K, Heck M, Notermans D, van Pelt W, Friesema I (2009) Nationwide outbreak of STEC O157 infection in the Netherlands, December 2008-January 2009: continuous risk of consuming raw beef products. Euro Surveill 14(8):19129
- Gruenheid S, Sekirov I, Thomas NA, Deng W, O'Donnell P, Goode D, Li Y, Frey EA, Brown NF, Metalnikov P, Pawson T, Ashman K, Finlay BB (2004) Identification and characterization of NIeA, a non-LEE-encoded type III translocated virulence factor of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Mol Microbiol 51(5):1233–1249
- Gunn GJ, McKendrick IJ, Ternent HE, Thomson-Carter F, Foster G, Synge BA (2007) An investigation of factors associated with the prevalence of verocytotoxin producing *Escherichia coli* O157 shedding in Scottish beef cattle. Vet J 174(3):554–564
- Gyles CL (2007) Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: an overview. J Anim Sci 85(13 Suppl):E45–62
- Harrington SM, Dudley EG, Nataro JP (2006) Pathogenesis of enteroaggregative Escherichia coli infection. FEMS Microbiol Lett 254(1):12–18
- Health Protection Agency UK (2011) UK E. coli O157 outbreak associated with soil on vegetables. http://www.hpa.org.uk/webw/HPAweb&HPAwebStandard/HPAweb_C/1317130880441. Accessed 22 July 2014

- Heuvelink AE, Zwartkruis-Nahuis JT, Beumer RR, de Boer E (1999) Occurrence and survival of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 in meats obtained from retail outlets in The Netherlands. J Food Prot 62(10):1115–1122
- Ho WS, Tan LK, Ooi PT, Yeo CC, Thong KL (2013) Prevalence and characterization of verotoxigenic-*Escherichia coli* isolates from pigs in Malaysia. BMC Vet Res 9:109
- Huang DB, Nataro JP, DuPont HL, Kamat PP, Mhatre AD, Okhuysen PC, Chiang T (2006) Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* is a cause of acute diarrheal illness: a meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis 43(5):556–563
- Hunt JM (2010) Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC). Clin Lab Med 30(1):21-45
- Hutchison ML, Walters LD, Avery SM, Synge BA, Moore A (2004) Levels of zoonotic agents in British livestock manures. Lett Appl Microbiol 39(2):207–214
- Hutchison ML, Walters LD, Avery SM, Munro F, Moore A (2005) Analyses of livestock production, waste storage, and pathogen levels and prevalences in farm manures. Appl Environ Microbiol 71(3):1231–1236
- Ihekweazu C, Carroll K, Adak B, Smith G, Pritchard GC, Gillespie IA, Verlander NQ, Harvey-Vince L, Reacher M, Edeghere O, Sultan B, Cooper R, Morgan G, Kinross PT, Boxall NS, Iversen A, Bickler G (2012) Large outbreak of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* 0157 infection in visitors to a petting farm in South East England, 2009. Epidemiol Infect 140(8):1400–1413
- Itoh Y, Nagano I, Kunishima M, Ezaki T (1997) Laboratory investigation of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* O untypeable:H10 associated with a massive outbreak of gastrointestinal illness. J Clin Microbiol 35(10):2546–2550
- Jaros P, Cookson AL, Campbell DM, Besser TE, Shringi S, Mackereth GF, Lim E, Lopez L, Dufour M, Marshall JC, Baker MG, Hathaway S, Prattley DJ, French NP (2013) A prospective case-control and molecular epidemiological study of human cases of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in New Zealand. BMC Infect Dis 13:450
- Jo MY, Kim JH, Lim JH, Kang MY, Koh HB, Park YH, Yoon DY, Chae JS, Eo SK, Lee JH (2004) Prevalence and characteristics of *Escherichia coli* O157 from major food animals in Korea. Int J Food Microbiol 95(1):41–49
- Johnson KE, Thorpe CM, Sears CL (2006) The emerging clinical importance of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. Clin Infect Dis 43(12):1587–1595
- Ju W, Cao G, Rump L, Strain E, Luo Y, Timme R, Allard M, Zhao S, Brown E, Meng J (2012a) Phylogenetic analysis of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains by wholegenome sequencing. J Clin Microbiol 50(12):4123–4127
- Ju W, Shen J, Li Y, Toro MA, Zhao S, Ayers S, Najjar MB, Meng J (2012b) Non-O157 Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* in retail ground beef and pork in the Washington D.C. area. Food Microbiol 32(2):371–377
- Kalchayanand N, Arthur TM, Bosilevac JM, Wells JE, Wheeler TL (2013) Chromogenic agar medium for detection and isolation of *Escherichia coli* serogroups O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, and O145 from fresh beef and cattle feces. J Food Prot 76(2):192–199
- Kaper JB, Nataro JP, Mobley HL (2004) Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Nat Rev Microbiol 2(2):123–140
- Karch H, Tarr PI, Bielaszewska M (2005) Enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli in human medicine. Int J Med Microbiol 295(6–7):405–418
- Karch H, Denamur E, Dobrindt U, Finlay BB, Hengge R, Johannes L, Ron EZ, Tonjum T, Sansonetti PJ, Vicente M (2012) The enemy within us: lessons from the 2011 European *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 outbreak. EMBO Mol Med 4(9):841–848
- Karmali M, Mascarenhas M, Shen S, Ziebell K, Johnson S, Reid-Smith R, Isaac-Renton J, Clark C, Rahn K, Kaper J (2003) Association of genomic O Island 122 of *Escherichia coli* EDL 933 with verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* seropathotypes that are linked to epidemic and/ or serious disease. J Clin Microbiol 41(11):4930–4940
- Karmali MA, Gannon V, Sargeant JM (2010) Verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (VTEC). Vet Microbiol 140(3–4):360–370

- Kaspar C, Doyle, M.E., Archer, J. (2010) White paper on non-O157:H7 Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* from mean and non-meat sources. http://fri.wisc.edu/docs/pdf/FRI_Brief_Non-O157STEC_4_10.pdf. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- Kaur P, Chakraborti A, Asea A (2010) Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*: an emerging enteric food borne pathogen. Interdiscip Perspect Infect Dis 2010:254159
- Keithlin J, Sargeant J, Thomas MK, Fazil A (2014) Chronic sequelae of *E. coli* O157: systematic review and meta-analysis of the proportion of *E. coli* O157 cases that develop chronic sequelae. Foodborne Pathog Dis 11(2):79–95
- Kijima-Tanaka M, Ishihara K, Kojima A, Morioka A, Nagata R, Kawanishi M, Nakazawa M, Tamura Y, Takahashi T (2005) A national surveillance of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in food-producing animals in Japan. J Vet Med B Infect Dis Vet Public Health 52(5):230– 237
- King LA, Nogareda F, Weill FX, Mariani-Kurkdjian P, Loukiadis E, Gault G, Jourdan-DaSilva N, Bingen E, Mace M, Thevenot D, Ong N, Castor C, Noel H, Van Cauteren D, Charron M, Vaillant V, Aldabe B, Goulet V, Delmas G, Couturier E, Le Strat Y, Combe C, Delmas Y, Terrier F, Vendrely B, Rolland P, de Valk H (2012) Outbreak of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 associated with organic fenugreek sprouts, France, June 2011. Clin Infect Dis 54(11):1588–1594
- King LJ (2012) One health and food safety. In: Institute of Medicine (ed) Improving food safety through a one health approach. vol A8. The National Academies Press, pp 218–225
- Kuhnert P, Dubosson CR, Roesch M, Homfeld E, Doherr MG, Blum JW (2005) Prevalence and risk-factor analysis of Shiga toxigenic *Escherichia coli* in faecal samples of organically and conventionally farmed dairy cattle. Vet Microbiol 109(1–2):37–45
- Launders N, Byrne L, Adams N, Glen K, Jenkins C, Tubin-Delic D, Locking M, Williams C, Morgan D (2013) Outbreak of Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* O157 associated with consumption of watercress, United Kingdom, August to September 2013. Euro Surveill 18(44)
- Law D (2000) Virulence factors of *Escherichia coli* O157 and other Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli*. J Appl Microbiol 88(5):729–745
- Law D, Chart H (1998) Enteroaggregative Escherichia coli. J Appl Microbiol 84(5):685-697
- LeBlanc JJ (2003) Implication of virulence factors in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 pathogenesis. Crit Rev Microbiol 29(4):277–296
- Lee DW, Gwack J, Youn SK (2012) Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* outbreak and its incubation period: is it short or long? Osong Public Health Res Perspect 3(1):43–47
- LeJeune JT, Hancock D, Wasteson Y, Skjerve E, Urdahl AM (2006) Comparison of *E. coli* O157 and Shiga toxin-encoding genes (*stx*) prevalence between Ohio, USA and Norwegian dairy cattle. Int J Food Microbiol 109(1–2):19–24
- Levine MM, Edelman R (1984) Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* of classic serotypes associated with infant diarrhea: epidemiology and pathogenesis. Epidemiol Rev 6:31–51
- Locking ME, O'Brien SJ, Reilly WJ, Wright EM, Campbell DM, Coia JE, Browning LM, Ramsay CN (2001) Risk factors for sporadic cases of *Escherichia coli* O157 infection: the importance of contact with animal excreta. Epidemiol Infect 127(2):215–220
- López-Campos G, Martínez-Suárez JV, Aguado-Urda M, López-Alonso V (2012) Introduction to foodborne diseases. In: Hartel RW (ed) Microarray detection and characterization of bacterial foodborne pathogens. Springer, New York, pp 1–10
- Low JC, McKendrick IJ, McKechnie C, Fenlon D, Naylor SW, Currie C, Smith DG, Allison L, Gally DL (2005) Rectal carriage of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157 in slaughtered cattle. Appl Environ Microbiol 71(1):93–97
- Luna-Gierke RE, Griffin PM, Gould LH, Herman K, Bopp CA, Strockbine N, Mody RK (2014) Outbreaks of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infection: USA. Epidemiol Infect:1–11
- Luzader DH, Clark DE, Gonyar LA, Kendall MM (2013) EutR is a direct regulator of genes that contribute to metabolism and virulence in Enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7. J Bacteriol 195(21):4947–4953
- Mainil J (2013) Escherichia coli virulence factors. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 152(1-2):2-12

- Mainil JG, Daube G (2005) Verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* from animals, humans and foods: who's who? J Appl Microbiol 98(6):1332–1344
- Mathusa EC, Chen Y, Enache E, Hontz L (2010) Non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia* coli in foods. J Food Prot 73(9):1721–1736
- McDaniel TK, Jarvis KG, Donnenberg MS, Kaper JB (1995) A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92(5):1664–1668
- McGee P, Bolton DJ, Sheridan JJ, Earley B, Kelly G, Leonard N (2002) Survival of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in farm water: its role as a vector in the transmission of the organism within herds. J Appl Microbiol 93(4):706–713
- Mead P, Slutsker L, Dietz V, McCaig L, Bresee J, Shapiro C, Griffin P, Tauxe R (1999) Foodrelated illness and death in the United States. Emerg Infect Dis 5(5):607–625
- Mellmann A, Harmsen D, Cummings CA, Zentz EB, Leopold SR, Rico A, Prior K, Szczepanowski R, Ji Y, Zhang W, McLaughlin SF, Henkhaus JK, Leopold B, Bielaszewska M, Prager R, Brzoska PM, Moore RL, Guenther S, Rothberg JM, Karch H (2011) Prospective genomic characterization of the German enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 outbreak by rapid next generation sequencing technology. PloS One 6(7):e22751
- Mellor GE, Besser TE, Davis MA, Beavis B, Jung W, Smith HV, Jennison AV, Doyle CJ, Chandry PS, Gobius KS, Fegan N (2013) Multilocus genotype analysis of *Escherichia coli* O157 isolates from Australia and the United States provides evidence of geographic divergence. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(16):5050–5058
- Mingle LA, Garcia DL, Root TP, Halse TA, Quinlan TM, Armstrong LR, Chiefari AK, Schoonmaker-Bopp DJ, Dumas NB, Limberger RJ, Musser KA (2012) Enhanced identification and characterization of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: a six-year study. Foodborne Pathog Dis 9(11):1028–1036
- Mitsuda T, Muto T, Yamada M, Kobayashi N, Toba M, Aihara Y, Ito A, Yokota S (1998) Epidemiological study of a food-borne outbreak of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* O25:NM by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis and randomly amplified polymorphic DNA analysis. J Clin Microbiol 36(3):652–656
- Monaghan A, Byrne B, Fanning S, Sweeney T, McDowell D, Bolton DJ (2013) Serotypes and virulence profiles of atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) isolated from bovine farms and abattoirs. J Appl Microbiol 114(2):595–603
- Nataro JP, Kaper JB (1998) Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. Clin Microbiol Rev 11(1):142-201
- Nataro JP, Levine MM (1994) *Escherichia coli* disease in humans. In: Gyles CL (ed) *Escherichia coli* in domestic animals and humans. CAB International, Wallingford, pp 285–333
- Nataro JP, Mai V, Johnson J, Blackwelder WC, Heimer R, Tirrell S, Edberg SC, Braden CR, Glenn Morris J Jr, Hirshon JM (2006) Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* infection in Baltimore, Maryland, and New Haven, Connecticut. Clin Infect Dis 43(4):402–407
- Naugle AL, Holt KG, Levine P, Eckel R (2005) Food safety and inspection service regulatory testing program for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in raw ground beef. J Food Prot 68(3):462–468
- Neil KP, Biggerstaff G, MacDonald JK, Trees E, Medus C, Musser KA, Stroika SG, Zink D, Sotir MJ (2012) A novel vehicle for transmission of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 to humans: multistate outbreak of *E. coli* O157:H7 infections associated with consumption of ready-to-bake commercial prepackaged cookie dough–United States, 2009. Clin Infect Dis 54(4):511–518
- Newell D, Koopmans M, Verhoef L, Duizer E, Aidara-Kane A, Sprong H, Opsteegh M, Langelaar M, Threfall J, Scheutz F, van der Giessen J, Kruse H (2010) Food-borne diseases—The challenges of 20 years ago still persist while new ones continue to emerge. Int J Food Microbiol 139:S3–S15.
- Newton HJ, Sloan J, Bulach DM, Seemann T, Allison CC, Tauschek M, Robins-Browne RM, Paton JC, Whittam TS, Paton AW, Hartland EL (2009) Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains negative for locus of enterocyte effacement. Emerg Infect Dis 15(3):372–380
- O'Sullivan J, Bolton DJ, Duffy G, Baylis C, Tozzoli R, Wasteson Y, Lofdahl S (2007) Methods for detection and molecular characterisation of pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Pathogenic *Escherichia coli* Network. Teagasc, Ashtown Food Research Centre, Dublin

- Oporto B, Esteban JI, Aduriz G, Juste RA, Hurtado A (2008) *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* in healthy cattle, sheep and swine herds in Northern Spain. Zoonoses and Public Health 55(2):73–81
- Park S, Szonyi B, Gautam R, Nightingale K, Anciso J, Ivanek R (2012) Risk factors for microbial contamination in fruits and vegetables at the preharvest level: a systematic review. J Food Prot 75(11):2055–2081
- Paton A, Srimanote P, Woodrow M, Paton J (2001) Characterization of Saa, a novel autoagglutinating adhesin produced by locus of enterocyte effacement-negative shiga-toxigenic Escherichia coli strains that are virulent for humans. Infect Immun 69(11):6999–7009
- Phillips D, Sumner J, Alexander JF, Dutton KM (2001a) Microbiological quality of Australian beef. J Food Prot 64(5):692–696
- Phillips D, Sumner J, Alexander JF, Dutton KM (2001b) Microbiological quality of Australian sheep meat. J Food Prot 64(5):697–700
- Pierard D, De Greve H, Haesebrouck F, Mainil J (2012) O157:H7 and O104:H4 Vero/Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* outbreaks: respective role of cattle and humans. Vet Res 43:13
- Preussel K, Hohle M, Stark K, Werber D (2013) Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 is more likely to lead to hospitalization and death than non-O157 serogroups–except O104. PloS One 8(11):e78180
- Qadri F, Svennerholm AM, Faruque AS, Sack RB (2005) Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in developing countries: epidemiology, microbiology, clinical features, treatment, and prevention. Clin Microbiol Rev 18(3):465–483
- Rangel JM, Sparling PH, Crowe C, Griffin PM, Swerdlow DL (2005) Epidemiology of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreaks, United States, 1982–2002. Emerg Infect Dis 11(4):603–609
- Rasko DA, Webster DR, Sahl JW, Bashir A, Boisen N, Scheutz F, Paxinos EE, Sebra R, Chin CS, Iliopoulos D, Klammer A, Peluso P, Lee L, Kislyuk AO, Bullard J, Kasarskis A, Wang S, Eid J, Rank D, Redman JC, Steyert SR, Frimodt-Moller J, Struve C, Petersen AM, Krogfelt KA, Nataro JP, Schadt EE, Waldor MK (2011) Origins of the *E. coli* strain causing an outbreak of hemolytic-uremic syndrome in Germany. N Engl J Med 365(8):709–717
- Reid SD, Herbelin CJ, Bumbaugh AC, Selander RK, Whittam TS (2000) Parallel evolution of virulence in pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Nature 406(6791):64–67
- Reis MH, Vasconcelos JC, Trabulsi LR (1980) Prevalence of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in some processed raw food from animal origin. Appl Environ Microbiol 39(1):270–271
- Rosin P, Niskanen T, Palm D, Struelens M, Takkinen J (2013) Laboratory preparedness for detection and monitoring of Shiga toxin 2-producing *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 in Europe and response to the 2011 outbreak. Euro Surveill 18(25):20508
- Sack RB, Sack DA, Mehlman IJ, Orskov F, Orskov I (1977) Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli isolated from food. J Infect Dis 135(2):313–317
- Sakkejha H, Byrne L, Lawson AJ, Jenkins C (2013) An update on the microbiology and epidemiology of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* in England 2010–2012. J Med Microbiol 62(10):1531–1534
- Samadpour M, Kubler M, Buck FC, Depavia GA, Mazengia E, Stewart J, Yang P, Alfi D (2002) Prevalence of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in ground beef and cattle feces from King County, Washington. J Food Prot 65(8):1322–1325
- Sargeant JM, Sanderson MW, Smith RA, Griffin DD (2003) Escherichia coli O157 in feedlot cattle feces and water in four major feeder-cattle states in the USA. Prev Vet Med 61 (2):127–135
- Scaletsky IC, Souza TB, Aranda KR, Okeke IN (2010) Genetic elements associated with antimicrobial resistance in enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC) from Brazil. BMC Microbiol 10:25
- Scallan E, Hoekstra RM, Angulo FJ, Tauxe RV, Widdowson M-A, Roy SL, Jones JL, Griffin PM (2011) Foodborne illness acquired in the United Sates—major pathogens. Emerg Infect Dis 17(1):7–15
- Scavia G, Staffolani M, Fisichella S, Striano G, Colletta S, Ferri G, Escher M, Minelli F, Caprioli A (2008) Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* associated with a foodborne outbreak of gastroenteritis. J Med Microbiol 57(9):1141–1146

- Scheutz F, Nielsen EM, Frimodt-Moller J, Boisen N, Morabito S, Tozzoli R, Nataro JP, Caprioli A (2011) Characteristics of the enteroaggregative Shiga toxin/verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 strain causing the outbreak of haemolytic uraemic syndrome in Germany, May to June 2011. Euro Surveill 16(24):19890
- Schmidt H, Beutin L, Karch H (1995) Molecular analysis of the plasmid-encoded hemolysin of Escherichia coli O157:H7 strain EDL 933. Infect Immun 63(3):1055–1061
- Servin AL (2005) Pathogenesis of Afa/Dr diffusely adhering *Escherichia coli*. Clin Microbiol Rev 18(2):264–292
- Seto EY, Soller JA, Colford JM Jr. (2007) Strategies to reduce person-to-person transmission during widespread *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreak. Emerg Infect Dis 13(6):860–866
- Slayton RB, Turabelidze G, Bennett SD, Schwensohn CA, Yaffee AQ, Khan F, Butler C, Trees E, Ayers TL, Davis ML, Laufer AS, Gladbach S, Williams I, Gieraltowski LB (2013) Outbreak of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) O157:H7 associated with romaine lettuce consumption, 2011. PloS One 8(2):e55300
- Stampi S, Caprioli A, De Luca G, Quaglio P, Sacchetti R, Zanetti F (2004) Detection of Escherichia coli O157 in bovine meat products in northern Italy. Int J Food Microbiol 90(3):257–262
- Steiner TS, Theilman, N.M., Guerrant., R.L. (2006) Enteric *Escherichia coli* infections. In: Guerrant RL, Walker DH, Weller, PF (ed) Tropical infectious diseases—principles, pathogens and practice, vol 1. Churchill Livingstone, pp 201–219
- Talukdar PK, Rahman M, Rahman M, Nabi A, Islam Z, Hoque MM, Endtz HP, Islam MA (2013) Antimicrobial resistance, virulence factors and genetic diversity of *Escherichia coli* isolates from household water supply in Dhaka, Bangladesh. PloS One 8(4):e61090
- Tarr PI, Bilge SS, Vary JC Jr, Jelacic S, Habeeb RL, Ward TR, Baylor MR, Besser TE (2000) *Iha*: a novel *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 adherence-conferring molecule encoded on a recently acquired chromosomal island of conserved structure. Infect Immun 68(3):1400–1407
- Taylor WR, Schell WL, Wells JG, Choi K, Kinnunen DE, Heiser PT, Helstad AG (1982) A foodborne outbreak of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* diarrhea. N Engl J Med 306(18):1093–1095
- Thomas KM, McCann MS, Collery MM, Logan A, Whyte P, McDowell DA, Duffy G (2012) Tracking verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* O157, O26, O111, O103 and O145 in Irish cattle. Int J Food Microbiol 153(3):288–296
- Thomas MK, Majowicz SE, Sockett P, Fazil A, Pollari F, Dore K, Flint JA, Edge VL (2006) Estimated numbers of community cases of illness due to *Salmonella*, *Campylobacter* and verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*: Pathogen-specific community rates. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol 17(4):229–234
- Torres AG, Payne SM (1997) Haem iron-transport system in enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Mol Microbiol 23(4):825–833
- Trabulsi L, Keller R, Tardelli Gomes T (2002) Typical and atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Emerg Infect Dis 8 (5):508–513
- Trotz-Williams LA, Mercer NJ, Walters JM, Maki AM, Johnson RP (2012) Pork implicated in a Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreak in Ontario, Canada. Can J Public Health 103(5):e322–326
- Tsen HY, Jian LZ (1998) Development and use of a multiplex PCR system for the rapid screening of heat labile toxin I, heat stable toxin II and shiga-like toxin I and II genes of *Escherichia coli* in water. J Appl Microbiol 84(4):585–592
- Tseng M, Fratamico PM, Manning SD, Funk JA (2014) Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in swine: the public health perspective. Animal health research reviews/Conference of Research Workers in Animal Diseases:1–13
- Tubbs RC, Hurd HS, Dargatz N, Hill G (1993) Preweaning morbidity and mortality in the United States swine herd. Swine Health Prod 1:21–28
- Turner SM, Scott-Tucker A, Cooper LM, Henderson IR (2006) Weapons of mass destruction: virulence factors of the global killer enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 263(1):10–20
- Uhitil S, Jaksic S, Petrak T, Botka-Petrak K (2001) Presence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in ground beef and ground baby beef meat. J Food Prot 64(6):862–864

- USDA-FSIS (2014) Microbiological results of raw ground beef and raw ground beef components analyzed for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 STEC, calendar year 2012. http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/data-collection-and-reports/microbiology/ec/summary-data/summary-data. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- Vally H, Hall G, Dyda A, Raupach J, Knope K, Combs B, Desmarchelier P (2012) Epidemiology of Shiga toxin producing *Escherichia coli* in Australia, 2010. BMC Public Health 21(12):63
- van den Beld M, Reubsaet F (2012) Differentiation between *Shigella*, enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* (EIEC) and noninvasive *Escherichia coli*. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 31(6):899–904
- Vernozy-Rozand C, Ray-Gueniot S, Ragot C, Bavai C, Mazuy C, Montet MP, Bouvet J, Richard Y (2002) Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in industrial minced beef. Lett Appl Microbiol 35(1):7–11
- Viazis S, Diez-Gonzalez F (2011) Enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli*: the twentieth century's emergingfoodborne pathogen: a review. Adv Agronom 111:1–50
- Wang F, Yang Q, Kase JA, Meng J, Clotilde LM, Lin A, Ge B (2013a) Current trends in detecting non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in food. Foodborne Pathog Dis 10(8):665– 677
- Wang X, Taylor M, Hoang L, Ekkert J, Nowakowski C, Stone J, Tone G, Trerise S, Paccagnella A, Wong T, Galanis E (2013b) Comparison of clinical and epidemiological features of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 and non-O157 infections in British Columbia, 2009 to 2011. Can J Infect Dis Med Microbiol 24(4):e102–106
- Wasteson Y, Johannessen GS, Bruheim T, Urdahl AM, O'Sullivan K, Rorvik LM (2005) Fluctuations in the occurrence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 on a Norwegian farm. Lett Appl Microbiol 40(5):373–377
- Wedley AL, Elajnef HM, Fletcher JN (2013) Characterization of a novel EAST-negative enteropathogenic *E. coli* strain implicated in a food-borne outbreak of diarrhoea in adults. APMIS 121(6):494–502
- Wells JE, Shackelford SD, Berry ED, Kalchayanand N, Bosilevac JM, Wheeler TL (2011) Impact of reducing the level of wet distillers grains fed to cattle prior to harvest on prevalence and levels of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in feces and on hides. J Food Prot 74(10):1611–1617
- Wells JE, Kim M, Bono JL, Kuehn LA, Benson AK (2014) *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, diet, and fecal microbiome in beef cattle. J Anim Sci 92(4):1345–1355
- Wenneras C, Erling V (2004) Prevalence of enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli-associated diarrhoea and carrier state in the developing world. J Health Popul Nutr 22(4):370–382
- Werber D, Fruth A, Buchholz U, Prager R, Kramer MH, Ammon A, Tschape H (2003) Strong association between shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 and virulence genes stx₂ and eae as possible explanation for predominance of serogroup O157 in patients with haemolytic uraemic syndrome. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 22(12):726–730
- Wilson A, Evans J, Chart H, Cheasty T, Wheeler JG, Tompkins D, Smith HR (2001) Characterisation of strains of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* isolated during the infectious intestinal disease study in England. Eur J Epidemiol 17(12):1125–1130
- World Health Organisation (2008) WHO Initiative to Estimate the Global Burden of Foodborne Diseases. Paper presented at the First formal meeting of the Foodborne Disease Burden Epidemiology Reference Group (FERG), Geneva
- World Health Organisation (2011) Outbreaks of E. coli O104:H4 infection. http://www.euro. who.int/en/health-topics/emergencies/international-health-regulations/outbreaks-of-e.-colio104h4-infection. Accessed 30 Sept 2014

Chapter 2 Isolation and Detection of Pathogenic *Escherichia coli* in Foods

2.1 Introduction

Microbiological analysis and detection of a target microorganism(s) within a food can involve various steps and may include visual, biochemical, immunological, or genetic methods either before enrichment (quantitative or enumerative methods) or after enrichment (qualitative methods or presence/absence tests) (Lopez-Campos et al. 2012). Conventional or traditional methods for detecting microorganisms in foods can often involve enriching in one or more liquid enrichment media that allow for the resuscitation and multiplication of a particular microorganism. Subsequently, the isolation of the target microorganisms can occur when the enrichment is grown on selective and/or differential plating media for visual and additional confirmation steps (Jasson et al. 2010). Many standardized methods for selected foodborne pathogens are available and are considered the reference analytical methods for official controls and often involve conventional methods (Jasson et al. 2010). Although these methods are rather sensitive for the detection of pathogens, they are laborious and time-consuming, often requiring several days before results are known (Lopez-Campos et al. 2012). Therefore, recent research efforts have concentrated on developing methods that can reduce the assay time through the use of alternatives or combinations of isolation and detection methods and even automated versions wherever possible (Jasson et al. 2010; Lopez-Campos et al. 2012).

Pathogenic *E. coli* represents a phenotypically diverse group of pathogens and there is currently no single method that can be used to enrich, isolate, or select for the various pathotypes that exist. Consequently, available methods have been developed to detect or isolate particular pathotypes of interest. Developments of microbiological analysis of pathogenic *E. coli* in food has predominately focused on the Shiga-toxin producing *E. coli* (STEC) group, particularly the serogroup O157 and recently, other serogroups of concern. As a result, a number of methods have been published but various challenges in isolating these pathogens are currently not resolved. Often fecal samples from ill patients will contain large numbers of the pathogen that aid in detection and isolation, but for foods the predominant challenge is that these pathogens are usually present in very low numbers, in a

L. Rivas et al., *Detection and Typing Strategies for Pathogenic Escherichia coli*, SpringerBriefs in Food, Health, and Nutrition, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-2346-5_2

non-homogenous distribution among very high levels of background microflora in complex matrices. Various inhibitors within the food matrices can also interfere with isolation and subsequent detection methods. In addition, these STEC cells may be present in an injured or stressed state as a result of unfavorable conditions during food processing, such as exposure to different pH, temperatures, and the presence of preservatives (Grant et al. 2011; Wang et al. 2013).

The complexity of food matrices is the major obstacle for the development of effective sampling and rapid testing methods. Enrichment is primarily used to resuscitate injured/stressed target cells, increase the target cell numbers, as well as dilute the effects of food inhibitors and background flora within the assay (Wang et al. 2013). However, the time taken to enrich samples can lengthen the isolation process to days as opposed to hours (Ge and Meng 2009; Wang et al. 2013). In addition, these problems result in a necessary trade-off between the need to incorporate selective agents such as antibiotics and inhibitory agents to favor the growth of the STEC while suppressing the unwanted background flora without potentially inhibiting the stressed and injured cells by these agents (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). Effective sampling and sample preparation prior to the actual analyses is, therefore, a critical step in the isolation process (Wang et al. 2013).

2.2 General Method of Isolation for E. coli

The isolation and identification of the *E. coli* pathotypes that are not STEC is difficult due to the lack of a medium that can be used to enrich or select for specific strains. An isolation method for all pathogenic E. coli is outlined in the Food and Drug Administration Bacteriological Analytical Manual (FDA-BAM) (Feng et al. 2011a). The FDA-BAM method is a general procedure for the isolation of E. coli (excluding STEC) before subsequent testing for specific virulence traits of different pathotypes. In brief, the method recommends pre-enrichment of a 25 g food sample in 225 ml brain heart infusion (BHI) broth at 35 °C for 3 h to facilitate resuscitation of sublethally injured cells. The pre-enrichment is then transferred to 225 ml of tryptone phosphate (TP) broth and incubated at 44 °C for 20 h. A volume of enriched broth is then plated onto Levine's eosin-methylene blue (L-EMB; colonies produce a green metallic sheen) agar and MacConkey agar plates (colonies are brick red in color). These plates should be incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. Colony morphology and color may vary among pathogenic E. coli strains and Enteroinvasive E. coli (EIEC) do not ferment lactose; therefore, it is recommended that at least 10 typical and 10 atypical colonies should be picked for further analysis. It is important to note that this method is useful for isolating Enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC), Enterotoxigenic E. coli (ETEC), Enteroinvasive E. coli (EIEC), and Enteroaggregative E. coli (EAEC), but not STEC O157:H7, which does not grow well at 44 °C. Specific characteristics and methods to identify and confirm presumptive E. coli are described for each pathotype below.

2.3 Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli

2.3.1 Culture and Isolation of Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli

E. coli O157:H7 is phenotypically distinct from other *E. coli* as it can exhibit a delayed (negative) fermentation of D-sorbitol and does not demonstrate glucuronidase activity, hence these traits are often used to selectively isolate *E. coli* O157:H7 from foods (Thompson et al. 1990; Feng et al. 2011a). Unlike *E. coli* O157:H7, there is currently no standardized method for the isolation of non-O157 STEC from foods. The primary limitation for the detection of non-O157 STEC is the lack of known physiological characteristics that distinguish more than 400 serogroups of non-O157 STEC from non-pathogenic or commensal *E. coli*, which hampers the effective detection and enumeration of these organisms (Coombes et al. 2008; Mathusa et al. 2010; Mingle et al. 2012). In addition, to date, it is still not possible to fully define human pathogenic STEC strains, which adds to the difficulty of identifying clinically significant strains in humans (EFSA 2013).

Existing methodology for STEC is based on developments relating to *E. coli* O157:H7, and generally two approaches have been used to detect the pathogens in foods. Firstly, a primary enrichment to recover *E. coli*, including STEC, is used and subsequently screened for selected virulence factors and the subsequent isolation of an STEC is attempted using available methods (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). This can often result in the isolation of non-disease causing strains. The second approach involves serotype-dependent methods that target specific serogroups frequently associated with human disease and outbreaks such as strains belonging to the sero-groups O26, O45, O91, O103, O111, O121, O145, and O157 (Farrokh et al. 2013). The disadvantage of this approach is that serogroups that are less frequently associated with disease or are newly emerging (for example, the *E. coli* O104:H4 serotype associated the large European outbreak; Inset 1.2) are missed in these analyses.

The two most common and successful enrichment media used for *E. coli* O157:H7 and other STEC serotypes are tryptone soy broth (TSB) and *E. coli* broth (EC) with or without modifications to their original formulation (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). These modifications include bile salts or dipotassium phosphate in TSB (mTSB) or less bile salts in modified EC broth, as well as various other selective components which aid in the pathogens' recovery. The International Organization for Standardization (ISO) method 16654 for foods and animal stuffs recommends enrichment in mTSB with novobiocin (mTSBn) at 41.5 °C for an initial period of 18–24 h with subsequent analysis at 6 and 24 h.

The FDA-BAM method (Feng et al. 2011a) recommends the use of buffered peptone water with pyruvate (mBPWp) which contains several antimicrobial reagents that effectively suppress normal flora growth and non-target competitors, yet allows the growth of viable *E. coli* O157:H7 and other STEC and is capable of detecting <1 cfu/g in foods. This method also describes a screening step of food enrichments using a real-time PCR (RT-PCR) protocol to rapidly rule out negative samples or establish the presumptive presence of *E. coli* O157:H7 in a sample (see Sect. 2.3.2). The enrichment procedure and RT-PCR screening assay has also been validated for the detection and recovery of other non-O157 STEC but is not serogroup specific.

The United States Department of Agriculture Food Safety and Inspection Service (USDA-FSIS) has released a laboratory guidebook for the detection and isolation of STEC from meat products, carcasses, and environmental sponges (MLG 5B.05) (USDA-FSIS 2013). Target STEC strains are often those that have been noted as adulterants of raw non-intact beef products and product components in the USDA-FSIS register (USDA-FSIS 2013). These include STEC belonging to the O157 serogroup or any one of the following six non-O157 serogroups; O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, and O145. Shiga-toxin producing *E. coli* belonging to these six serogroups are often collectively referred to as the "Big 6 STEC" or "Top 7 STEC" when this group includes *E. coli* O157:H7 (Wang et al. 2013; USDA-FSIS 2014b). While the USDA-FSIS protocol (MLG 5B.05) is designed to guide FSIS laboratories required to perform regulatory testing of meat products, many establishments have chosen to implement STEC screen tests using a method based on, or demonstrated to be equivalent to, the FSIS guidebook.

The USDA-FSIS method (MLG 5B.05) recommends the use of mTSB enrichment without any antibiotics such as sodium novobiocin which is commonly used for *E. coli* O157:H7. Exclusion of sodium novobiocin allows the analysis of samples such as raw beef product, environmental and carcass sponges for *E. coli* O157:H7, and the other STEC noted as adulterants in the USDA-FSIS register (USDA-FSIS 2013). Following a screening step of the food enrichment using RT-PCR (refer to Sect. 2.3.2), the positive enrichments are processed using an immunomagnetic separation (IMS) method which is a technique that is also recommended in other methods (Inset 2.1).

Inset 2.1: Immunomagnetic Separation (IMS)

Many pathogens are usually present in low cell numbers within a food sample and the use of immunomagnetic separation (IMS) has provided an enhanced isolation capacity by aiding in the capture, separation, and concentration of a target pathogen from a sample matrix (Stevens and Jaykus 2004; Grant et al. 2011). The method uses superparamagnetic (i.e., only exhibit magnetic properties in the presence of an external magnetic field) or polystyrene beads that are coated with specific antibodies that capture the intact pathogen present within a complex suspension such as an enrichment broth (Deisingh and Thompson 2004). The application of a magnetic field attracts the beads along with the attached intact and viable pathogen and allows for the cell-bead complex to be extracted and concentrated in a tube. Any non-specific organic or liquid material carried over on the beads is removed through wash steps and the beads are subsequently released and plated onto selective media for further isolation. The method does not yield a pure culture and therefore requires the use of other methods to aid identification of the target bacteria, either through conventional or molecular assays (Olsvik et al. 1994). Indeed IMS has the advantage of being very versatile and can be used in combination with different rapid and automated assays for the detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Fu et al. 2005; Hunter et al. 2011).

Over the years, IMS has seen continual developments for the isolation of E. coli O157:H7 from foods and is included as a step in the gold standard cultural method for the pathogen (ISO 16654) and is now also commercially available for other key serotypes (e.g., O26, O103, O111, O121, O145). The utilization of IMS for key non-O157 serotypes is becoming more common and studies have reported the usefulness of serotype-specific enrichment broth, IMS, and selective agar with serological and biochemical confirmation testing for the isolation of these serotypes (Catarame et al. 2003; Bettelheim 2007). Immunomagetic separation in combination with selective enrichment has been found to improve rates of detection and isolation of E. coli O157:H7 in complex food matrices (Onoue et al. 1999; Weagant and Bound 2001). However, it has been reported that the detection of some serotypes (O26 and O111) through IMS was affected by enrichment protocol, high numbers of background microflora, and the physiological state of the organism. It was suggested that recovery may be improved by using media with low nutrients, such as buffered peptone water instead of tryptic soy broth and using higher enrichment temperatures (Drysdale et al. 2004).

The most frequently used magnetic carriers are Dynabeads (produced by Dynal, Oslo, Norway), which are polystyrene-based particles ranging from 2.8-4.5 µM. There are also commercially available automated IMS platforms and include the BeadRetriever[™] (Dynal Biotech Ltd, Wirral, UK) and PATHATRIX® (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) The later version has been AOAC Research Institute approved for the detection/isolation of E. coli O157:H7 and uses up to 250 ml of recirculating enrichment broth over the trapped beads in order to increase the sensitivities and reduce detection times (Fedio et al. 2011). Other systems such as the Assurance GDS® systems (BioControl, USA) are designed specifically to aid in the confirmation of E. coli O157:H7 and the additional "Big 6 STEC" serogroups. The system involves the use of a kit that contains IMS particles and components to be used for a RT-PCR assay that is performed on a specific GDS machine. The kit contains Poly-IMS-Top STEC beads which contain a mixture of IMS particles targeted against the Top 7 STEC. The Assurance GDS PickPen® collects the IMS particles that have captured the Top 7 serogroups from an aliquot of a positive enrichment. The RT-PCR assay can detect E. coli O157:H7 or the remaining "Big 6 STEC" as well as the stx_1 , stx_2 , and *eae* genes to provide an overall confirmation of a positive "Top 7." Following a positive PCR reaction, the IMS procedure is repeated again, either with the Poly-IMS-Top STEC or individual IMS beads (IMS Panel-Top STEC) which allows the capture and isolation of each of the specific 7 target O-groups prior to selective agar plating and confirmation.

The optimization of selective enrichment of non-O157 STEC is ongoing. A review of various enrichment protocols assessed key variables, including type of broth medium, presence of antibiotics and or selective ingredients, and incubation time/ temperature conditions, however, no clear conclusions could be drawn from the study. It was highlighted that more extensive work would be required with multiple serotypes and sample matrices (Vimont et al. 2006; Grant et al. 2011) and that all serotypes cannot be detected by one method (Baylis 2008).

The most widely used solid plating medium for the detection of non-sorbitol fermenting *E. coli* O157:H7 is sorbitol MacConkey (SMAC) agar, and selectivity is also improved by the addition of selective supplements cefixime and potassium tellurite (CT-SMAC) (Zadik et al. 1993). However, this media is not appropriate for the detection of non-O157 and sorbitol-fermenting *E. coli* O157:H7 which have also been implicated in human disease (Mathusa et al. 2010). Diagnosis of sorbitol-fermenting non-O157 STEC is complex and requires non-culture screening strategies because selective and differential media are not available for their culture (Gould et al. 2009). This is seldom applied, even in specialized laboratories, resulting in under diagnosis of this pathogen (Werber et al. 2011).

A variety of chromogenic media have become available commercially in recent vears for the detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 in humans, food, and animal feed stuffs. These media contain a particular mixture of artificial chromogenic conjugates composed of a substrate for an E. coli-specific enzyme coupled to a chromophore. When the E. coli enzyme cleaves the colorless conjugate, one or more insoluble chromophores are released, resulting in a distinctive color for the E. coli colonies (Gouali et al. 2013). Current chromogenic agars use the characteristic traits such as sorbitol fermentation, glucuronidase or galactosidase activity and are largely effective for the discrimination of E. coli O157:H7. Chromogenic agars that are specific for the isolation of E. coli O157:H7 from foods include CHROMagar[™] O157 (CHRO-Magar Microbiology, Paris, France), RAPID'E. coliTM O157:H7 (Biorad, Hercules, CA, USA), and Rainbow® O157 agar (Biolog, Hayward, CA, USA). Studies have been conducted to determine whether chromogenic culture media developed for the detection of E. coli O157:H7 are also applicable to non-O157 serotypes; however the variability of phenotypic characteristics for non-O157 on these media impedes the usefulness of these media for the isolation of these strains. Attempts have, therefore, been made to utilize other phenotypic characteristics for the differentiation of non-O157 on selective media (Gouali et al. 2013).

Posse et al. (2008) developed a set of novel differential media for the isolation and confirmation of *E. coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 strains (O26, O103, O111, and O145) from food and feces. The first differential medium for non-O157 strains is based on a mixture of carbohydrate sources, β -D-galactosidase activity, and selective reagents that result in a color-based differentiation of the four specified non-O157 STEC strains. The growth of the four different non-O157 STEC serotypes on this medium produces different colored colonies. *E. coli* O26 colonies appear as bright red to dark purple, O103 and O111 colonies are blue-purple, and O145 colonies are green. Suspect colonies are subsequently picked from the differential medium and streaked onto one of the more specific confirmation media. These agars contain phenol red broth base supplemented with dulcitol, L-rhamnose, D-raffinose or D-arabinose (Mathusa et al. 2010). These agars have been reported to result in changes to the original stated colors according to incubation time, how crowded or isolated the colonies on the agars or the medium or food matrix which they are isolated from.

Rainbow® O157 agar has been evaluated as a selective media for the detection of non-O157 serotypes and produce different color reactions for different serotypes present (Mathusa et al. 2010). However, some strains of non-O157 serogroups, mainly from serogroup O103, is inhibited by the concentration of potassium tellurite used in Rainbow® O157 agar (0.8 mg/L) as well as CT-SMAC (2.5 mg/L) (Fukushima et al. 2000; Tillman et al. 2012). A modified version of Rainbow® agar (mRBA) containing 0.05 mg/L cefixime, 0.15 mg/L potassium tellurite, and 5 mg/L novobiocin that supports the growth of various STEC strains is described for the isolation of the *E. coli* and the "top six" non-O157 and recommended in the USDA FSIS Microbiology Laboratory Guidebook (MLG 5B.04) (USDA-FSIS 2013). The procedure also involves an IMS step and a subsequent acid treatment procedure which can reduce the growth of natural microflora while allowing acid-tolerant STEC to grow (Tillman et al. 2012).

CHROMagar[™] was developed, and has been found, to allow the growth and presumptive identification (mauve colonies) of approximately 75% of STEC isolates in a vast collection of isolates comprising of 20-40 different serotypes, including the common serotypes of Enterohemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC) (Hirvonen et al. 2012; Tzschoppe et al. 2012). This media failed to detect only 5/249 from three published studies (Hirvonen et al. 2012; Tzschoppe et al. 2012; Gouali et al. 2013; Wylie et al. 2013). CHROMagar[™] was found to have good performance in a clinical trial of stool specimens and was found to recover different STEC serotypes including non-sorbitol fermenting E. coli O157:H7 and O104:H4. The use of this media is also rapid, whereby putative STEC colonies can be clearly visualized the day after sample receipt, and performed well against the "gold standard" method of the laboratory (Gouali et al. 2013). A second medium (CHROMagar[™] STEC), derived from the original medium, was developed to characterize E. coli O104:H4 following the European outbreak (Inset 1.2), and reported to identify the outbreak strain, which produced an extended-spectrum lactamase (ESBL), but not other sporadic E. coli O104:H4 isolates that did not produce ESBL (Gouali et al. 2013).

Enterohemolysin agar was developed based on the observation that many non-O157 and O157 strains produce a narrow zone of hemolysis on blood agar supplemented with the red blood cells of sheep and calcium ions after 18–24 h incubation (Beutin et al. 1989). However, a disadvantage of the media is that not all STEC show hemolysis on this agar and the non-selective properties of the agar allows for the growth of background flora present in the sample. Also enterohemolysin positive colonies must be screened for Stx production as some non-STEC that are alpha-hemolytic can interfere with interpretation of colonies (Grant et al. 2011). Supplementation with vancomycin (30 mg/L), cefixime (20 ug/L), and cefsulodin (3 mg/L) was found to be superior to enterohemolysin agar for the detection of hemolysis by STEC (Lehmacher et al. 1998).

2.3.2 Molecular Detection of Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli

The World Health Organization (WHO) has called the rapid identification of virulent non-O157 STEC a public health priority (WHO 1998). Recent recommendations from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) suggest that future STEC methods should include an assessment of the potential of the organisms to cause severe disease, possibly by detecting virulence factor genes (Mingle et al. 2012). These recommendations also proposed that comparative genomic studies performed on existing and newly sequenced STEC strains may identify gene targets that will likely aid in the identification or predications of pathogenicity in the future (Gould et al. 2009; Mingle et al. 2012). A range of molecular techniques such as conventional polymerase chain reaction (PCR) (Paddock et al. 2012), RT-PCR (Fratamico et al. 2011), PCR coupled to mass spectrometry (Shen et al. 2013), and isothermal nucleic acid amplification (Wang et al. 2012) have been employed in the detection of gene targets associated with STEC strains.

The FDA-BAM method (Feng et al. 2011a) recommends a molecular screening step of food enrichments for *E. coli* O157:H7 and other STEC using an RT-PCR assay. Implementation of an initial screen test can offer time and cost benefits by reducing the number of samples requiring confirmation and the time that it takes to test. The assay detects the stx_1 and stx_2 genes and the +93 single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in the *uidA* gene that encodes for the β -D-glucuronidase enzyme (Feng and Lampel 1994; Jinneman et al. 2003). The SNP is highly conserved in *E. coli* O157:H7 strains that produce Stx and is an accurate marker for these pathogens (Feng 1993). This assay also detects other STEC strains where a +93 *uidA* negative but stx_1 and/or stx_2 positive result indicates the sample may contain an STEC, but not necessarily a pathogenic STEC (Feng et al. 2011a). It is therefore essential to isolate and confirm the pathogenic STEC for additional testing.

The USDA-FSIS method (MLG 5B.05) also involves performing a molecular screen of samples targeting specific virulence genes, followed by the isolation and confirmation of STEC from screen test positive broths. The targets utilized in MLG 5B.05 are also extensively used in research and commercial tests and include Shiga toxin encoding genes (*stx*), an attaching and effacing gene (*eae*), and genes specific for each of the Big 6 *E. coli* O serogroups. An RT-PCR test (BAX® System RT-PCR Assay—STEC Suite, Dupont) performed on a commercially available platform (BAX® RT-PCR system) is used to detect each gene and provide the user with an automated interpretation of the result. Any samples that test positive for all three gene targets; *stx, eae*, and an O antigen are considered potentially positive for a Big 6 STEC and sent for confirmation.

Numerous RT-PCR methods that use similar approaches to the FSIS protocol have been used for the sensitive detection of STEC in enrichments of ground beef, beef carcass swabs, beef trim, and a range of other food matrices such as apple juice and raw-milk cheeses (Wang et al. 2013). Clinical laboratories have also imple-

mented similar RT-PCR methods to detect the Big 6 STEC serogroups in samples, which has improved timeliness of identification and outbreak investigations (Mingle et al. 2012). In addition, a range of commercially available systems have been developed that utilize a host of different technologies and targets to detect the Big 6 or Top 7 STEC serogroups (Table 2.1).

While most commercial test systems rely on the detection of stx, eae, and O antigen targets, some utilize additional or alternative targets which may provide a better indication of the presence of a Big 6/Top 7 STEC. For example, the Atlas STEC EG2 Combo Detection Assay designed by Roka Biosciences (San Diego, CA, USA) uses an alternative target that is believed to eliminate false-positive results that may arise from co-contamination of samples with non-STEC organisms that possess stx and eae. Alternatively, the NeoSEEKTM (Neogen, Lansing, MI, USA) approach to STEC detection and identification employs a high throughput SNP genotyping platform to detect 70 independent targets. The number and range of targets employed is believed to provide sufficient evidence for the non-culture based confirmation of Big 6 STEC. In a modification to the FSIS method, the Assurance GDS system employs an IMS step to separate target O serogroups from enrichment cultures prior to cell lysis and PCR detection of STEC virulence genes by RT-PCR. Many of these commercial screening systems have been issued with a letter of no objection for testing beef products (USDA-FSIS 2014b), and/or have been validated by recognized independent bodies for the detection of STEC in other food types such as poultry, spinach, leafy green vegetables, and sprouts.

Despite their widespread popularity, detection systems that rely solely on stx, eae, and O antigen markers to detect STEC in complex matrices have a number of limitations associated with these gene targets. Beef cattle feces and beef trim enrichments represent two examples of complex matrices that can contain multiple isolates of E. coli harboring different combinations of genetic markers (stx, eae, and O antigen genes) that are not all associated with a single isolate. Isolates meeting this description, while not considered a Big 6 STEC, are likely to contribute to the potential positive status of a sample. To further confound screening protocols, stx and eae gene targets may also be harbored by non-Top 7 STEC and bacterial species other than E. coli (Schmidt et al. 1993; Paton and Paton 1996; Karch et al. 1999; Gyles 2007; Chandry et al. 2012), further contributing to the potential positive status of a sample. Samples may also contain free stx-phages that interfere with the detection of STEC (Martinez-Castillo and Muniesa 2014), and stx specific primers may not detect all stx variants (Feng et al. 2011b). Therefore, any method that solely rely on stx, eae, and O antigen targets to screen for Top 7 STEC in complex matrices should confirm the presence of pathogens in screen test positive samples. If no attempt is made to confirm screen positive samples, then those samples are considered positive for a Top 7 STEC serogroup by the FSIS (USDA-FSIS 2014c). Since studies have reported a large number of potential positive samples that cannot be culturally confirmed (Bosilevac and Koohmaraie 2012), failure to confirm samples could result in substantial cost to industry.

Table 2.1 Selected com	mercially available kits i	for the detection of Shig	ga toxigenic Escherichia coli. (Adapte	ed from Wang et al. 2013; USDA-FSIS 2014b)
Name of test	Supplier	Target STEC serogroups	Test type/technique	Recommended/validated samples types ^a
ACTERO Salmo- nella/STEC Enrich- ment Media	FoodChek System Inc.	Top 7 STEC	Magnetic immunochromatographic technology (lateral flow)	Raw ground beef, liquid whole egg, raw ground chicken, raw frozen scallops, sprouts, environmental surfaces (stainless steel, plastic, rubber, ceramic tiles, sealed concrete)
Atlas STEC EG2 Combo Detection Assay	Roka Bioscience, Inc	Top 7 STEC	Target capture of nucleic acid, Transcription-Mediated Amplifica- tion and Hybridization Protection Assay	Fresh raw ground beef (73% lean), fresh raw beef trim, romaine lettuce
Assurance GDS MPX Top 7 STEC	BioControl Systems	Top 7 STEC	Immunomagnetic capture and RT PCR	Raw beef trim, raw ground beef, raw spinach, and raw mixed greens (baby lettuces and other leafy green vegetables)
BAX® System real- time PCR STEC suite	DuPont Qualicon	Big 6 STEC—026, 045, 0103, 0111, 0121, 0145	Real-time polymerase chain reac- tion (RT PCR)	Raw beef trim, raw ground beef, raw ground beef plus soy
GeneDisc Plate STEC Top 7	Pall GeneDisc Technologies	Top 7 STEC—026, 045, 0103, 0111, 0121, 0145, 0157	RT PCR	Fresh raw ground beef (20% fat), fresh raw beef trim (20% fat)
IEH E. coli 0157 (Stx-producing E. coli (STEC) with Intimin and Salmo- nella Test System	IEH Laboratories & Consulting Group	Top 7 STEC	RT PCR	Raw ground beef, raw beef trim, raw poultry, RTE turkey (omitted for STEC) and mixed leafy greens
iQ-Check TM STEC VirX and iQ-Check TM STEC SerO	Bio-Rad Laboratories	Top 7 STEC	RT PCR	Raw beef trim
NeoSeek STEC confirmation	Neogen Corp.	Big 6 STEC	PCR mass spectrometry	Ground beef trim

48

Table 2.1 (continued)				
Name of test	Supplier	Target STEC serogroups	Test type/technique	Recommended/validated samples types ^a
Rapid-B non-0157 STEC test kit	Vivione Biosciences, Inc	Big 6 STEC	IMS and flow cytometry	Raw ground beef and beef trim
RapidFinder STEC	Life Technologies	Top 7 STEC	Immunomagnetic capture and RT PCR	Raw ground beef and beef trim
		J	741	

^a Systems listed may have been validated for a particular test portion of the matrices listed

2.4 Enumeration of Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli

The importance of quantitative data of food pathogens, such as *E. coli* O157:H7 and other STEC at different points within the food chain is becoming evident as quantitative risk assessment models are increasingly being developed. There is currently no standard protocol for the enumeration of *E. coli* O157:H7 or other STEC serogroups from food or environmental samples. Cultural approaches have involved directly plating the sample onto selective plating media but the sensitivity of this approach is often low (approximately 10^2 colony forming units (CFU) per gram). Bacterial cells that are stressed or injured may not be detected unless initially plated onto a non-selective agar (such as tryptone soya agar) and incubated for 3–4 h to aid recovery of the stressed cells before over-pouring a layer of selective agar and incubated for a longer period.

An alternative method is the most probable number (MPN) method, which calculates the number of viable microorganisms in a sample by preparing decimal dilutions of the samples and transferring subsamples of three dilutions into 9 or 15 tubes containing liquid culture medium, to perform three or five tubes assays, respectively. The tubes are then incubated and those that show growth (turbidity) are counted. Taking into account the dilution factor, the final results are compared to a standard MPN table, which will indicate the MPN of bacteria in the product (Blodgett 2010). This method is often more labor-intensive and expensive than the direct plate method and the confidence limits of the MPN method can be large, even when many replicate samples are included for each dilution. However, the method has been extensively used to enumerate *E. coli* O157:H7 in different sample types (Fegan et al. 2004; Duffy et al. 2010; Nkere et al. 2011).

Enumeration of non-O157 serogroups is more difficult due to the lack of media which can differentiate the morphologically different colonies produced by these serogroups. As a result, serological and other biochemical or molecular methods are required to confirm colonies on media which can be very laborious and expensive to undertake (Caro et al. 2011). Alternatively, various studies have reported the use of molecular methods to enumerate STEC cells within samples but the limit of detection can be very high $(10^2-10^7 \text{ CFU per gram})$ (O'Sullivan et al. 2007; Guy et al. 2014; Russo et al. 2014).

2.5 Immunological Detection Methods for Pathogenic E. coli

The laborious and time-consuming nature of isolating STEC from foods has seen the increasing development of rapid methods for the detection of the pathogens in various food matrices. Along with targeting specific genes (e.g., *stx* or an antigen) via molecular methods, are biological (cytotoxicity tests) and serological/immunologically based methods (Bettelheim and Beutin 2003). Many of these immunoassays are commercially available for STEC and other pathogenic *E. coli* as "readyto-use kits" (Bettelheim and Beutin 2003; Scheutz et al. 2011; Table 2.2). These kits utilize specific poly- or monocolonal antibodies targeting surface antigens and thus can detect specific STEC serogroups (most kits predominately target *E. coli* O157) while some detect the toxins produced by pathogens.

Many of the commercial kits require prior enrichment of the target cells to reach detectable levels and are generally less sensitive than traditional culture methods. However, the kits offer the advantage of speed, reduced labor costs, and high volume throughput (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). The kits are also easy to use and do not require specific materials or skills, and are therefore widely used in routine laboratory testing for STEC in different countries (Bettelheim and Beutin 2003). The primary disadvantage of the methods, however, is that the infecting organism is not isolated for subsequent serotyping and a specific diagnosis of E. coli O157:H7 and the isolation of the pathogen of interest following a positive detection can be challenging (Gould et al. 2009). All immunological techniques should be adequately standardized and controlled to reduce the possibility and impact of false positive and false negative results. This is more common in samples with high levels of background microflora. In all cases, presumptive positive samples should undergo further confirmation tests, as the antibody may cross-react with other microorganisms within the sample. False positive results can occur when the immunological material crossreacts with a non-STEC organism (i.e., antibody is insufficiently specific). False negative results occur when the immunological material does not detect STEC cells when present in the test sample (i.e., the antibody can find a target binding site on the STEC cell) (O'Sullivan et al. 2007).

Some of the immunoassays can detect and differentiate between Stx1 and/or Stx2 in supernatants of stool or from bacterial cultures in a microtitre plate format or a lateral flow device. Overnight enrichment of the sample is recommended and the subsequent time to undertake the assays can vary from 20 min to 4 h, depending on the test format used (Gould et al. 2009). Essentially, sample supernatant is placed into wells coated with Stx1- and Stx2-specific (monoclonal) antibodies and left to incubate at room temperature for a given time (approximately 1 h) to permit binding of any Shiga toxin present in the sample bound antibodies. Secondary antibodies that are conjugated with an enzyme (such as horse-radish peroxidase or alkaline phosphatase) are then added, and the resulting complex sandwiches the Shiga toxin between two sets of antibodies. Following another short incubation time (approximately 30 min) at room temperature and washing, an enzyme substrate and a chromogen are added, which produce a blue or yellow color, at an intensity is proportional to the amount of toxin present in the original sample (Bettelheim and Beutin 2003).

The FDA introduced the use of enzyme immunoassay (EIA) capable of detecting any STEC for use in clinical laboratories. It was found that the identification and characterization of STEC within clinical laboratories was enhanced by the combined use of the EIA and the confirmatory tests (Schaffzin et al. 2012). This improvement in detection methods is likely to have contributed to the change observed between published estimations of foodborne infections in 1999 and 2011, with a

Table 2.2 Selected commercial	lly available immunological base	ed kits for E. coli. (Adapted fror	n (Bell and Kyriakides 2000; U	SDA-FSIS 2014a)
Name of test	Supplier	Test target	Test type/technique	Recommended/validated samples types
Reveal for <i>E. coli</i> O157 systems	Neogen Corporation	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 and 0157:NM	Lateral flow immunoassay	Raw ground and cubed beef, apple cider, lettuce rinse, environmental swabs
Visual Immunopreciptate Assay (VIP®) for EHEC	BioControl Systems	E. coli 0157:H7	Lateral flow immunoassay	Dairy foods, meats, poultry products, fruits, nutmeats, seafood, pasta, liquid eggs, raw and cooked beef
Assurance® EIA EHEC	Biocontrol	E. coli 0157:H7	Enzyme immunoassay (microtitre plate)	Dairy foods, meats, poultry products, fruits, nutmeats, seafood, pasta, liquid eggs, raw and cooked beef
SinglePath	Merck KGaA	E. coli 0157:H7	Lateral flow immunoassay	Raw ground beef and paseur- ized milk
3M TM Tecra TM E. coli O157 Visual Immunoassay	3M Tecra International Pty Ltd	E. coli 0157	Enzyme immunoassay (microtitre plate)	Raw and cooked ground beef, raw and cooked ground chicken
DuPont Lateral Flow System E. coli O157 Test Kit	Dupont Qualicon	E. coli 0157	Lateral flow immunoassay	Boneless beef, ground beef, apple cider
FoodChek TM E. coli O157	FoodChek Systems, Inc.	E. coli 0157	Lateral flow immunoassay	Raw ground beef, raw beef trim
RapidChek® E. coli O157	Romer Labs	E. coli 0157:H7	Lateral flow immunoassay	Raw ground beef and bone- less beef
VIDAS®UP (ECPT) E. coli 0157	bioMérieux	<i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7	Enzyme Linked Fluorescent Assay	All human food products and production environmental samples

52

Table 2.2 (continued)				
Name of test	Supplier	Test target	Test type/technique	Recommended/validated samples types
Multipath System TM E for E . coli 0157	Crystal Dignostics Corporate	E. coli 0157:H7	Liquid crystal-based immu- nodiagnostic assay	Raw ground beef, fresh raw beef trim
DuoPath® Verotoxin	Merck KGaA	STEC (Shiga toxins-can dif- ferentiate between 1 and 2)	Lateral flow immunoassay	Pure culture
Immunocard STAT! EHEC	Meridian Diagnostics, Inc.	STEC (Shiga toxins-can differentiate between 1 and 2)	Lateral flow immunoassay	Enrichment broth and isolates
Premier EHEC	Meridian Diagnostics, Inc.	STEC (Shiga toxins-cannot differentiate between 1 and 2)	Enzyme immunoassay (microtitre plate)	Overnight enrichment broths and direct testing of stool samples
ProSpecT STEC	Remel	STEC (Shiga toxins-cannot differentiate between 1 and 2)	Enzyme immunoassay (microtitre plate)	Overnight enrichment broths and direct testing of stool samples
VTEC Screen "Seiken"/ Denka Seiken RPLA	Denka Seiken	STEC (Shiga toxins; can differentiate between 1 and 2)	Reversed passive latex agglutination (RPLA)	Isolate
DRG® <i>E. coli</i> Verotoxin 1+2 Ag ELISA	DRG International, Inc.	STEC (Shiga toxins-cannont differentiate between 1 and 2)	Enzyme immunoassay (microtitre plate)	Isolate
<i>E. coli</i> heat-labile Entero- toxin Detection Kit (VET-RPLA)	Denka Seiken	<i>E. coli</i> heat-labile enterotoxins(LT)	RPLA Microtitre plate	Isolate
<i>E. coli</i> Heat-stable Entero- toxin Detection Kit (<i>E. coli</i> ST-EIA "SEIKEN")	Denka Seiken	<i>E. coli</i> heat-stabile enterotox- ins (ST)	RPLA Microtitre plate	Isolate

notable increase in the number of infections attributed to non-O157 (Scallan et al. 2011). Further enhanced testing regimes for non-O157 which incorporated the use of EIA on stool samples have allowed for the identification of the serogroup and type as part of non-O157 outbreak investigations that otherwise might not have been supported by laboratory data (Mingle et al. 2012; Schaffzin et al. 2012).

A 6-year study involving the use of an enhanced method to identify and characterize STEC, which included an algorithm for testing Shiga-toxin EIA positive specimens, found that 41% of the STEC identified were non-O157 STEC. Without the submission of EIA-positive broths these STEC would have been missed (Mingle et al. 2012). This study assisted in determining the true burden of these serogroups in disease. In contrast, some studies have shown the failure of EIAs to detect *E. coli* O157:H7 that was identified in the same sample through plating and emphasizes the importance of primary isolation (CDC 2001; Klein et al. 2002; Gould et al. 2009).

2.6 Cell Culture Assays Used for Pathogenic E. coli

2.6.1 Cell Cytotoxicity Assay for Shiga Toxin-Producing E. coli

Vero (African green monkey kidney) and HeLa cell lines are very sensitive to Shiga toxin because they have high concentrations of globotriaosylceramides Gb3 and Gb4, the receptors for Shiga toxin in eukaryotic cells. Sterile fecal filtrates prepared from stool specimens, broth enrichments, or colonies are inoculated onto cells and observed for typical cytopathic effect. Confirmation that the cytopathic effect is caused by Shiga toxin is performed by neutralization using anti-Stx1 and anti-Stx2 antibodies. Although the method is very sensitive, it is not routinely used in most clinical microbiology laboratories due to the need for specialized skills in tissue culturing and the availability of cell monolayers, and specific antibodies (Bettelheim and Beutin 2003; Gould et al. 2009).

2.6.2 Cell Adherence Assays

One of the most useful phenotypic assays for the diagnosis of EPEC, EAEC, and DAEC (diffusely adherent *E. coli*) is the HEp-2 adherence assay. This assay was originally investigated for EPEC and many modifications to the method such as incubation time and the use of different growth mediums have been reported which can create conflicting results between laboratories (Cravioto et al. 1979; Mathewson and Cravioto 1989; Shariff et al. 1993; Nataro and Kaper 1998; Gomes et al. 2004). However, the assay performed as first described, provides the best ability to differentiate strains amongst the EPEC, EAEC, and DAEC pathotypes (Nataro and

Kaper 1998). This assay involves inoculating the test trains onto a semi-confluent HEp-2 monolayer and incubating for 3 h at 37 °C under 5% CO_2 . Following incubation, the monolayer is washed, fixed, stained, and examined by oil immersion light microscopy for characteristic patterns; namely, localized adherence (LA), aggregative adherence (AA), and diffuse adherence (DA); however, some strains may produce ambiguous results in the assay (Mathewson and Cravioto 1989; Nataro and Kaper 1998).

2.7 Enteroinvasive E. coli

Enteroinvasive E. coli (EIEC) are often less reactive biochemically than other E. coli, are frequently anaerogenic, and may demonstrate late or no lactose fermentation (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003). For this reason, the isolation and identification of EIEC strains is difficult due to the lack of a medium that can be used to enrich or specifically select for EIEC strains. Other traits associated with the EIEC group include; failure to decarboxylate lysine, inability to use acetate or ferment mucate, and non-motility. Although the correlation between serogroup and pathogenicity is not perfect, combining serology with biochemical testing can be useful in identifying EIEC isolates (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003). The EIEC are also related to *Shigella* and are separated from other *E. coli* by molecular methods (PCR of the *ipa*H-gene) and physiological and biochemical typing and serological testing. There are very few biochemical characteristics that differentiate *Shigella* and EIEC from each other and the two most convenient are mucate and acetate tests. EIEC may be positive for either or both, whereas *Shigella* strains are normally negative for both (Lan et al. 2004). Salicin fermentation and esculin hydrolysis have also been used to differentiate the two groups, where *Shigella* is normally negative for both tests (van den Beld and Reubsaet 2012).

Pathogenicity of EIEC is primarily due to its ability to invade and destroy colonic tissue and the invasion phenotype (encoded by a high molecular weight plasmid) involves assessing the ability to cause keratoconjunctvitis in guinea pig eyes and to form plaques in HeLa cell monolayers (Mehlman et al. 1982; Feng et al. 2011a). However, PCR-based detection methods have replaced these phenotypic assays. EIEC and *Shigella* both carry a 140-MDa invasion plasmid. Because this plasmid can be lost during enrichment, genes encoding invasion plasmid antigens (*iap*H), rather than plasmid encoded genes, are commonly used to detect EIEC and *Shigella* and distinguish them from other *E. coli* pathotypes (Venkatesan et al. 1988; Sethabutr et al. 1993; Binet et al. 2014). The *ipa*H target has been used to detect EIEC and *Shigella* in foods including, but not limited to, fresh produce using a TaqMan quantitative PCR (Lin et al. 2010) and ground beef, produce and salad using a multiplex conventional PCR approach (Kim et al. 2010; Binet et al. 2014). Some of these assays have incorporated invasion plasmid targets into multipathotype detection systems. Because invasion plasmids are carried by both EIEC and *Shigella*, further analysis is often required in order to distinguish between these two organisms. Additional gene targets have been suggested to discriminate EIEC from *Shigella* using conventional (Yamazaki and Fukasawa 2011) or RT-PCR approaches (Pavlovic et al. 2011).

2.8 Enterotoxigenic E. coli

ETEC has a high infective dose for adults (approximately 10^8 cells) and therefore analysis for this pathotype is not usually performed unless high levels of *E. coli* have been found in a food. It is also recommended that if ETEC is detected, levels should be enumerated to assess the potential hazard of the contaminated food (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003; Feng et al. 2011a). Serotyping is not suitable for the identification of ETEC as isolates can belong to a large number of serotypes and food may contain ETEC strains of animal origin which are not human pathogens (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003). The ability of ETEC to change serotype profiles over time has been noted (Qadri et al. 2005).

Diagnosis of ETEC is based on the identification of the factors important in pathology and includes the production of LT and/or ST and the possession of colonization factors. ETEC strains that are associated with human disease may have genes for some of these factors within plasmids. Some selective media that are used for the isolation of E. coli from foods can cause the loss of these plasmids and the loss of the strains' ability to produce these factors (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003). The production of LT and ST may be tested using the rabbit ileal loop and infant mouse physiological assays which were initially the gold standards for the identification of these enterotoxins, respectively. These assays are notoriously difficult to perform and time-consuming (Nataro and Kaper 1998). The development of specific and sensitive immunological tests (some are commercially available; Table 2.1) and the Biken test has been used for detecting the LT and ST (Honda et al. 1982; Takeda et al. 1983). Various methods exist to determine the production of colonization factors such as fimbraie and include mannose-resistant agglutination of certain species of erythrocytes, serological tests using monoclonal antibodies, or through molecular methods (Evans et al. 1977; Ahren et al. 1986). Some of these tests are complicated due to the failure of some fimbriae to be readily expressed in vivo and the variety of fimbriae that can be produced (Desmarchelier and Fegan 2003).

Molecular detection techniques for ETEC commonly rely on the detection of LT and ST genes. These genes have been used extensively as targets in conventional (Feng and Reddy 2014) and RT-PCR (Grant et al. 2006; Patel et al. 2011), DNA colony hybridization (Ferreira et al. 1986), and microarray assays (Deng et al. 1996; Wang et al. 2010) to detect the presence of ETEC in a range of food and water samples or from pure culture. Although PCR is a popular method for detection of ETEC, its effectiveness has been shown to vary between food matrices. In a large survey of fresh produce collected between 2004 and 2010, isolates were obtained from less than 40% of samples that tested positive for LT and ST genes using a multiplex PCR approach (Feng and Reddy 2014). The same study noted that isolation rates differed greatly between food sample types and the authors suggested that product type may influence confirmation efficiency. A similar study also reported PCR detection difficulties with more challenging food matrices such as hot sauce (Grant et al. 2006). The latter study suggests that PCR sensitivity may be improved by reducing inhibitors through greater purification of DNA templates. The presence of non-viable ETEC or the death of ETEC in food samples prior to confirmation may also limit the recovery of isolates from screen positive samples (Feng and Reddy 2014). As is the case with most PCR approaches to detect foodborne pathogens in complex matrices, isolation of the target pathogen is recommended to unequivocally determine their presence.

2.9 Enteropathogenic E. coli

EPEC were traditionally defined by their serotype based on the O and H antigens which had been traditionally associated with infantile diarrhea, and in general, sero-type correlates with specific pathotypes of *E. coli* (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). However, it is now more common to define *E. coli* pathotypes based on their pathogenic characteristics as particular serotypes may belong to different pathotypes. For example, O111:H- may belong to the EPEC and EHEC groups depending on the possession of key virulence genes, such as *stx* and *eae* (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). A study in England indicated that public health laboratories are adopting more molecular assays for the detection of other pathotypes such as EPEC directly from fecal specimens in order to gain further epidemiological information on the pathotype(s) circulating within the population (Sakkejha et al. 2013).

EPEC are genetically defined by the presence of genes encoded on EPEC adherence factor (EAF) plasmids, which are responsible for the localized adherence of EPEC to epithelial cells (Elias et al. 2002; O'Sullivan et al. 2007). EPEC also possess genes commonly associated with EHEC such as *eae* but lack genes encoding Shiga toxins (Elias et al. 2002). *E. coli* that possess *eae* but do not possess the EAF plasmid are classified as atypical EPEC. Despite lacking EAF, this subgroup is still capable of causing human disease. The majority of studies detect EPEC by targeting the bundle-forming pilus gene (*bfp*A) carried by the EAF plasmid. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) methods have been used to screen a range of food types using the *bfp*A target (Rugeles et al. 2010; Alonso et al. 2011).

EPEC strains show a distinct pattern of localized adherence to HEp-2 cells where cells adhere in clusters in the presence of mannose. The A/E phenotype can also be identified on cultured HEp-2 or HeLa cells by the fluorescent actin staining (FAS) tests (Mathewson and Cravioto 1989). This involves the microscopic observation of the accumulation of actin at an A/E site that binds to a fluorescein. However, this is a labor intensive method which requires specialized skills and equipment.

2.10 Enteroaggregative *E. coli* and Diffusely Adherent *E. coli*

Phenotypically, the HEp-2 cell adherence assay remains the gold standard for identifying enteroaggregative E. coli AEC ("stacked-brick" appearance) and diffusely adherent E. coli (DAEC) (diffusely adherent appearance). Limitations of the cell assay include time requirement and limited availability in reference laboratories, which have led to the development of other more rapid molecular methods, including PCR and DNA probes (Kaper et al. 2004; Cennimo et al. 2007). Plasmidencoded genes, aat, aggR, and aap, have been described as suitable genes for the detection of typical EAEC (Jenkins et al. 2006). Due to the important role that the *agg*R gene plays in regulating a range of EAEC virulence factors, isolates that possess this gene are considered typical EAEC (Cennimo et al. 2007). Despite the extensive use of aggR in detection methods for typical EAEC, epidemiological data suggests it may not be a suitable marker for disease-causing EAEC as aggR containing strains have been isolated from healthy patients. Likewise, strains that lack aggR have been isolated from gastrointestinal outbreaks (Cennimo et al. 2007). In addition to this, EAEC are highly heterogeneous pathogens and DNA probes or PCR primers designed to detect single gene targets have been shown to exhibit a wide range of sensitivity (Cennimo et al. 2007). Despite this, aggR was recently used as a target in a loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) method for the detection of EAEC in foods (Yokoyama et al. 2010). This LAMP-based approach to detecting EAEC in various vegetable and meat samples was shown to be significantly more sensitive than a PCR approach (Yokoyama et al. 2010). In addition to aggR, a range of alternative plasmid and chromosomally encoded genes have been proposed for EAEC detection (Cerna et al. 2003; Panchalingam et al. 2012). However, the genetic diversity of EAEC continues to present challenges for the rapid, sensitive, and specific molecular detection of pathogenic EAEC in food, clinical, and environmental samples.

Molecular methods that target genes associated with all known Afa/Dr adhesins have been used in the identification of DAEC (Le Bouguenec et al. 2001). Common targets include daaC, daaE, and afaB (Bilge et al. 1989; Le Bouguenec et al. 2001). These markers have been used in the development of DNA probes and PCR based detection methods for screening clinical fecal samples and bacterial colonies (Guion et al. 2008; Rugeles et al. 2010; Souza et al. 2013). However, inherent limitations associated with Afa/Dr genes currently confound efforts to conclusively identify DAEC. For example, not all DAEC hybridize with daaC and daaE probes (Scaletsky et al. 1999; Lopes et al. 2005) and daaC probes have been shown to cross-react with a subset of EAEC (Snelling et al. 2009), which could lead to false positive results. While there are few examples of the use of these or alternative markers for detecting DAEC in foods, daaE was used to target DAEC in a large survey of food items (Canizalez-Roman et al. 2013). The reservoir for DAEC is currently unknown, as is its source of transmission to humans (Croxen et al. 2013). Thus, further work is needed to understand the role, if any, food plays as a reservoir or source of transmission to humans.

References

- Ahren CM, Gothefors L, Stoll BJ, Salek MA, Svennerholm AM (1986) Comparison of methods for detection of colonization factor antigens on enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 23:586–591
- Alonso MZ, Padola NL, Parma AE, Lucchesi PM (2011) Enteropathogenic Escherichia coli contamination at different stages of the chicken slaughtering process. Poult Sci 90(11):2638–2641
- Baylis CL (2008) Growth of pure cultures of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in a range of enrichment media. J Appl Microbiol 105(5):1259–1265
- Bell C, Kyriakides A (2000) Pathogenic *Escherchia coli* In: Blackburn CW, McClure PJ (eds) Foodborne pathogens. Hazards, risk analysis and control. Woodhead Publishing Ltd., Cambridge, pp 279–302
- Bettelheim KA (2007) The non-O157 Shiga-toxigenic (verocytotoxigenic) Escherichia coli; underrated pathogens. Crit Rev Microbiol 33(1):67–87
- Bettelheim KA, Beutin L (2003) Rapid laboratory identification and characterization of verocytotoxigenic (Shiga toxin producing) *Escherichia coli* (VTEC/STEC). J Appl Microbiol 95(2):205–217
- Beutin L, Montenegro MA, Orskov I, Orskov F, Prada J, Zimmermann S, Stephan R (1989) Close association of verotoxin (Shiga-like toxin) production with enterohemolysin production in strains of *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 27(11):2559–2564
- Bilge S, Clausen C, Lau W, Moseley S (1989) Molecular characterisation of a fimbrial adhesin, F1845, mediating diffuse adherence of diarrhea-associated *Escherichia coli* to HEp-2 cells. J Bacteriol 171(8):4281–4289
- Binet R, Deer DM, Uhlfelder SJ (2014) Rapid detection of *Shigella* and enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* in produce enrichments by a conventional multiplex PCR assay. Food Microbiol 40:48–54
- Blodgett R (2010) Bacteriological analytical manual. Most Probable Number from Serial Dilutions, vol Appendix 2. Food and Drug Association (FDA). http://www.fda.gov/food/foodscienceresearch/laboratorymethods/ucm109656.htm. Accessed Dec 2014
- Bosilevac JM, Koohmaraie M (2012) Predicting the presence of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in ground beef by using molecular tests for Shiga toxins, intimin, and O serogroups. Appl Environ Microbiol 78(19):7152–7155
- Canizalez-Roman A, Gonzalez-Nunez E, Vidal JE, Flores-Villasenor H, Leon-Sicairos N (2013) Prevalence and antibiotic resistance profiles of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from food items in northwestern Mexico. Int J Food Microbiol 164(1):36–45
- Caro I, Mateo J, Rua J, Del Rosario Garcia-Armesto M (2011) Occurrence of *Escherichia coli* O157, O111 and O26 in raw ewe's milk and performance of two enrichment broths and two plating media used for its assessment. Int J Food Microbiol 146(1):84–87
- Catarame TM, O'Hanlon KA, Duffy G, Sheridan JJ, Blair IS, McDowell DA (2003) Optimization of enrichment and plating procedures for the recovery of *Escherichia coli* O111 and O26 from minced beef. J Appl Microbiol 95(5):949–957
- CDC (2001) University outbreak of calicivirus infection mistakenly attributed to Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7–Virginia, 2000. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 50(23):489–491
- Cennimo DJ, Koo H, Mohamed JA, Huang DB, Chiang T (2007) Enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*: a review of trends, diagnosis, and treatment. Infect Med 24:100–110
- Cerna JF, Nataro JP, Estrada-Garcia T (2003) Multiplex PCR for detection of three plasmidborne genes of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* strains. J Clin Microbiol 41(5):2138–2140
- Chandry PS, Gladman S, Moore SC, Seemann T, Crandall KA, Fegan N (2012) A Genomic Island in *Salmonella enterica* ssp. *salamae* provides new insights on the genealogy of the locus of enterocyte effacement. PloS One 7(7):e41615
- Coombes BK, Wickham ME, Mascarenhas M, Gruenheid S, Finlay BB, Karmali MA (2008) Molecular analysis as an aid to assess the public health risk of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 74(7):2153–2160

- Cravioto A, Gross R, Scotland S, Rowe, B (1979) An adhesive factor found in strains of *Escherichia coli* belonging to the traditional infantile enteropathogenic serotypes. Curr Microbiol 3:95–99
- Croxen MA, Law RJ, Scholz R, Keeney KM, Wlodarska M, Finlay BB (2013) Recent advances in understanding enteric pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Clin Microbiol Rev 26(4):822–880
- Deisingh AK, Thompson M (2004) Strategies for the detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in foods. J Appl Microbiol 96(3):419–429
- Deng MY, Cliver DO, Day SP, Fratamico PM (1996) Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* detected in foods by PCR and an enzyme-linked oligonucleotide probe. Int J Food Microbiol 30(3):217– 229
- Desmarchelier P, Fegan N (2003) Enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. In: Hocking A (ed) Foodborne microorganisms of public health significance, 6th edn. Australian Institute of Food Science and Technology Incorporated, NSW Branch, Food Microbiology Group, Waterloo DC, pp 267–310
- Drysdale M, MacRae M, Strachan NJ, Reid TM, Ogden ID (2004) The detection of non-O157 *E. coli* in food by immunomagnetic separation. J Appl Microbiol 97(1):220–224
- Duffy LL, Small A, Fegan N (2010) Concentration and prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 and *Salmonella* serotypes in sheep during slaughter at two Australian abattoirs. Aust Vet J 88 (10):399–404
- EFSA (2013) Panel on Biological Hazards (BIOHAZ); Scientific Opinion on VTEC-seropathotype and scientific criteria regarding pathogenicity assessment. EFSA J 11(4):3138
- Elias WP, Uber AP, Tomita SK, Trabulsi LR, Gomes TA (2002) Combinations of putative virulence markers in typical and variant enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* strains from children with and without diarrhoea. Epidemiol Infect 129(1):49–55
- Evans DG, Evans DJ Jr, Tjoa WS (1977) Hemagglutination of human A erthrocytes by enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* isolates from adults with diarrhea: correlation with colonization factor. Infect Immun 18:330–337
- Farrokh C, Jordan K, Auvray F, Glass K, Oppegaard H, Raynaud S, Thevenot D, Condron R, De Reu K, Govaris A, Heggum K, Heyndrickx M, Hummerjohann J, Lindsay D, Miszczycha S, Moussiegt S, Verstraete K, Cerf O (2013) Review of Shiga-toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) and their significance in dairy production. Int J Food Microbiol 162(2):190–212
- Fedio WM, Jinneman KC, Yoshitomi KJ, Zapata R, Wendakoon CN, Browning P, Weagant SD (2011) Detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 in raw ground beef by Pathatrix immunomagnetic-separation, real-time PCR and cultural methods. Int J Food Microbiol 148(2):87–92
- Fegan N, Higgs G, Vanderlinde P, Desmarchelier P (2004) Enumeration of *Escherichia coli* O157 in cattle faeces using most probable number technique and automated immunomagnetic separation. Lett Appl Microbiol 38(1):56–59
- Feng P (1993) Identification of *Escherichia coli* serotype O157:H7 by DNA probe specific for an allele of *uid*A gene. Mol Cell Probes 7(2):151–154.
- Feng P, Lampel KA (1994) Genetic analysis of uidA expression in enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli serotype O157:H7. Microbiology 140:2101–2107
- Feng PC, Reddy SP (2014) Prevalence and diversity of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* strains in fresh produce. J Food Prot 77(5):820–823
- Feng P, Weagant SD, Jinneman K (2011a) Bacteriological analytical manual. Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli, vol Chapter 4A. Food and Drug Association (FDA). http://www.fda.gov/Food/ FoodScienceResearch/LaboratoryMethods/ucm070080.htm. Accessed Dec 2014
- Feng PC, Jinneman K, Scheutz F, Monday SR (2011b) Specificity of PCR and serological assays in the detection of *Escherichia coli* Shiga toxin subtypes. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(18):6699–6702
- Ferreira J, Hill WE, Hamdy MK, Zapatka FA, McCay SG (1986) Detection of Enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli in foods by DNA colony hybridization. J Food Sci 51(3):665–667
- Fratamico PM, Bagi LK, Cray WC Jr, Narang N, Yan X, Medina M, Liu Y (2011) Detection by multiplex real-time polymerase chain reaction assays and isolation of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* serogroups O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, and O145 in ground beef. Foodborne Pathog Dis 8(5):601–607

- Fu Z, Rogelj S, Kieft TL (2005) Rapid detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by immunomagnetic separation and real-time PCR. Int J Food Microbiol 99(1):47–57
- Fukushima H, Hoshina K, Gomyoda M (2000) Selective isolation of eae-positive strains of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 38(4):1684–1687
- Ge B, Meng J (2009) Advanced technologies for pathogen and toxin detection in foods: current applications and future directions. J Lab Autom 14(4):235–241
- Gomes TA, Irino K, Girao DM, Girao VB, Guth BE, Vaz TM, Moreira FC, Chinarelli SH, Vieira MA (2004) Emerging enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* strains? Emerg Infect Dis 10(10):1851–1855
- Gouali M, Ruckly C, Carle I, Lejay-Collin M, Weill FX (2013) Evaluation of CHROMagar STEC and STEC 0104 chromogenic agar media for detection of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in stool specimens. J Clin Microbiol 51(3):894–900
- Gould LH, Bopp C, Strockbine N, Atkinson R, Baselski V, Body B, Carey R, Crandall C, Hurd S, Kaplan R, Neill M, Shea S, Somsel P, Tobin-D'Angelo M, Griffin PM, Gerner-Smidt P (2009) Recommendations for diagnosis of Shiga toxin–producing *Escherichia coli* infections by clinical laboratories. Morb Mort Wkly Rep 58(RR-12):1–14
- Grant MA, Hu J, Jinneman KC (2006) Multiplex real-time PCR detection of heat-labile and heatstable toxin genes in enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. J Food Prot 69(2):412–416
- Grant MA, Hedberg C, Johnson R, Harris J, Logue CM, Meng J, Sofos JN, Dickson JS (2011) The significance of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in food. Food Prot Trends Jan:33–45
- Guion CE, Ochoa TJ, Walker CM, Barletta F, Cleary TG (2008) Detection of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* by use of melting-curve analysis and real-time multiplex PCR. J Clin Microbiol 46(5):1752–1757
- Guy RA, Tremblay D, Beausoleil L, Harel J, Champagne MJ (2014) Quantification of *E. coli* O157 and STEC in feces of farm animals using direct multiplex real time PCR (qPCR) and a modified most probable number assay comprised of immunomagnetic bead separation and qPCR detection. J Microbiol Meth 99:44–53
- Gyles CL (2007) Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: an overview. J Anim Sci 85(13 Suppl):E45–62
- Hirvonen JJ, Siitonen A, Kaukoranta SS (2012) Usability and performance of CHROMagar STEC medium in detection of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains. J Clin Microbiol 50(11):3586–3590
- Honda T, Arita M, Takeda Y, Miwatani T (1982) Further evaluation of the Biken test (modified Elek test) for detection of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* producing heat-labile enterotoxin and application of the test to sampling of heat-stable enterotoxin. J Clin Microbiol 16(1):60–62
- Hunter DM, Leskinen SD, Magana S, Schlemmer SM, Lim DV (2011) Dead-end ultrafiltration concentration and IMS/ATP-bioluminescence detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in recreational water and produce wash. J Microbiol Meth 87(3):338–342
- Jasson V, Jacxsens L, Luning P, Rajkovic A, Uyttendaele M (2010) Alternative microbial methods: an overview and selection criteria. Food Microbiol 27(6):710–730
- Jenkins C, Chart H, Willshaw GA, Cheasty T, Smith HR (2006) Genotyping of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* and identification of target genes for the detection of both typical and atypical strains. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 55(1):13–19
- Jinneman KC, Yoshitomi KJ, Weagant SD (2003) Multiplex real-time PCR method to identify Shiga toxin genes *stx*1 and *stx*2 and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7/H- serotype. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(10):6327–6333
- Kaper JB, Nataro JP, Mobley HL (2004) Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Nat Rev Microbiol 2(2):123–140
- Karch H, Bielaszewska M, Bitzan M, Schmidt H (1999) Epidemiology and diagnosis of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infections. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 34(3):229–243
- Kim K-H, Cho JI, Cheung C-Y, Lim JM, Cho S, Cho DH, Kang CS, Kim DH (2010) Development of multiplex PCR assays to identify *Escherichia coli* pathogenic genes in food. Food Sci Biotech 19(5):1205–1210

- Klein EJ, Stapp JR, Clausen CR, Boster DR, Wells JG, Qin X, Swerdlow DL, Tarr PI (2002) Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in children with diarrhea: a prospective point-of-care study. J Pediatr 141(2):172–177
- Lan R, Alles MC, Donohoe K, Martinez MB, Reeves PR (2004) Molecular evolutionary relationships of enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* and *Shigella* spp. Infect Immun 72(9):5080–5088
- Le Bouguenec C, Lalioui L, du Merle L, Jouve M, Courcoux P, Bouzari S, Selvarangan R, Nowicki BJ, Germani Y, Andremont A, Gounon P, Garcia MI (2001) Characterization of AfaE adhesins produced by extraintestinal and intestinal human *Escherichia coli* isolates: PCR assays for detection of Afa adhesins that do or do not recognize Dr blood group antigens. J Clin Microbiol 39(5):1738–1745
- Lehmacher A, Meier H, Aleksic S, Bockemuhl J (1998) Detection of hemolysin variants of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* by PCR and culture on vancomycin-cefixime-cefsulodin blood agar. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(7):2449–2453
- Lin WS, Cheng CM, Van KT (2010) A quantitative PCR assay for rapid detection of *Shigella* species in fresh produce. J Food Prot 73(2):221–233
- Lopes LM, Fabbricotti SH, Ferreira AJ, Kato MA, Michalski J, Scaletsky IC (2005) Heterogeneity among strains of diffusely adherent *Escherichia coli* isolated in Brazil. J Clin Microbiol 43(4):1968–1972
- Lopez-Campos G, Martinez-Suarez JV, Aguado-Urda M, Lopez-Alonso V (2012) Detection, identification and analysis of foodborne pathogens. In: Hartel RW (ed) Microarray detection and characterisation of bacterial foodborne pathogens. Springer, New York, pp 13–32
- Martinez-Castillo A, Muniesa M (2014) Implications of free Shiga toxin-converting bacteriophages occurring outside bacteria for the evolution and the detection of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 4:46
- Mathewson JJ, Cravioto A (1989) HEp-2 cell adherence as an assay for virulence among diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. J Infect Dis 159(6):1057–1060
- Mathusa EC, Chen Y, Enache E, Hontz L (2010) Non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in foods. J Food Prot 73(9):1721–1736
- Mehlman IJ, Romero A, Atkinson JC, Aulisio C, Sanders AC, Campbell W, Cholenski J, Ferreira J, Forney E, O'Brian K, Palmieri M, Weagant S (1982) Detection of invasiveness of mammalian cells by *Escherichia coli*: collaborative study. J Assoc Off Anal Chem 65(3):602–607
- Mingle LA, Garcia DL, Root TP, Halse TA, Quinlan TM, Armstrong LR, Chiefari AK, Schoonmaker-Bopp DJ, Dumas NB, Limberger RJ, Musser KA (2012) Enhanced identification and characterization of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: a six-year study. Foodborne Pathog Dis 9(11):1028–1036
- Nataro JP, Kaper JB (1998) Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. Clin Microbiol Rev 11(1):142-201
- Nkere CK, Ibe NI, Iroegbu CU (2011) Bacteriological quality of foods and water sold by vendors and in restaurants in Nsukka, Enugu State, Nigeria: a comparative study of three microbiological methods. J Health Popul Nutr 29(6):560–566
- O'Sullivan J, Bolton DJ, Duffy G, Baylis C, Tozzoli R, Wasteson Y, Lofdahl S (2007) Methods for detection and molecular characterization of pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Pathogenic *Escherichia coli* Network. Teagasc, Ashtown Food Research Centre, Dublin
- Olsvik O, Popovic T, Skjerve E, Cudjoe KS, Hornes E, Ugelstad J, Uhlen M (1994) Magnetic separation techniques in diagnostic microbiology. Clin Microbiol Rev 7(1):43–54
- Onoue Y, Konuma H, Nakagawa H, Hara-Kudo Y, Fujita T, Kumagai S (1999) Collaborative evaluation of detection methods for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from radish sprouts and ground beef. Int J Food Microbiol 46(1):27–36
- Paddock Z, Shi X, Bai J, Nagaraja TG (2012) Applicability of a multiplex PCR to detect O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, O145, and O157 serogroups of *Escherichia coli* in cattle feces. Vet Microbiol 156(3–4):381–388
- Panchalingam S, Antonio M, Hossain A, Mandomando I, Ochieng B, Oundo J, Ramamurthy T, Tamboura B, Zaidi AK, Petri W, Houpt E, Murray P, Prado V, Vidal R, Steele D, Strockbine N, Sansonetti P, Glass RI, Robins-Browne RM, Tauschek M, Svennerholm AM, Berkeley LY, Kotloff K, Levine MM, Nataro JP (2012) Diagnostic microbiologic methods in the GEMS-1 case/control study. Clin Infect Dis 55(Suppl 4):S294–302

- Patel CB, Vajpayee P, Singh G, Upadhyay RS, Shanker R (2011) Contamination of potable water by enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*: qPCR based culture-free detection and quantification. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 74(8):2292–2298
- Paton AW, Paton JC (1996) *Enterobacter cloacae* producing a Shiga-like toxin II-related cytotoxin associated with a case of hemolytic-uremic syndrome. J Clin Microbiol 34(2):463–465
- Pavlovic M, Luze A, Konrad R, Berger A, Sing A, Busch U, Huber I (2011) Development of a duplex real-time PCR for differentiation between *E. coli* and *Shigella* spp. J Appl Microbiol 110(5):1245–1251
- Posse B, De Zutter L, Heyndrickx M, Herman L (2008) Novel differential and confirmation plating media for Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* serotypes O26, O103, O111, O145 and sorbitol-positive and -negative O157. FEMS Microbiol Lett 282(1):124–131
- Qadri F, Svennerholm AM, Faruque AS, Sack RB (2005) Enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* in developing countries: epidemiology, microbiology, clinical features, treatment, and prevention. Clin Microbiol Rev 18(3):465–483
- Rugeles LC, Bai J, Martinez AJ, Vanegas MC, Gomez-Duarte OG (2010) Molecular characterization of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* strains from stools samples and food products in Colombia. Int J Food Microbiol 138(3):282–286
- Russo P, Botticella G, Capozzi V, Massa S, Spano G, Beneduce L (2014) A fast, reliable, and sensitive method for detection and quantification of *Listeria monocytogenes* and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 in ready-to-eat fresh-cut products by MPN-qPCR. Biomed Res Int 2014:608296
- Sakkejha H, Byrne L, Lawson AJ, Jenkins C (2013) An update on the microbiology and epidemiology of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* in England 2010–2012. J Med Microbiol 62(10):1531–1534
- Scaletsky IC, Pedroso MZ, Oliva CA, Carvalho RL, Morais MB, Fagundes-Neto U (1999) A localized adherence-like pattern as a second pattern of adherence of classic enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* to HEp-2 cells that is associated with infantile diarrhea. Infect Immun 67(7):3410–3415
- Scallan E, Hoekstra RM, Angulo FJ, Tauxe RV, Widdowson M-A, Roy SL, Jones JL, Griffin PM (2011) Foodborne illness acquired in the United States—major pathogens. Emerg Infect Dis 17(1):7–15
- Schaffzin JK, Coronado F, Dumas NB, Root TP, Halse TA, Schoonmaker-Bopp DJ, Lurie MM, Nicholas D, Gerzonich B, Johnson GS, Wallace BJ, Musser KA (2012) Public health approach to detection of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: summary of two outbreaks and laboratory procedures. Epidemiol Infect 140(2):283–289
- Scheutz F, Nielsen EM, Frimodt-Moller J, Boisen N, Morabito S, Tozzoli R, Nataro JP, Caprioli A (2011) Characteristics of the enteroaggregative Shiga toxin/verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 strain causing the outbreak of hemolytic uremic syndrome in Germany, May to June 2011. Euro Surveill. 16 (24):19889
- Schmidt H, Montag M, Bockemuhl J, Heesemann J, Karch H (1993) Shiga-like toxin II-related cytotoxins in *Citrobacter freundii* strains from humans and beef samples. Infect Immun 61(2):534–543
- Sethabutr O, Venkatesan M, Murphy GS, Eampokalap B, Hoge CW, Echeverria P (1993) Detection of Shigellae and enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* by amplification of the invasion plasmid antigen H DNA sequence in patients with dysentery. J Infect Dis 167(2):458–461
- Shariff M, Bhan MK, Knutton S, Das BK, Saini S, Kumar R (1993) Evaluation of the fluorescence actin staining test for detection of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 31(2):386–389
- Shen J, Wang F, Li F, Housley R, Carolan H, Yasuda I, Burrows E, Binet R, Sampath R, Zhang J, Allard MW, Meng J (2013) Rapid identification and differentiation of non-O157 Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* using polymerase chain reaction coupled to electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Foodborne Pathog Dis 10(8):737–743
- Snelling AM, Macfarlane-Smith LR, Fletcher JN, Okeke IN (2009) The commonly-used DNA probe for diffusely-adherent *Escherichia coli* cross-reacts with a subset of enteroaggregative *E. coli*. BMC Microbiol 9:269

- Souza TB, Lozer DM, Kitagawa SM, Spano LC, Silva NP, Scaletsky IC (2013) Real-time multiplex PCR assay and melting curve analysis for identifying diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 51(3):1031–1033
- Stevens KA, Jaykus LA (2004) Bacterial separation and concentration from complex sample matrices: a review. Crit Rev Microbiol 30(1):7–24
- Takeda Y, Honda T, Miwatani T (1983) The use of the Biken test to detect enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* producing heat labile enterotoxin. Dev Biol Stand 53:113–121
- Thompson JS, Hodge DS, Borczyk AA (1990) Rapid biochemical test to identify verocytotoxinpositive strains of *Escherichia coli* serotype O157. J Clin Microbiol 28(10):2165–2168
- Tillman GE, Wasilenko JL, Simmons M, Lauze TA, Minicozzi J, Oakley BB, Narang N, Fratamico P, Cray AC Jr (2012) Isolation of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* Serogroups O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, and O145 from ground beef using modified rainbow agar and postimmunomagnetic separation acid treatment. J Food Prot 75(9):1548–1554
- Tzschoppe M, Martin A, Beutin L (2012) A rapid procedure for the detection and isolation of enterohaemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* (EHEC) serogroup O26, O103, O111, O118, O121, O145, and O157 strains and the aggregative EHEC O104:H4 strain from ready-to-eat vegetables. Int J Food Microbiol 152(1–2):19–30
- USDA-FSIS (2013) Detection and isolation of non-O157 Shiga Toxin-Producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) from meat products and carcass and environmental sponges. Laboratory Guidebook, vol MLG 5B.05
- USDA-FSIS (2014a) Microbiological results of raw ground beef and raw ground beef components analyzed for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 STEC, calendar year 2012. http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/data-collection-and-reports/microbiology/ec/summary-data/summary-data. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- USDA-FSIS (2014b) Summary tables of No-Objection Letters issued by FSIS for non-O157 STEC test methods. USDA-FSIS. http://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/regulatorycompliance/New-Technologies/summary-table-of-nols-non-O157-stec-test-methods/NOLnon-O157-STEC-+test-methods. Accessed 9 Sept 2014
- USDA-FSIS (2014c) Verification activities for non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (non-O157 STEC) under MT60, MT52, and MT53 sampling programs. USDA-FSIS, Washington, DC
- van den Beld M, Reubsaet F (2012) Differentiation between *Shigella*, enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli* (EIEC), and noninvasive *Escherichia coli*. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 31(6):899–904
- Venkatesan M, Buysse JM, Vandendries E, Kopecko DJ (1988) Development and testing of invasion-associated DNA probes for detection of *Shigella* spp. and enteroinvasive *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 26(2):261–266
- Vimont A, Vernozy-Rozand C, Delignette-Muller ML (2006) Isolation of *E. coli* O157:H7 and non-O157 STEC in different matrices: review of the most commonly used enrichment protocols. Lett Appl Microbiol 42(2):102–108
- Wang Q, Wang S, Beutin L, Cao B, Feng L, Wang L (2010) Development of a DNA microarray for detection and serotyping of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 48(6):2066– 2074
- Wang F, Jiang L, Ge B (2012) Loop-mediated isothermal amplification assays for detecting Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in ground beef and human stools. J Clin Microbiol 50(1):91–97
- Wang F, Yang Q, Kase JA, Meng J, Clotilde LM, Lin A, Ge B (2013) Current trends in detecting non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in food. Foodborne Pathog Dis 10(8):665–677
- Weagant SD, Bound AJ (2001) Evaluation of techniques for enrichment and isolation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from artificially contaminated sprouts. Int J Food Microbiol 71(1):87–92
- Werber D, Bielaszewska M, Frank C, Stark K, Karch H (2011) Watch out for the even eviler cousin-sorbitol-fermenting *E. coli* O157. Lancet 377(9762):298–299
- World Health Organisation (1998) Zoonotic non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing Escherichia coli (STEC). WHO Scientific Workshop Group Meeting, Berlin

- Wylie JL, Van Caeseele P, Gilmour MW, Sitter D, Guttek C, Giercke S (2013) Evaluation of a new chromogenic agar medium for detection of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (STEC) and relative prevalences of O157 and non-O157 STEC in Manitoba, Canada. J Clin Microbiol 51(2):466–471
- Yamazaki Y, Fukasawa A (2011) Multiplex polymerase chain reaction method discriminating *Escherichia coli* and *Shigella* sp. Arch Microbiol 193(2):83–87
- Yokoyama E, Uchimura M, Ito K (2010) Detection of enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli* by loopmediated isothermal amplification. J Food Prot 73(6):1064–1072
- Zadik PM, Chapman PA, Siddons, CA (1993) Use of tellurite for the selection of verocytotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* O157. J Med Microbiol 39:155–158

Chapter 3 Typing and Subtyping Methods for Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*

3.1 Introduction

It is important to establish relationships between different isolates of bacteria for identification of outbreaks, determining the source of outbreaks, establishing the transmission pathways of pathogens, gaining insights into the global distribution of pathogens, for understanding how such pathogens have evolved, and to aid in the treatment of diseases. Over the past few decades, many different typing methods have been established to aid in this understanding. Some of the earlier methods were based on phenotypic typing, including biochemical-based tests and serotyping, while more modern methods have been based on the genetic components of bacteria, including the presence, absence, or number of specific gene markers, variation within the sequence of specific genes through to variations in the whole genome of individual isolates (Li et al. 2009; Sabat et al. 2013; van Belkum et al. 2001).

Typing methods vary in their discriminatory power, reproducibility, ease of performance, ease of interpretation, and cost (van Belkum et al. 2001; Karama and Gyles 2010). The choice of the most appropriate method to use will depend on the purpose of typing, how reproducible it needs to be, resources required, the desired outcome, and the level of discrimination required. There are many advantages and disadvantages associated with different typing methods (Karama and Gyles 2010; Li et al. 2009; van Belkum et al. 2001) and there is no one single method that currently meets all the needs required of a typing method. The broad range of methods commonly used to type E. coli are listed in Table 3.1. The development of new typing methods is constantly occurring particularly in relation to the genetic-based typing methods. Whole genome sequencing (WGS) provides great potential for meeting all the requirements of typing although there is still a way to go in relation to the interpretation of genetic information, and the links between genotypes and phenotypes in relation to pathogenicity and resistance to antibiotics and other stresses (Li et al. 2009). Methods vary in their adoption around the globe, with some used internationally (i.e., pulsed field gel electrophoresis (PFGE)) and others specific to particular laboratories (repetitive element palindromic polymerase chain reaction (Rep-PCR)). The most commonly used methods for typing of pathogenic
Table 3.1Methods ctBelkum et al. 2001; St	ommonly used for i that et al. 2013)	the typing of path	ogenic <i>E. coli</i> . (A	vdapted fron	ם Hyytia-Trees et al	. 2007; Karama and Gyles 2010; Li	et al. 2009; van
Method	Reproducibility	Discriminatory power	Simplicity of the procedure	Data analysis	Availability of method	Application	Covered in this chapter
Phenotypic-based me	thods						
Biochemical profiling	Relatively good (particularly if using automated or commercial systems)	Poor	Excellent	Easy	Broadly available	Confirmation of isolates as <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i> for clinical, epidemiological and research purposes	Yes
Serotyping	Good	Variable	Good	Rela- tively easy	Variable—some commercial kits for specific sero- types but mostly requires special- ized laboratories	Mostly used in disease diagnosis and epidemiological investiga- tions. Applicable to the broad population of <i>E. coli</i>	Yes
Bacteriophage typing	Fair	Variable	Poor	Difficult	Variable	Used for subtyping of <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 isolates	Yes
Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis (MLEE)	Good	Good	Good	Excellent	Variable	Phylogenetic and evolutionary analyses of broad populations of <i>E. coli</i> isolates	Yes
Antibiotic suscepti- bility profiling	Good	Poor	Excellent	Easy	Broadly available	Used in management of clinical disease and for epidemiological investigations, applied to clinical isolates of <i>E. coli</i>	No, for further information see Woodford et al. (2011)
Genetic-based metho	ds						
Whole genome sequencing (WGS) and Single Nucleo- tide Polymorphism (SNP) analysis	Excellent	Excellent— ultimate discriminatory power	Good	Diffi- cult but improv- ing	Reasonable	Multiple applications to a broad range of <i>E. coli</i> —epidemiologi- cal typing, outbreak tracking, phylogenetic analysis, determin- ing presence of virulence factors	Yes

68

Table 3.1 (continued)							
Method	Reproducibility	Discriminatory power	Simplicity of the procedure	Data analysis	Availability of method	Application	Covered in this chapter
Pulsed field gel electrophoresis (PFGE)	Excellent	Excellent	Good	Good	Variable— requires special- ized equipment	Globally used for epidemio- logical studies (identifying out- breaks and determining sources of outbreaks), applicable to the broad population of E . coli	Yes
Multiple-locus variable number tandem repeat (MLVA)	Excellent	Very good	Good	Good	Broadly available	Used currently in epidemiological investigations of pathogenic <i>E. coli</i>	Yes
Multilocus sequence typing (MLST)	Excellent	Variable	Good	Fair	Reasonable	Phylogenetic and evolutionary analyses of broad populations of <i>E. coli</i> isolates	Yes
Repetitive element palindromic poly- merase chain reac- tion (Rep-PCR)	Low	Variable	Good	Variable	Broadly available	Mostly used for establishing relationships between different isolates of <i>E. coli</i> , applicable to the broad population of <i>E. coli</i>	Yes
Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD)	Low	Variable	Good	Variable	Broadly available	Mostly used for establishing relationships between different isolates of E . $coli$, applicable to the broad population of E . $coli$	Yes
Shiga toxin-encod- ing bacteriophage insertion (SBI)	Excellent	Fair	Good	Good	Reasonable availability	Understanding phylogenetic relationships among <i>E. coli</i> 0157:H7 but has applicability to other STEC	Yes
Lineage specific polymorphism analysis (LSPA-6)	Excellent	Fair	Good	Good	Reasonable availability	Understanding phylogenetic relationships and clinical significance of <i>E. coli</i> O157:H7	Yes

 Table 3.1 (continued)

Table 3.1 (continued)							
Method	Reproducibility	Discriminatory power	Simplicity of the procedure	Data analysis	Availability of method	Application	Covered in this chapter
Optical mapping	Excellent	Excellent	Reasonable	Difficult	Low—requires specialized equipment	Phylogenetic analysis of the broad population of $E. coli$	No, for further information see Kotewicz et al. (2007)
Ribotyping	Excellent	Good	Good	Good	Variable—com- mercial system available	Mostly used for source tracking of broad populations of $E. coli$ from different origins and identification of species	No, for further information see Schumann and Pukall (2013); Scott et al. (2003)
Amplified fragment length polymor- phism (AFLP)	Good	Good	Good	Fair	Low—requires very specialized equipment	Phylogenetic analysis of the broad population of <i>E. coli</i>	No, for further information see Hahm et al. (2003); Leung et al. (2004); Zhao et al. (2000)
Microarrays	Excellent	Excellent	Challenging	Difficult	Low	Phylogenetic analysis and deter- mining presence of virulence factors in a broad range of <i>E.</i> <i>coli</i>	No, for further information see Dharmadi and Gonzalez (2004) and Chap. 4
a Table adapted from I	Hyytia-Trees et al. ((2007); Karama ar	nd Gyles (2010);	Li et al. (20	09); van Belkum et	al. (2001); Sabat et al. (2013)	

70

E. coli and those which have provided the greatest improvement in our knowledge on their evolution have been covered in this chapter.

3.2 **Biochemical Profiling**

Biochemical profiling involves the reaction of a particular isolate to a range of biochemical tests which can include the fermentation of various carbon sources. The resulting metabolic fingerprint of the isolate can be analyzed by commercially available phenotypic arrays (e.g., Biolog Inc, Hayward, CA, USA) (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). Some studies have attempted to identify differences between Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* (STEC) serotypes/strains only to report a wide variation in the biochemical properties observed among STEC and no correlation to serogroup or other properties such as enterohaemolysin production and plasmid profile (Souza et al. 2010; Leclercq et al. 2001). However, biochemical profiling is becoming less frequently used as molecular assays can potentially provide more discriminatory information between STEC and other pathogenic *E. coli* pathotypes. The most appropriate application for biochemical profiling in studying pathogenic *E. coli* is to confirm an isolate is *E. coli*, as other enterobacteriaceae often share genetic markers that may be used to different pathotypes (Schmidt et al. 1993; Paton and Paton 1996; Fegan et al. 2006).

3.3 Serotyping

Serotyping is based on the fact that strains of the same species can differ in the antigenic determinants expressed on their cell surface, such as capsular polysaccharides, flagella, and fimbriae. The serotyping of E. coli continues to be the predominate approach by which pathogenic strains are differentiated, but classification of pathogenic strains is more commonly occurring through identification of unique virulence factors. The traditional Kauffman scheme of E. coli is based on the serotyping of the O (somatic), H (flagellar), and K (capsular) surface antigen profiles (Kaper et al. 2004). Over 700 antigenic types (serotypes) of E. coli are recognized based on O, H, and K antigens. Different O antigens each defining a serogroup are currently recognized, whereas a specific combination of O and H antigens defines the "serotype" of an isolate. Specific serogroups of *E. coli* can be associated with certain clinical syndromes but the serological antigens themselves do not confer virulence. Rather, the serotypes and serogroups serve as readily identifiable markers that may correlate with specific virulent clones (Nataro and Kaper 1998). The advantage of serotyping is that most strains are typeable and the method has good reproducibility. However, serotyping can have poor discriminatory power due to the large number of serotypes, cross-reaction of antigens, and untypeable nature of some strains. In addition to its limited sensitivity and specificity, serotyping is

tedious and expensive and is performed reliably only by a small number of reference laboratories. Thus, detection of pathogenic *E. coli* has focused increasingly on the identification of other characteristics, such as virulence markers (Nataro and Kaper 1998).

Kits for O serotyping and H serotyping for E. coli are commercially available. but some isolates may be non-motile, requiring supplementary motility tests in specific motility media. There are also latex agglutination kits commercially available for some serotypes, particularly for STEC serotypes (O26, O91, O103, O111, O121, O145 and O157) (Mathusa et al. 2010; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2006). These latex agglutination kits are composed of latex particles coated with antisera against an antigen for a particular serotype and are commonly used for screening colonies on selective media after recovery from foods (Catarame et al. 2003; Drysdale et al. 2004). Evaluation of the performance of selected latex kits available for E. coli O157:H7 showed a 100% correlation with reference antibodies (Sowers et al. 1996). False positives can arise if latex controls are not routinely used, or due to cross reactivity with some other non-E. coli strains. Full serotyping is usually performed by national reference laboratories (O'Sullivan et al. 2007). Molecular serotyping is also becoming more available as a rapid typing method. The continual development and implementation of molecular STEC serogrouping methods will soon eliminate the traditional serotyping techniques and will allow rapid serogrouping capability for STEC (Mingle et al. 2012).

3.4 Phage Typing

Phage typing is a method that employs individual stocks of whole bacteriophages (bacteriophages are viruses that are specific for bacteria only) applied to bacterial lawns as spots. Certain phages can be very specific and will only infect a few strains of two or more species of a particular genus. The procedure observes the reaction of bacterial strains (susceptibility or resistance) to various known strains of phages. Phage typing has been used as a subtyping method for E. coli O157:H7 but not for non-O157. Normally the susceptibility of each E. coli O157:H7 to be lysed against a panel of 16 phages is determined and the lytic patterns obtained usually allow typing into one of 82 possible types. Phage typing alone does not usually provide the level of discrimination required for epidemiological and outbreak investigations, as the number of different types identified routinely may not be sufficient to provide confident interpretation of results (O'Sullivan et al. 2007; Khakhria et al. 1990). Phage typing used in combination with other molecular typing techniques such as PFGE, has been found to provide optimal discrimination between E. coli O157:H7 (Pearce et al. 2009; Mora et al. 2004; Arthur et al. 2013) and has also been able to differentiate between strains of the same PFGE subtype (Preston et al. 2000). This method is normally performed by reference laboratories as it requires maintenance of biologically active phages.

3.5 Multilocus Enzyme Electrophoresis

Multilocus enzyme electrophoresis (MLEE) was developed for typing of bacterial isolates, and relies on the differential electrophoretic mobility of specific enzymes which are separated using horizontal starch-gels (Selander et al. 1986; Whittam et al. 1983). Enzymes are extracted from lysed bacterial cells and separated using gel electrophoresis. The gels were generally made of starch to enable easy cutting of the gel for staining of different enzymes, but polyacrylamide has also been used. The gels are generally stained with dyes specific for the enzymes to determine how far they have migrated through the gel. Enzymes produced from different alleles will have slightly different enzymes are referred to as electromorphs and represent different alleles of the same gene. Each electromorph is assigned a number and in combination with a range of different enzymes, enables distinctive profiles of bacterial isolates to be determined, which are referred to as electrophoretic types (ETs). This method measures multiple loci and provides data used for systematic, epidemiological, and genetic variation studies (Selander et al. 1986).

MLEE was applied to the characterization of a group of 72 E. coli isolates, which were from the standard E. coli collection of reference (ECOR) (Ochman and Selander 1984). The ECOR collection was analyzed using MLEE of 35 enzymes and grouped into 6 phylogentic groups designated A, B1, B2, C, D, and E (Selander et al. 1983). The phylogentic groups appeared to be associated with the source such that isolates from group B1 were from non-primate mammals (particularly herbivorous) while those in group B2 were primarily from human and primate sources. Further analysis also identified specific phenotypic properties (such as fermentation of sugars) that could be used to differentiate between the phylogentic groups (Selander et al. 1983). Few of the ECOR collection were from patients with diarrhea (most human isolates coming from patients with urinary tract infections) and the method has since been applied to large numbers of E. coli isolates from various sources including clinical, animal, and environmental isolates to determine relationships and understand the evolution of these organisms (Whittam et al. 1983). Application of this method to broad populations of E. coli from a variety of hosts and countries has determined that the genetic diversity of E. coli does not occur randomly, but is associated with the host organism and geographic origin (Souza et al. 1999).

The technique has been used to evaluate pathogenic *E. coli* associated with clinical disease, including providing evidence for the stepwise evolution of *E. coli* O157:H7 from its ancestor *E. coli* O55:H7 (Feng et al. 1998). Strains of different STEC serotypes were analyzed by MLEE and grouped into several different clusters. One group referred to as Enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC) 1, contained serotype O157:H7 and non-motile variants and the ancestor *E. coli* O55:H7, while a divergent group, EHEC 2, comprised serogroups including O26 and O111. Both EHEC 1 and EHEC 2 clusters contained isolates that carry *stx* and *eae* and have been associated with hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS). Two other clusters were also found, STEC 1 and STEC 2, which comprised strains belonging to multiple

serotypes which carried stx, but lack *eae* and their clinical significance was less obvious (Whittam 1998). MLEE analysis of E. coli O157:H7 isolates from Brazil and Argentina using 11 enzymes determined that the populations of these bacteria were generally highly related, although the earliest isolates from Brazil obtained in 1997, belonged to distinct ETs. The authors suggested that a lineage of Argentinean E. coli O157:H7 may have been introduced into the Brazilian cattle reservoir where it circulated and became established (Regua-Mangia et al. 2012). The application of MLEE to E. coli O111 using 20 different enzymes elucidated 16 ETs from 152 isolates representing three different countries (Campos et al. 1994). Certain ETs were found to contain isolates that shared common virulence properties, with the ET12 clone represented by O111 enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) isolates and the ET 8 clone representing EHEC. This highlights the importance of such methods in being able to resolve the virulence potential and evolution of at least certain serogroups of E. coli. Studies of E. coli using MLEE have been key to understanding evolutionary relationships within the species and have indicated that pathogenic E. coli have arisen many times, with any strain capable of becoming pathogenic through the acquisition of virulence factors (Pupo et al. 1997).

MLEE has mostly been replaced now by gene sequencing methods, particularly multilocus sequence typing (MLST). The major advantage of sequencing methods over those which rely on electrophoresis is that the former provide defined results while the latter rely on migration through a gel which may be difficult to reproduce accurately between different laboratories. Such variation in gel mobility between laboratories has limited the usefulness of MLEE as an internationally comparable typing system. Further investigation of the various phylogenetic groups of *E. coli* determined using MLEE (A, B1, B2, and D), has identified specific genetic markers that are predictive of strains belonging to each of the different groups. The development of PCR for these specific genetic markers has since replaced the use of MLEE for phylogenetic analysis of *E. coli* populations due to the simplicity and greater accessibility of PCR technology (Clermont et al. 2000, 2013).

3.6 Multilocus Sequence Typing

MLST was developed as a portable typing tool allowing comparison between many different laboratories (Maiden et al. 1998). MLST is based on MLEE, but unlike MLEE where the electrophoretic mobility of enzymes is determined, MLST relies on the sequencing of the genes associated with the enzymes. The genes of interest include multiple housekeeping genes that are constitutively expressed genes and are essential for the maintenance of cellular function. Such genes are under stabilizing selection to maintain metabolic function and evolve very slowly, providing a reliable measure of genetic relationships between bacterial isolates (Urwin and Maiden 2003). Each housekeeping gene or locus may consist of multiple alleles which can be differentiated based on gene sequence. Each different allele, whether it varies in sequence (one or multiple nucleotides) or in size, is assigned an arbitrary number.

The sequence type (ST) of each isolate is determined based on the combination of numbers representing each of the alleles present in that particular isolate. STs that contain many of the same alleles can then be further grouped into sequence type complexes (STC) or clonal complexes (CC) or clonal groups (CG) (Hauser et al. 2013). MLST was first described for typing of hypervirulent strains of *Neisseria meningitidis* (Maiden et al. 1998) but has since been applied to a range of different bacteria, including *E. coli*. The seven housekeeping genes most commonly used for MLST typing of *E. coli* include adenylate kinase (*adk*), fumarate hydratase (*fumC*), DNA gyrase (*gyrB*), isocitrate/isopropylmalate dehydrogenase (*icd*), malate dehydrogenase (*mdh*), adenylosuccinate dehydrogenase (*purA*), and ATP/GTP binding motif (*recA*) (Wirth et al. 2006). However, additional genes have also been used to analyze populations of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Foley et al. 2004; Liu et al. 2009).

MLST is reasonably laborious to perform but is highly reproducible and easilv standardized for comparison between different laboratories (Karama and Gyles 2010). Sequence-based typing methods such as MLST allow the analysis of bacterial isolates across the globe as the information provided is not ambiguous, is highly reproducible, and can be internationally standardized. MLST has been found to be less discriminating than other methods (such as PFGE) when differentiating within highly clonal populations of E. coli. This has been observed with STEC where serotype and ST were highly correlated, with all STEC from the same serotype generally belonging to the same ST. It should be noted that a single ST may be comprised of multiple serotypes (Abu-Ali et al. 2009; Noller et al. 2003; Foley et al. 2004; Hauser et al. 2013). MLST has therefore not been adopted as a typing method and has been used more widely for investigating mostly evolutionary relationships among broader groups of E. coli including the enteric pathogens (Karama and Gyles 2010). Interrogation of the relationships between pathogenic E. coli using MLST has indicated that acquisition of the same virulence factors over time has led to the parallel evolution of separate lineages of E. coli (Reid et al. 2000). MLST has been used to further refine the original model of E. coli O157:H7 evolution (developed using MLEE) (Feng et al. 1998) through the inclusion of additional variants of E. coli O157:H7 such as the sorbitol fermenting strains from Germany (Feng et al. 2007). Application of MLST to a range of different STEC serotypes determined that lateral gene transfer has played a significant role in the evolution of the different seropathotypes of STEC, which is also related to their differing pathogenic potential (Konczy et al. 2008; Ziebell et al. 2008b). MLST analysis of 117 STEC from a range of serotypes from both human and food sources demonstrated relationships between food and human STEC of the same serotype, reinforcing food as a vehicle for human infection by non-O157 STEC (Hauser et al. 2013). MLST has also been used to investigate the molecular evolution of EPEC strains and the results inferred that horizontal gene transfer of locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) and the EPEC adherence factor (EAF) plasmid has occurred independently on several occasions (Lacher et al. 2007). An analysis of 1019 ETEC from clinical sources using MLST also established that significant genetic exchange of genes encoding colonization factors and enterotoxins had occurred among the globally distributed lineages of this pathotype (Steinsland et al. 2010).

There are several websites dedicated to *E. coli* that have been developed for researchers to share MLST information (Qi et al. 2004), enabling the creation of large datasets which can be compared across different countries and used to follow the evolution of various *E. coli* populations. These websites include information on how to perform MLST, enable data to be entered online, and provide software for analysis of the data. The EcMLST website is specifically designed for the analysis of STEC and comprises a database including many different serotypes.

3.7 Pulsed-Field Gel Electrophoresis

PFGE is a commonly used technique for generating DNA profiles (DNA "fingerprints") from a range of microorganisms, including E. coli. PFGE is a highly effective subtyping tool for discriminating isolates at a subspecies level (e.g., strain) that is widely regarded as the gold standard for subtyping numerous foodborne bacteria (Ribot et al. 2006; Swaminathan et al. 2001). To perform PFGE, bacterial cells are suspended in agarose plugs and treated with cell lysis/proteinase K buffer to disrupt cell walls and inactivate endogenous nucleases such as DNases that can interfere with the process. PFGE plugs are washed multiple times to remove cellular debris after which highly purified intact genomic DNA is cleaved into large variably sized fragments (macrorestriction fragments) using a single, suitable restriction endonuclease (Tenover et al. 1995). Ideally an enzyme will be selected which sparingly cleaves intact genomic DNA to vield a limited number of large fragments (Tenover et al. 1995), typically ranging from 20 kb to > 1 Mb in size (Goering 2010). For E. coli O157:H7 and non-O157 serotypes, restriction enzymes XbaI and BlnI are commonly used to generate adequate fragment sizes (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2013b; Ribot et al. 2006). Fragments are then separated by gel electrophoresis. By alternating the current applied to PFGE gels, much greater separation of large DNA fragments (>20 kb) can be achieved over conventional techniques that employ static currents. Gels are fluorescently stained and fragments are visualized as a series of bands under ultraviolet light that represent different molecular weight fragments of DNA (Fig. 3.1).

DNA fragments form banding patterns, also referred to as restriction/PFGE patterns or profiles that can be used as a fingerprint to isolate comparisons. In some instances, a single endonuclease may fail to provide adequate discrimination between epidemiologically unrelated isolates. To overcome this, washed plugs can be treated with secondary or tertiary restriction endonucleases to provide additional discriminatory PFGE patterns. Using suitable gel imaging software, PFGE bands can be selected (shown as red dots in Fig. 3.2) and normalized against a size standard such as *Salmonella* ser. Braenderup H9812. Restriction digestion of H9812 with XbaI generates fragments ranging from 20.5 to 1135 kb, which cover the fragment ranges observed for the majority of foodborne pathogens tracked by PulseNet (Hunter et al. 2005). For this reason, strain H9812 is universally used as a size standard in PFGE PulseNet protocols for a range of foodborne pathogens (Hunter et al. 2005). Fig. 3.1 Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis profiles of 20 *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates. The agarose gel was stained with ethidium bromide, destained in water and visualized under ultraviolet light using a transilluminator. *Salmonella* Braenderup was used as a DNA marker in lanes 1, 6, 11, 16, 21, and 26



Fig. 3.2 Bionumerics 6.5 (Applied Maths) output of the pulsed-field gel electrophoresis gel shown in Fig. 3.1. *Red dots* represent bands that have been selected using Bionumerics gel analysis software

-	-		-	-	
-	-	-		-	-
			-		-
	A 100			- in m-	
		-			
		-			
other party other the		調査・調	※ 読 読 ― 読		8. ph ==
THE OWNER ADDRESS OF					the same state many same
	-				
-	Children Di	a contra contra antes contra a	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	state other sales	other solar new
				the sky sky who	
			the last state when when	the stands	a series and the
~ 市市市市		「書きる」	市時をする	the set of and	
****		****	1:2 2 2 3	1.4	-
×			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

Once PFGE patterns have been normalized, a cluster analysis with defined similarity coefficients is generally used to produce a tree-like diagram (dendrogram) to illustrate genetic similarities between isolates (Fig. 3.3).

PFGE is most commonly used in molecular epidemiology studies though it has, among other things, been used in phylogenetic investigations (Maatallah et al. 2013; Hall and Barlow 2006) and microbial source tracking through a variety of animal and food production systems (Fegan et al. 2009; Arthur et al. 2008). PFGE has been used to characterize STEC belonging to E. coli O157:H7 (Bohm and Karch 1992) and non-O157 (Eklund et al. 2001) serotypes as well other pathotypes such as Enteroaggregative E. coli (EAEC), EPEC, Enterotoxigenic E. coli (ETEC), and Enteroinvasive E. coli (EIEC) (Hien et al. 2008; Shabana et al. 2013). In the mid-1990s, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the Association of Public Health Laboratories recognized the value of creating a national laboratory network for the surveillance and investigation of foodborne outbreaks using PFGE (Stephenson 1997; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2013a). These organizations jointly developed a national network termed PulseNet USA to provide a depository for US state health departments and other national laboratories to submit PFGE profiles of foodborne pathogens (Stephenson 1997; Swaminathan et al. 2001). This was followed by the inception of an international network (PulseNet



Fig. 3.3 Dendrogram of pulsed-field gel electrophoresis bands shown in Fig. 3.1 using Bionumerics 6.5 software. Pairwise cluster analysis was calculated using Unweighted Pair Group Method with Arithmetic Mean (UPGMA) with a dice coefficient. Band matching tolerance and optimization were both set at 1.5%. A cut-off value of 90% was used to define PFGE groups and branches were *colored* to represent the different groups

International) for the global surveillance of foodborne pathogens (Swaminathan et al. 2006; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014b) that is presently used by 84 countries spanning seven nations (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2012). PFGE is now widely accepted as the best choice for epidemiological surveillance and outbreak investigations of a broad range of pathogens, and as of 2006, the PulseNet database contained over 25,000 PFGE profiles of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Gerner-Smidt et al. 2006).

The extensive collection of PFGE fingerprints available in PulseNet provides a basis for comparing strains from past, present, and future outbreak investigations. The information can be used to identify strains that are frequently associated with beef, cattle, or human disease (Arthur et al. 2013; Lanier et al. 2009), determine the emergence of new clinically important subtypes, or associate an outbreak with a particular vehicle or vector (Wendel et al. 2009). While PFGE has been a critical investigative tool in understanding the molecular epidemiology of foodborne bacterial outbreaks, interpretation of results is confounded by the fact that isolates can undergo genetic alterations throughout the course of an outbreak leading to genetic variants. To overcome this obstacle, a number of criteria are typically used to interpret patterns and assign isolates into categories based on the degree of difference observed between restriction patterns (Tenover et al. 1995). As a result, isolates can be deemed to be epidemiologically related even if they do not share 100% identity with the original outbreak strain.

Despite its popularity, PFGE is technically demanding, time-consuming, and labor-intensive, and analysis and interpretation of restriction patterns can be subjective. To overcome some of the limitations associated with PFGE, the CDC developed a standardized protocol for subtyping of *E. coli* O157:H7 in 1996 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1996). They later released standardized protocols for a range of other foodborne pathogens including non-O157 STEC serotypes (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2013a). These protocols are continually being refined and serve to improve efficiency and facilitate inter-laboratory consistency, reliability, and reproducibility of PFGE methods. Despite this, when compared to common sequence-based methods of typing, PFGE was scored high in discriminatory power, medium in robustness (simplicity/reproducibility of the protocol) but low in portability (repeatability across laboratories), objectivity, and throughput (Hyytia-Trees et al. 2007).

3.8 Multiple-Locus Variable Number Tandem Repeat Analysis

Multiple-locus variable-number tandem repeats analysis (MLVA) is an increasingly popular method of molecularly subtyping bacterial foodborne pathogens. In comparison to other *E. coli* subtyping methods, MLVA is a relatively new technology that is made possible by recent advances in WGS. The technique targets a small number of loci within a bacterial genome that exhibit a broad range of variable number tandem repeats (VNTR). VNTR loci are initially selected by interrogating whole genome sequences for short tandem nucleotide repeats using a specialized software package. Numerous tandem repeats exist within the *E. coli* genome that can be selected for MLVA analysis. A study performed by Keys et al. (2005) detected greater than 20,000 perfect tandem repeats (>8 bp) in each of the whole genome sequences of *E. coli* strains EDL933, K-12, and Sakai. However, only a small number of satisfactory VNTRs are typically selected for MLVA subtyping. When



Fig. 3.4 Illustration of eight hypothetical variable number tandem repeat loci carried within the genome of two different bacterial isolates. The MLVA code for each isolate represents a concatenated numeric string of repeat sequences present at each locus and can be used to discriminate isolate A from isolate B

selecting VNTR loci, it is important to consider, among other things, the stability of the locus (Noller et al. 2006), the size of the repeat units (van Belkum et al. 1998; Nadon et al. 2013), the level of conserved sequence in the flanking regions (Nadon et al. 2013), and the location of the VNTR with respect to noncoding or coding sequence (Karama and Gyles 2010). Suitable VNTR loci have been proposed for both *E. coli* O157:H7 (Hyytia-Trees et al. 2006) and other *E. coli* pathotypes including EPEC, non-O157 STEC, EAEC, ETEC, and EIEC (Lobersli et al. 2012; Lindstedt et al. 2007).

PulseNet, which was originally set up for the analysis and sharing of PFGE data, has also established protocols for the analysis of VNTR loci. The current PulseNet protocol for E. coli O157:H7 is able to achieve a high level of discrimination using eight VNTR loci (Hvytia-Trees et al. 2010). The protocol is performed by amplifying each VNTR using a multiplex PCR with fluorescently labeled primers located in the conserved sequences flanking VNTR loci. The size of each PCR amplicon is determined using high-resolution capillary electrophoresis and the copy number is typically calculated by subtracting the size of both flanking regions from the total amplicon size and dividing by the size of the tandem repeat. The number of VNTRs present at each locus can then be used to generate a concatenated numeric string or MLVA code (Fig. 3.4). MLVA data can be analyzed as categorical values where each different copy number represents a different allele, or as quantitative values that take into account the relatedness of isolates based on the degree of difference between copy numbers (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014d). As with PFGE, a cluster analysis can be used to generate networks (Fig. 3.5) for investigating the relationship between isolates within a bacterial population.

MLVA is appealing to epidemiologists because it offers a high-throughput, highresolution genotyping method that can be used to rapidly identify the source of an outbreak strain (Kawamori et al. 2008) and thus quickly contain the spread of an



Fig. 3.5 A minimum spanning tree of *E. coli* O157:H7 isolates generated using Bionumerics 6.5 software. Each *node* represents a different MLVA profile. The *branches* represent the number of allele differences between nodes, with *thick solid lines* representing 1 allele difference, *thin solid lines* representing two allele differences, *dashed lines* representing 3 allele differences and *dotted lines* representing four or more allele differences. The number of isolates in each *node* is indicated by size and color with *small blue nodes* representing 1 isolate, *medium light purple nodes* up to 5 isolates and *large maroon nodes* up to 10 isolates. *Nodes* are *shaded* if they differ by no more than 1 loci

outbreak. MLVA scored higher than PFGE in four out of five criteria used to assess the performance of these methods (robustness, portability, objectivity, and throughput) but was regarded as having similar discriminatory power to PFGE (Hyytia-Trees et al. 2007). In addition, MLVA is the only major subtyping technique, other than PFGE, to be used by the PulseNet network for the surveillance of *E. coli* O157. According to PulseNet USA, this technique is currently used in conjunction with PFGE to discriminate bacterial outbreak strains that possess similar PFGE profiles (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014c). Lobersli et al. (Lobersli et al. 2012) suggest that MLVA may eventually contend with PFGE as the future method of choice for the generic genotyping of *E. coli*. MLVA has also been shown to be an effective method of typing a number of diarrheagenic *E. coli* isolates that were shown to be untypeable by PFGE due to DNA degradation (Lindstedt et al. 2007). However, the lack of standardized protocols for a range of common foodborne pathogens will likely impede the widespread adoption of MLVA as a standalone alternative to PFGE.

At present, E. coli O157:H7 is the only foodborne pathogen for which a standardized PulseNet protocol is currently available (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014a) and intrinsic limitations associated with MLVA continue to hinder the development of standardized protocols for other bacterial pathogens. As VNTR cannot be universally applied to all bacterial species, a different set of VNTR loci need to be identified and validated for each new foodborne pathogen targeted. Furthermore, consensus on which VNTRs should be used in a standardized protocol must be reached by the scientific community for widespread adoption of protocols. At present, the number of repeats present in each VNTR is estimated from the size of the amplicon and the nucleotide repeat. Since the size of a VNTR can be affected by genetic mutations unrelated to tandem repeats, the size of each VNTR may not always be proportional to the number of tandem repeats, and the unequivocal demonstration of a repeat copy number can only be achieved by sequencing each amplicon. The comparison of data between laboratories is also confounded by factors such as the use of different PCR reagents, fluorescent labels, thermocyclers, and capillary electrophoresis platforms, each of which can impact the quality and reproducibility of MLVA data. Despite this, a recent multilaboratory validation of a PulseNet STEC O157 MLVA protocol suggests that the challenges currently facing laboratories can be overcome by strict adherence to protocols, training, and implementation of quality control measures (Hyytia-Trees et al. 2010).

3.9 Repetitive Element Palindromic Polymerase Chain Reaction

In the early 1980s, it was reported that the genomes of *E. coli* and *Salmonella* spp. contained short repetitive sequences (usually around 30-35 bp) interspersed throughout the genome. These sequences were referred to as repetitive extragenic palindromic (REP) sequences and were estimated to account for around 1% of the total genome with more than 500 copies present (Stern et al. 1984). Additional repetitive elements were discovered in the genomes of enterobacteria including the enterobacterial repetitive intergenic consensus (ERIC) sequences. The chromosomal locations of ERIC sequences differ between bacterial species although the nucleotide sequence is highly conserved. ERIC sequences are 126 bp long and there are at least 30 copies in the genome of *E. coli* (Hulton et al. 1991). REP and ERIC sequences are used as primer binding sites for PCR amplification of DNA segments

that fall between the repetitive sequences. The amplification products range in size depending on the distance between primer binding sites, which in turn is dependent on the bacterial strain. Electrophoresis of the PCR products produces distinct banding patterns which can then be compared to determine the relationships between different bacterial strains (Versalovic et al. 1991; Versalovic et al. 1998). The process of typing bacteria using Rep-PCR involves the extraction of DNA from the target strain, followed by PCR amplification using primers targeting the repetitive sequences, then separation of the amplified products using gel electrophoresis (Hiett and Seal 2009; Versalovic et al. 1998).

The requirement to amplify targets using PCR and separate bands with gel electrophoresis has meant that Rep-PCR is often difficult to reproduce from day to day, making it difficult to perform comparisons between bacterial strains and also between different laboratories (Johnson and O'Bryan 2000). The automation and commercialization of equipment for conducting and interpreting Rep-PCR has facilitated the typing of bacteria within clinical settings and led to improvements in the reproducibility and interpretation of this technique (Healy et al. 2005).

The application of techniques such as ERIC PCR to differentiate between diarrheagenic *E. coli* was originally reported to align with the findings of MLEE typing (Dalla-Costa et al. 1998), although more recent investigations of a larger number of *E. coli* would suggest that Rep-PCR techniques are not a suitable replacement for MLEE in phylogenetic analysis of pathogenic *E. coli* (Johnson and O'Bryan 2000). Although differentiation of a single clonal type, such as *E. coli* O157:H7 from other serotypes of *E. coli*, has been possible by Rep-PCR methods, the *E. coli* O157:H7 isolates produce very similar patterns which differ from other *E. coli* (Hahm et al. 2003). More discriminatory techniques such as PFGE are better suited to differentiation within a single serotype of *E. coli* (Foley et al. 2004; Hahm et al. 2003).

3.10 Random Amplified Polymorphic DNA

Many PCR-based typing techniques require prior knowledge of the target DNA sequence to enable primer design. The use of arbitrary primers which are not directed to any particular sequence and anneal at random sites throughout the genome overcame this need for sequence information. The amplification of random segments of DNA, referred to as random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers (Williams et al. 1990), using arbitrary primers was found to reproducibly amplify segments of DNA in a process referred to as Arbitrarily Primed PCR (AP-PCR; (Welsh and McClelland 1990). This type of PCR is performed using a single primer under low stringency conditions, initially to encourage primer annealing to a variety of sequences with some mismatches occurring. Amplification from the annealing sites will occur when the primer binding sites are within several hundred base pairs of each other and on opposite strands of DNA. The initial low stringency conditions (using annealing temperatures around 40 °C) lead to amplification of sequences between sites where annealing occurs most efficiently, whereas increasing

the stringency of the PCR in later cycles (temperatures around 70 °C) results in more efficient amplification (Welsh and McClelland 1990). AP-PCR or RAPD typing methods result in a series of amplified products of varying sizes based on the number, proximity, and location of primer binding sites within the genome, which can vary between isolates. Agarose gel electrophoresis can be used to separate the bands and generate fingerprinting patterns (Power 1996).

The advantages of RAPD PCR typing over other methods include its speed, ease of use, simplicity, application to a wide variety of microorganisms, and the fact that it is relatively inexpensive to perform (Power 1996; Sabat et al. 2013). There are many factors which can influence the results of RAPD typing methods, including: reaction conditions (such as annealing temperatures); the selection, design and concentration of primer; quality and concentration of template DNA; the type of DNA polymerase used, and the thermal cycler used (Power 1996; Caetanoanolles et al. 1992). All of these variables can lead to difficulties in obtaining reproducible results, particularly between different laboratories. This has been one of the main disadvantages of this method in becoming widely established as an epidemiological typing tool. Standardization of reaction conditions, DNA preparation, and use of the same polymerase can reduce within laboratory reproducibility, but will not reduce this issue between laboratories. The method has therefore been most successfully applied in understanding the epidemiology of local outbreaks under investigation by a single laboratory (Power 1996).

The RAPD fingerprinting technique was used mostly throughout the 1990s and 2000s to further our understanding of pathogenic E. coli, although in recent times it has been replaced with more sensitive and reproducible methods such as PFGE, MLST, and MLVA. When applied to a wide variety of diarrheagenic E. coli, RAPD PCR was found to be more sensitive at discriminating between isolates than MLEE, with RAPD using 5 primers distinguishing 74 of the 75 isolates and MLEE using 20 enzymes resulting in 15 groups (Wang et al. 1993). An analysis of 73 pathogenic E. coli, including typical and atypical EPEC, EHEC, and EAEC using RAPD established two major clusters, one containing only typical EPEC which appeared to be rather homogenous while the other cluster was more heterogeneous, containing representatives of all pathotypes (Bando et al. 2007). Analysis of typical and atypical EPEC isolates from Brazil using RAPD fingerprinting were suggestive of typical and atypical EPEC belonging to distinct bacterial lineages (Dulguer et al. 2003). RAPD PCR typing has also been used to discriminate within pathotypes of E. coli, including investigating the diversity of several serotypes of clinical isolates of ETEC and EAEC (Pacheco et al. 1997; Moon et al. 2005) along with providing an understanding of the diversity within a single serotype (O6:H16) of Enterotoxigenic E. coli (Pacheco et al. 1998). The genetic diversity of E. coli O157:H7 in Canadian feedlots as determined by RAPD was quite variable, with some feedlots having a low genetic diversity of indigenous E. coli O157:H7 populations, while others had a broader variety of genetic types present (Vidovic and Korber 2006). The authors suggested that those feedlots with a broad genetic diversity of E. coli O157:H7 populations were likely to receive these through introduction by new cattle entering the feedlot.

3.11 Shiga Toxin Subtypes and Bacteriophage Insertion Sites

Numerous serotypes of *E. coli* have been shown to carry genes essential for the production of potent human cytotoxins known as Shiga toxins (Stx) or less commonly Verotoxins (Vtx) (Blanco et al. 2004; Karch et al. 1999). These toxins are generally encoded on genes carried by viruses (bacteriophages) that can infect and replicate within a range of bacterial species (Herold et al. 2004; Schmidt et al. 1993). While this event often leads to cell destruction, in some cases Stx-encoding bacteriophages (Stx bacteriophages) are able to integrate their viral genome with the bacterial chromosome without causing harm to the host cell. The newly integrated Stx-bacteriophage genomes are subsequently termed Stx-prophages while *E. coli* species that have undergone this transformation are commonly referred to as Shiga toxigenic *E. coli* or STEC.

Shiga toxigenic E. coli may carry stx genes for one or both of the main Shiga toxin branches, Stx1 and Stx2. These branches can be further divided into a number Stx subtypes based on amino acid variations (Scheutz et al. 2012). A variety of molecular methods have been developed for the detection of stx_1 , stx_2 (Paton and Paton 1998; Gannon et al. 1992) and their respective subtypes (Scheutz et al. 2012). While the main focus of this work has centered on understanding stx types (stx_1 , stx_{2a} , and stx_{2c}) commonly associated with the prototype STEC, E. coli O157, there is a growing interest in understanding the diversity of stx types carried by non-O157 STEC serotypes and other E. coli pathotypes. However, the lack of standardized protocols for the detection and nomenclature of all stx subtypes has led to confusion in the characterization of isolates and interpretation of published results. In an effort to resolve this, Scheutz et al. (2012) established a standardized protocol for detecting three stx_1 subtypes (stx_{1a} , stx_{1c} , and stx_{1d}) and eight stx_2 variants (stx_{2a}) stx_{2b} , stx_{2c} , stx_{2d} , stx_{2e} , stx_{2p} and stx_{2p}). This assay has been validated in an external quality assurance program involving numerous laboratories throughout the globe and has since led to the development of a commercially available stx_1 and stx_2 subtyping PCR kit (Statens Serum Institut 2014). Adoption of this typing scheme by the scientific community will help to overcome some of the shortcomings of previous systems by improving accuracy in detection and reporting of future results.

The investigation of Shiga toxin-encoding bacteriophage insertion (SBI) sites, usually in combination with *stx* subtyping, has also been used to characterize *E. coli* isolates (Shringi et al. 2012a; Mellor et al. 2013). While Stx-prophages may be integrated at any one of a number of different loci (Steyert et al. 2012; Ogura et al. 2007), SBI sites are fairly conserved in *E. coli* O157:H7 with phage integration typically limited to one of four loci (*wrbA*, *yehV*, *argW* and *sbcB*) (Shringi et al. 2012b). A multiplex SBI typing system has been used in characterization studies investigating *E. coli* O157:H7 isolated from animals and humans and in geographic studies to investigate the distribution of subtypes in isolates sourced from different countries (Mellor et al. 2013; Shringi et al. 2012a). SBI typing systems have been used to identify a unique *stx* insertion site for *stx*₁ in Australian isolates that has

been useful in distinguishing Australian isolates from international *E. coli* O157:H7 (Mellor et al. 2012). Specific *stx* subtypes have also been correlated with lineages and virulence clades of *E. coli* O157:H7 (Eppinger et al. 2011b; Zhang et al. 2010; Mellor et al. 2012; Manning et al. 2008) that are differentially associated with disease in humans. To date, *stx* subtyping and SBI analysis has largely focused on *E. coli* O157:H7 and little is known about the distribution of *stx* subtypes and bacteriophage integration sites for non-O157 *E. coli* serotypes. As more focus is placed on understanding non-O157 *E. coli*, similar typing schemes will likely be developed and applied more broadly to cover a number of other clinically relevant *E. coli* serotypes.

Molecular screening for the two main classes of stx (stx_1 and stx_2) may be limited by the primers used, as not all stx subtypes may be captured by universal primers (Feng et al. 2011). The majority of stx-prophage associated with *E. coli* O157:H7 integrate in highly specific locations depending on the stx subtype they encode. Due to the difficulties in demonstrating the linkage between stx genes and their respective prophage integration, few studies bother to unequivocally link the stx gene with prophage, but rather assume that the presence of the stx is associated with a particular phage and integration site. This may present a limitation to the development of SBI genotyping systems for non-O157 *E. coli* and other *E. coli* pathotypes, where the integration sites of stx-prophage have the potential to be more varied and less specific than *E. coli* O157. However, current and future advancements in protocols for linking stx subtypes with prophage integration sites will likely result in substantial improvements to our ability to accurately characterize SBI sites of all *E. coli* pathotypes.

3.12 Lineage Specific Polymorphism Analysis

The lineage specific polymorphism analysis (LSPA-6) is a system that was developed to differentiate between isolates of E. coli O157. Like MLST, it relies on the occurrence of variably sized allele combinations in different isolates, but unlike MLST does not focus purely on housekeeping genes and has targeted E. coli O157:H7 specific genes. The method evolved from octamer-based genome scanning (OBGS) which was applied in the late 1990s to determine genetic relationships between isolates of E. coli O157:H7 from cattle and human sources (Kim et al. 1999). OBGS analysis of E. coli O157:H7 populations divided isolates into two groups, one that consisted mostly of human isolates called lineage I, and the other which comprised only isolates from cattle, termed lineage II (Kim et al. 2001). The original OBGS method was applied to a small strain set of 54 E. coli O157:H7 isolates as the method was complex to perform and required skilled data analysis. Another method was developed to simplify the differentiation of E. coli O157:H7 into the two lineages. This method was called the lineage specific polymorphism assay (LSPA-6) (Yang et al. 2004). The LSPA-6 targeted six different genetic markers that were previously found to differentiate between lineages I and II, hence the

Allele	folD-sfmA	Z5935	yhcG	rtcB	rbsB	arp-iclR
Lineage I	161	133	394	270	218	315
Designation	1	1	1	1	1	1
Lineage I/II	170	133	394	270	218	315
Designation	2	1	1	1	1	1
Lineage II ^a	170	142	472	279	209 or 214	333 or 324
Designation	2	2	2	2	2 or 3	2 or 3

Table 3.2 Alleles sizes (bp) and gene designations used in the LSPA-6 typing scheme. (Adaptedfrom Yang et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2007)

^a As new allele sizes have been discovered, additional designations have been determined although there has been no consistency between different publications. Lineage II is quite variable and generally comprises isolates that do not fit the designations of lineage I (11111) and lineage I/II (21111)

name LSPA-6. The presence of different markers was determined using multiplex PCR which allowed testing of all six markers simultaneously. The PCR products generated by the LSPA-6 could not be separated using standard agarose gel electrophoresis due to their similar sizes which originally limited the use of LSPA-6 by many laboratories, as denaturing polyacrylamide gels were required to differentiate between the LSPA-6 products. Capillary electrophoresis is now commonly used to differentiate the products of the LSPA-6 PCR reactions. The LSPA-6 method was able to differentiate *E. coli* O157:H7 into the two lineages with much less effort than the original OBGS method (Yang et al. 2004).

The alleles used for the LSPA-6 typing scheme include *folD-sfmA*, *Z5935*, *yhcG*, *rtcB*, *rbsB*, and *arp-iclR*. Each different allele is given a number depending on its size and each isolate is then represented by a code (similar to other typing methods such as MLST). Isolates with the LSPA-6 designation of 111111 are referred to as lineage I, and those with the LSPA-6 designation of 222222 as lineage II (Yang et al. 2004). Further scrutiny of *E. coli* O157:H7 genomes using comparative genomic hybridization (CGH) built on the work of Yang et al. (2004) and Kim et al. (1999, 2001) by grouping the LSPA-6 subtypes into three different lineages (Zhang et al. 2007) which included the lineage I and II groupings, as well as an additional lineage referred to as lineage I/II. These lineage I/II strains were closely related to the lineage I strains and belonged to one LSPA-6 subtype (211111) and phage type 2 (PT2) (Zhang et al. 2007). The alleles used in LSPA-6 typing are listed in Table 3.2. As more isolates have been typed using LSPA-6, variability in allele sizes have occurred leading to designations other than those that fit strictly within the lineage I, I/II, and II designations (111111, 211111, and 222222 respectively).

The LSPA-6 assay has been used to analyze populations of *E. coli* O157:H7 from a diverse array of countries including Canada, the USA, Australia, Argentina, Japan, and the Netherlands (Franz et al. 2012; Lee et al. 2011; Mellor et al. 2012, 2013; Sharma et al. 2009; Vidovic et al. 2013; Ziebell et al. 2008a). This has led to some interesting observations around geographic diversity of *E. coli* O157:H7 populations and confirmation of the association of clinical isolates with





Fig. 3.6 Geographic distribution of LSPA-6 lineages of *E. coli* O157:H7 from cattle (*top*) and human (*bottom*) sources. (Adapted from Franz et al. 2012; Lee et al. 2011; Mellor et al. 2012, 2013; Sharma et al. 2009; Vidovic et al. 2013; Yokoyama et al. 2011; Ziebell et al. 2008a)

LSPA-6 lineages I and I/II and cattle isolates with lineage II, though the distribution of these LSPA-6 lineages between cattle and clinical sources varies between countries (Fig. 3.6). Even within countries, geographical differences in the distribution of *E. coli* O157:H7 LSPA-6 lineages may occur, as isolates of LSPA-6 lineage I were significantly more likely to come from cattle in southern Alberta (92% of all strains of southern Alberta) than from northern Alberta (28% of all strains from northern Alberta) (Sharma et al. 2009). The grouping of *E. coli* O157:H7 isolates into LSPA-6 subtypes has led to suggestions that lineage I isolates, which are those most likely to be associated with human illness, are more resistant to stresses such as heat and starvation, than those *E. coli* O157:H7 from lineage II which are less often associated with human illness (Lee et al. 2012). There are also associations of LSPA-6 lineages and other typing methods such as SNP analysis, SBI, and *stx* subtypes, along with the presence or absence of specific gene markers (Wu et al. 2008; Mellor et al. 2012, 2013; Yokoyama et al. 2011; Stanton et al. 2014). Such information provides insights into why there might be a bias for certain types of *E. coli* O157:H7 to be associated with clinical cases and severe disease. LSPA-6 typing has been a useful method for understanding broader relationships between isolates of *E. coli* O157:H7 as discussed above (such as on a global scale and differentiation of isolates between clinical and cattle sources), but as it differentiates isolates at a high level, it does not provide detailed analysis for epidemiological comparisons.

3.13 Whole Genome Sequencing

WGS refers to the ability to accurately compile an ordered sequence of the complete genetic complement of any single organism. The relatively small size of microbial genomes, coupled with dramatic advances in sequencing technologies, now support the widespread application of genome data in microbiology. In particular, WGS is transforming the field of comparative microbial genetic typing through its ability to supersede, but also include, information provided by earlier molecular genetic typing methods such as PFGE, MLST, MLVA, and RAPD.

The WGS revolution is underpinned by the development of next generation sequencing (NGS) technologies, such as pyrosequencing and massively parallel systems (Mardis 2011; Metzker 2010), which replaced the conventional electrophoretic separation of dideoxy terminated DNA fragments used in Sanger sequencing (Sanger et al. 1977). NGS relies on the isolation of DNA templates from an isolate or mixed sample, followed by sequencing and reaction data acquisition, then data analysis (Metzker 2010). There are various types of commercially available sequencing chemistries, including synthesis with reversible or virtual terminators using DNA polymerase dependent methods, sequencing by ligation, semiconductor sequencing, single molecule real time analysis or ionic current sensing (Bertelli and Greub 2013; Metzker 2010). Each of these different chemistries produces reads within a range that is dependent on the type of chemistry used, ranging from very short reads (36–100 bp) to longer reads (250–10,000 bp) (Bertelli and Greub 2013).

NGS technologies generate millions of nucleotide sequence reads at comparatively low cost allowing high throughput in time frames ranging from less than a day to just over a week (Metzker 2010; Sabat et al. 2013). The WGS can then be compiled through assembly of the overlapping short sequences (*de novo* assembly) or alignment with previously assembled "reference" genome/s (resequencing) (Sabat et al. 2013). A limitation of these short read sequencing strategies is their dependence on overlapping sequences for genome assembly; when *bona fide* repeat regions occur, it is not possible to resolve their position in the genome. Newer sequencing platforms, producing read lengths of 7–10 kb, are now emerging and improving *de novo* assembly (Sabat et al. 2013). Currently, WGS continues to require substantial computer resources and specialist bioinformaticians for the compilation of truly complete (or "closed") genomes. While closed genomes may in time become the new gold standard for bacterial typing (replacing PFGE), unassembled WGS data in various forms has already become extremely useful for several comparative genomic typing methodologies.

Extended MLST (eMLST) has been proposed as a method for the sequencebased comparison of "core" genomes (all genes present in all isolates of a species or pathotype). Alternatively, "pan-genome" comparison uses the full complement of genes present in a species or pathotype, including the "core" genome, as well as accessory genes contributing to the distinct features of different pathotypes (Sabat et al. 2013). Genomic typing of this order is proving to be particularly suited for comparison of the numerous *E. coli* pathotypes (Rasko et al. 2011; Kaas et al. 2012; Gordienko et al. 2013).

Several Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) typing schemes have been developed for analysis of *E. coli* O157. Through the discovery of SNPs in more variable regions of the genome, it has been possible to discriminate separate lineages of this clonal organism (Eppinger et al. 2011a, b; Manning et al. 2008; Bono et al. 2012). Further, *E. coli* O157:H7 SNP-typing correlates with data showing the nonrandom distribution of lineages, clades, Shiga toxin (Stx)-subtypes, and geographical origin among bovine and clinical isolates (Franz et al. 2012; Mellor et al. 2012, 2013). WGS promises to deliver high-resolution genomic epidemiology as the ultimate method for bacterial typing. However, as with all emergent technology platforms, iterative cycles of innovation and refinement will be necessary to achieve globally acceptable standardized protocols that facilitate efficient and routine *E. coli* pathotype strain comparison.

References

- Abu-Ali G, Lacher D, Wick L, Qi W, Whittam T (2009) Genomic diversity of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* of the EHEC 2 clonal complex. BMC Genomics 10:296. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-10-296
- Arthur TM, Bosilevac JM, Brichta-Harhay DM, Kalchayanand N, King DA, Shackelford SD, Wheeler TL, Koohmaraie M (2008) Source tracking of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* contamination in the lairage environment at commercial US beef processing plants and identification of an effective intervention. J Food Prot 71(9):1752–1760
- Arthur TM, Ahmed R, Chase-Topping M, Kalchayanand N, Schmidt JW, Bono JL (2013) Characterization of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains isolated from supershedding cattle. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(14):4294–4303. doi:10.1128/AEM.00846-13
- Bando SY, Trabulsi LR, Moreira-Filho CA (2007) Genetic relationship of diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* pathotypes among the enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* O serogroup. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 102(2):169–174. doi:10.1590/s0074-02762007005000018

- Bertelli C, Greub G (2013) Rapid bacterial genome sequencing: methods and applications in clinical microbiology. Clin Microbiol Infect 19(9):803–813. doi:10.1111/1469-0691.12217
- Blanco A, Blanco JE, Mora A, Dahbi G, Alonso AP, Gonzalez EA, Bernardez MI, Blanco J (2004) Serotypes, virulence genes, and intimin types of Shiga toxin (verotoxin)-producing *Escherichia coli* isolates from cattle in Spain and identification of a new intimin variant gene (eae-xi). J Clin Microbiol 42(2):645–651. doi:10.1128/JCM.42.2.645-651.2004
- Bohm H, Karch H (1992) DNA fingerprinting of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. J Clin Microbiol 30(8):2169–2172
- Bono JL, Smith TPL, Keen JE, Harhay GP, McDaneld TG, Mandrell RE, Jung WK, Besser TE, Gerner-Smidt P, Bielaszewska M, Karch H, Clawson ML (2012) Phylogeny of Shiga toxinproducing *Escherichia coli* O157 isolated from cattle and clinically III humans. Mol Biol Evol 29(8):2047–2062. doi:10.1093/molbev/mss072
- Caetanoanolles G, Bassam BJ, Gresshoff PM (1992) Primer-template interactions during DNA amplification fingerprinting with single arbitrary oligonucleotides. Mol Gen Genet 235(2– 3):157–165. doi:10.1007/Bf00279356
- Campos LC, Whittam TS, Gomes TAT, Andrade JRC, Trabulsi LR (1994) Escherichai coli serogroup O111 includes several clones of diarrheagenic strains with different virulence properties. Infect Immun 62(8):3282–3288
- Catarame TMG, O'Hanlon KA, Duffy G, Sheridan JJ, Blair IS, McDowell DA (2003) Optimization of enrichment and plating procedures for the recovery of *Escherichia coli* O111 and O26 from minced beef. J Appl Microbiol 95(5):949–957. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2672.2003.02065.x
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (1996) Standardized molecular subtyping of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis: a training manual. National Center for Infectious Diseases Atlanta, GA
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2006) Importance of culture confirmation of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infection as illustrated by outbreaks of gastroenteritis—New York and North Carolina, 2005. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 55(38):1042–1045
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2012) PulseNet International Fact Sheet 508c. http:// www.cdc.gov/ncezid/dfwed/pdfs/pulsenet-international-factsheet-508c.pdf. Accessed 14 May 2014
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2013a) PulseNet. http://www.cdc.gov/pulsenet/about/ faq.html. Accessed 14 May 2014
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2013b) Standard Operating Procedure for PulseNet PFGE of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, *Escherichia coli* non-O157 (STEC), *Salmonella* sero-types, *Shigella sonnei* and *Shigella flexneri*. http://www.cdc.gov/pulsenet/PDF/ecoli-shigella-salmonella-pfge-protocol-508c.pdf. Accessed 14 May 2014
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014a) *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*, pathogens and protocols. http://www.cdc.gov/pulsenet/ pathogens/ecoli.html. Accessed 29 Sept 2014
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014b) The international molecular subtyping network for foodborne disease surveillance. http://www.pulsenetinternational.org/. Accessed 14 May 2014
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014c) Multiple locus variable-number tandem repeat analysis. http://www.cdc.gov/pulsenet/pathogens/mlva.html. Accessed 29 Sept 2014
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014d) PulseNet standard operating procedure for analysis of MLVA data of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 (STEC O157 and *Salmonella enterica* serotypes Typhimurium and Enteriditis in BioNumerics—applied biosystems genetic analyzer 3130/3500 data. http://www.pulsenetinternational.org/assets/Uploads/ PND16-MLVA-Analysis-ABI-Protocol.pdf. Accessed 8 Oct 2014
- Clermont O, Bonacorsi S, Bingen E (2000) Rapid and simple determination of the Escherichia coli phylogenetic group. Appl Environ Microbiol 66(10):4555–4558. doi:10.1128/ Aem.66.10.4555-4558.2000

- Clermont O, Christenson JK, Denamur E, Gordon DM (2013) The Clermont *Escherichia coli* phylo-typing method revisited: improvement of specificity and detection of new phylo-groups. Environ Microbiol Rep 5(1):58–65. doi:10.1111/1758-2229.12019
- Dalla-Costa LM, Irino K, Rodrigues J, Rivera ING, Trabulsi LR (1998) Characterization of diarrhoeagenic *Escherichia coli* clones by ribotyping and ERIC-PCR. J Med Microbiol 47(3):227– 234
- Dharmadi Y, Gonzalez R (2004) DNA microarrays: experimental issues, data analysis, and application to bacterial systems. Biotechnol Prog 20(5):1309–1324. doi:10.1021/bp0400240
- Drysdale M, MacRae M, Strachan NJC, Reid TMS, Ogden ID (2004) The detection of non-O157 *Escherichia coli* in food by immunomagnetic separation. J Appl Microbiol 97(1):220–224. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02301.x
- Dulguer MV, Fabbricotti SH, Bando SY, Moreira CA, Fagundes-Neto U, Scaletsky ICA (2003) Atypical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* strains: phenotypic and genetic profiling reveals a strong association between enteroaggregative *E. coli* heat-stable enterotoxin and diarrhea. J Infect Dis 188(11):1685–1694. doi:10.1086/379666
- Eklund M, Scheutz F, Siitonen A (2001) Clinical isolates of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: serotypes, virulence characteristics, and molecular profiles of strains of the same serotype. J Clin Microbiol 39(8):2829–2834
- Eppinger M, Mammel MK, LeClerc JE, Ravel J, Cebula TA (2011a) Genome signatures of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates from the bovine host reservoir. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(9):2916–2925. doi:10.1128/aem.02554-10
- Eppinger M, Mammel MK, Leclerc JE, Ravel J, Cebula TA (2011b) Genomic anatomy of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 outbreaks. P Natl Acad Sci U S A 108 (50):20142–20147. doi:10.1073/pnas.1107176108
- Fegan N, Barlow RS, Gobius KS (2006) *Escherichia coli* O157 somatic antigen is present in an isolate of *E. fergusonii*. Curr Microbiol 52(6):482–486. doi:10.1007/s00284-005-0447-6
- Fegan N, Higgs G, Duffy LL, Barlow RS (2009) The effects of transport and lairage on counts of *Escherichia coli* O157 in the feces and on the hides of individual cattle. Foodborne Pathog Dis 6(9):1113–1120. doi:10.1089/fpd.2009.0338
- Feng P, Lampel KA, Karch H, Whittam TS (1998) Genotypic and phenotypic changes in the emergence of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. J Infect Dis 177(6):1750–1753. doi:10.1086/517438
- Feng PCH, Monday SR, Lacher DW, Allison L, Siitonen A, Keys C, Eklund M, Nagano H, Karch H, Keen J, Whittam TS (2007) Genetic diversity among clonal lineages within *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 stepwise evolutionary model. Emerg Infect Dis 13(11):1701–1706
- Feng PCH, Jinneman K, Scheutz F, Monday SR (2011) Specificity of PCR and serological assays in the detection of *Escherichia coli* Shiga toxin subtypes. Appl Environ Microbiol 77(18):6699–6702. doi:10.1128/aem.00370-11
- Foley SL, Simjee S, Meng JH, White DG, McDermott PF, Zhao SH (2004) Evaluation of molecular typing methods for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates from cattle, food, and humans. J Food Prot 67(4):651–657
- Franz E, van Hoek AHAM, van der Wal FJ, de Boer A, Zwartkruis-Nahuis A, van der Zwaluw K, Aarts HJM, Heuvelink AE (2012) Genetic features differentiating bovine, food, and human isolates of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 in the Netherlands. J Clin Microbiol 50(3):772–780. doi:10.1128/Jcm.05964-11
- Gannon VPJ, King RK, Kim JY, Thomas EJG (1992) Rapid and sensitive method for detection of Shiga like toxin producing *Escherichia coli* in ground beef using the polymerase chain reaction. Appl Environ Microbiol 58(12):3809–3815
- Gerner-Smidt P, Hise K, Kincaid J, Hunter S, Rolando S, Hyytia-Trees E, Ribot EM, Swaminathan B (2006) PulseNet USA: a five-year update. Foodborne Pathog Dis 3(1):9–19. doi:10.1089/ fpd.2006.3.9
- Goering RV (2010) Pulsed field gel electrophoresis: a review of application and interpretation in the molecular epidemiology of infectious disease. Infect Genet Evol 10(7):866–875. doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2010.07.023

- Gordienko EN, Kazanov MD, Gelfand MS (2013) Evolution of pan-genomes of *Escherichia coli*, *Shigella* spp., and *Salmonella enterica*. J Bacteriol 195(12):2786–2792
- Hahm BK, Maldonado Y, Schreiber E, Bhunia AK, Nakatsu CH (2003) Subtyping of foodborne and environmental isolates of *Escherichia coli* by multiplex-PCR, rep-PCR, PFGE, ribotyping and AFLP, J Microbiol Meth 53(3):387–399. doi:10.1016/s0167-7012(02)00259-2
- Hall BG, Barlow M (2006) Phylogenetic analysis as a tool in molecular epidemiology of infectious diseases. Ann Epidemiol 16(3):157–169
- Hauser E, Mellmann A, Semmler T, Stoeber H, Wieler LH, Karch H, Kuebler N, Fruth A, Harmsen D, Weniger T, Tietze E, Schmidt H (2013) Phylogenetic and molecular analysis of foodborne Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(8):2731–2740. doi:10.1128/aem.03552-12
- Healy M, Huong J, Bittner T, Lising M, Frye S, Raza S, Schrock R, Manry J, Renwick A, Nieto R, Woods C, Versalovic J, Lupski JR (2005) Microbial DNA typing by automated repetitivesequence-based PCR. J Clin Microbiol 43(1):199–207. doi:10.1128/Jcm.43.1.199-207.2005
- Herold S, Karch H, Schmidt H (2004) Shiga toxin-encoding bacteriophages—genomes in motion. Int J Med Microbiol 294(2–3):115–121. doi:10.1016/j.ijmm.2004.06.023
- Hien BTT, Scheutz F, Cam PD, Serichantalergs O, Huong TT, Thu TM, Dalsgaard A (2008) Diarrheagenic *Escherichia coli* and *Shigella* strains isolated from children in a hospital case-control study in Hanoi, Vietnam. J Clin Microbiol 46(3):996–1004. doi:10.1128/JCM.01219-07
- Hiett KL, Seal BS (2009) Use of repetitive element palindromic PCR (rep-PCR) for the epidemiologic discrimination of foodborne pathogens. Methods Mol Biol (Clifton, NJ) 551:49–58. doi:10.1007/978-1-60327-999-4_5
- Hulton CSJ, Higgins CF, Sharp PM (1991) ERIC sequences—a novel family of repetitive elements in the genomes of *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella typhimurium* and other enterobacteria. Mol Microbiol 5(4):825–834. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.1991.tb00755.x
- Hunter SB, Vauterin P, Lambert-Fair MA, Van Duyne MS, Kubota K, Graves L, Wrigley D, Barrett T, Ribot E (2005) Establishment of a universal size standard strain for use with the PulseNet standardized pulsed-field gel electrophoresis protocols: converting the national databases to the new size standard. J Clin Microbiol 43(3):1045–1050
- Hyytia-Trees E, Smole SC, Fields PA, Swaminathan B, Ribot EM (2006) Second generation subtyping: a proposed PulseNet protocol for multiple-locus variable-number tandem repeat analysis of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 (STEC O157). Foodborne Pathog Dis 3(1):118–131. doi:10.1089/fpd.2006.3.118
- Hyytia-Trees EK, Cooper K, Ribot EM, Gerner-Smidt P (2007) Recent developments and future prospects in subtyping of foodborne bacterial pathogens. Future Microbiol 2(2):175–185. doi:10.2217/17460913.2.2.175
- Hyytia-Trees E, Lafon P, Vauterin P, Ribot EM (2010) Multilaboratory validation study of standardized multiple-locus variable-number tandem repeat analysis protocol for Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157: a novel approach to normalize fragment size data between capillary electrophoresis platforms. Foodborne Pathog Dis 7(2):129–136. doi:10.1089/fpd.2009.0371
- Johnson JR, O'Bryan TT (2000) Improved repetitive-element PCR fingerprinting for resolving pathogenic and nonpathogenic phylogenetic groups within *Escherichia coli*. Clin Diagn Lab Immun 7(2):265–273. doi:10.1128/cdli.7.2.265-273.2000
- Kaas RS, Friis C, Ussery DW, Aarestrup FM (2012) Estimating variation within the genes and inferring the phylogeny of 186 sequenced diverse *Escherichia coli* genomes. BMC Genomics 13:577. doi:57710.1186/1471-2164-13-577
- Kaper JB, Nataro JP, Mobley HLT (2004) Pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Nat Rev Microbiol 2(2):123–140. doi:10.1038/nrmicro818
- Karama M, Gyles CL (2010) Methods for genotyping Verotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. Zoonoses Public Hlth 57(7–8):447–462. doi:10.1111/j.1863-2378.2009.01259.x
- Karch H, Bielaszewska M, Bitzan M, Schmidt H (1999) Epidemiology and diagnosis of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* infections. Diagn Micr Infec Dis 34(3):229–243
- Kawamori F, Hiroi M, Harada T, Ohata K, Sugiyama K, Masuda T, Ohashi N (2008) Molecular typing of Japanese Escherichia coli O157:H7 isolates from clinical specimens by mul-

tilocus variable-number tandem repeat analysis and PFGE. J Med Microbiol 57(1):58-63. doi:10.1099/jmm.0.47213-0

- Keys C, Kemper S, Keim P (2005) Highly diverse variable number tandem repeat loci in the *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and O55:H7 genomes for high-resolution molecular typing. J Appl Microbiol 98(4):928–940. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2004.02532.x
- Khakhria R, Duck D, Lior H (1990) Extended phage typing scheme for *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Epidemiol Infect 105(3):511–520
- Kim J, Nietfeldt J, Benson AK (1999) Octamer-based genome scanning distinguishes a unique subpopulation of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains in cattle. P Natl Acad Sci U S A 96 (23):13288–13293
- Kim JY, Nietfeldt J, Ju JL, Wise J, Fegan N, Desmarchelier P, Benson AK (2001) Ancestral divergence, genome diversification, and phylogeographic variation in subpopulations of sorbitolnegative, beta-glucuronidase-negative enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157. J Bacteriol 183(23):6885–6897
- Konczy P, Ziebell K, Mascarenhas M, Choi A, Michaud C, Kropinski AM, Whittam TS, Wickham M, Finlay B, Karmali MA (2008) Genomic O island 122, locus for enterocyte effacement, and the evolution of virulent verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 190(17):5832–5840. doi:10.1128/jb.00480-08
- Kotewicz ML, Jackson SA, LeClerc JE, Cebula TA (2007) Optical maps distinguish individual strains of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Microbiology-Sgm 153:1720–1733. doi:10.1099/ mic.0.2006/004507-0
- Lacher DW, Steinsland H, Blank TE, Donnenberg MS, Whittam TS (2007) Molecular evolution of typical enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*: clonal analysis by multilocus sequence typing and virulence gene allelic profiling. J Bacteriol 189(2):342–350. doi:10.1128/jb.01472-06
- Lanier WA, Leeper MM, Smith KE, Tillman GE, Holt KG, Gerner-Smidt P (2009) Pulsed field gel electrophoresis subtypes of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 isolated from ground beef and humans, United States, 2001–2006. Foodborne Pathog Dis 6(9):1075–1082. doi:10.1089/fpd.2009.0269
- Leclercq A, Lambert B, Pierard D, Mahillon J (2001) Particular biochemical profiles for enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates on the ID 32E system. J Clin Microbiol 39(3):1161–1164. doi:10.1128/JCM.39.3.1161-1164.2001
- Lee K, French NP, Hara-Kudo Y, Iyoda S, Kobayashi H, Sugita-Konishi Y, Tsubone H, Kumagai S (2011) Multivariate analyses revealed distinctive features differentiating human and cattle isolates of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 in Japan. J Clin Microbiol 49(4):1495– 1500. doi:10.1128/Jcm.02640-10
- Lee K, French NP, Jones G, Hara-Kudo Y, Iyoda S, Kobayashi H, Sugita-Konishi Y, Tsubone H, Kumagai S (2012) Variation in stress resistance patterns among *stx* genotypes and genetic lineages of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157. Appl Environ Microbiol 78(9):3361– 3368. doi:10.1128/Aem.06646-11
- Leung KT, Mackereth R, Tien YC, Topp E (2004) A comparison of AFLP and ERIC-PCR analyses for discriminating *Escherichia coli* from cattle, pig, and human sources. FEMS Microbio Ecol 47(1):111–119. doi:10.1016/s0168-9496(03)00254-x
- Li W, Raoult D, Fournier PE (2009) Bacterial strain typing in the genomic era. FEMS Microbiol Rev 33(5):892–916. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6976.2009.00182.x
- Lindstedt BA, Brandal LT, Aas L, Vardund T, Kapperud G (2007) Study of polymorphic variablenumber of tandem repeats loci in the ECOR collection and in a set of pathogenic *Escherichia coli* and *Shigella* isolates for use in a genotyping assay. J Microbiol Meth 69(1):197–205. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2007.01.001
- Liu K, Knabel SJ, Dudley EG (2009) rhs genes are potential markers for multilocus sequence typing of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 75(18):5853–5862. doi:10.1128/aem.00859-09
- Lobersli I, Haugum K, Lindstedt BA (2012) Rapid and high resolution genotyping of all *Escherichia coli* serotypes using 10 genomic repeat-containing loci. J Microbiol Meth 88(1):134–139. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2011.11.003

- Maatallah M, Bakhrouf A, Habeeb MA, Turlej-Rogacka A, Iversen A, Pourcel C, Sioud O, Giske CG (2013) Four genotyping schemes for phylogenetic analysis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: comparison of their congruence with multi-locus sequence typing. PloS One 8(12):e82069
- Maiden MCJ, Bygraves JA, Feil E, Morelli G, Russell JE, Urwin R, Zhang Q, Zhou JJ, Zurth K, Caugant DA, Feavers IM, Achtman M, Spratt BG (1998) Multilocus sequence typing: a portable approach to the identification of clones within populations of pathogenic microorganisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95(6):3140–3145. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.6.3140
- Manning SD, Motiwala AS, Springman AC, Qi W, Lacher DW, Ouellette LM, Mlaclonicky JM, Somsel P, Rudrik JT, Dietrich SE, Zhang W, Swaminathan B, Alland D, Whittam TS (2008) Variation in virulence among clades of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, associated with disease outbreaks. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(12):4868–4873. doi:10.1073/pnas.0710834105
- Mardis ER (2011) A decade's perspective on DNA sequencing technology. Nature 470(7333):198–203. doi:10.1038/nature09796
- Mathusa EC, Chen YH, Enache E, Hontz L (2010) Non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* in foods. J Food Prot 73(9):1721–1736
- Mellor GE, Sim EM, Barlow RS, D'Astek BA, Galli L, Chinen I, Rivas M, Gobius KS (2012) Phylogenetically related Argentinean and Australian *Escherichia coli* O157 isolates are distinguished by virulence clades and alternative Shiga toxin 1 and 2 prophages. Appl Environ Microbiol 78(13):4724–4731. doi:10.1128/AEM.00365-12
- Mellor GE, Besser TE, Davis MA, Beavis B, Jung W, Smith HV, Jennison AV, Doyle CJ, Chandry PS, Gobius KS, Fegan N (2013) Multilocus genotype analysis of *Escherichia coli* O157 isolates from Australia and the United States provides evidence of geographic divergence. Appl Environ Microbiol 79(16):5050–5058. doi:10.1128/AEM.01525-13
- Metzker ML (2010) Sequencing technologies—the next generation. Nat Rev Genetics 11(1):31– 46. doi:10.1038/nrg2626
- Mingle LA, Garcia DL, Root TP, Halse TA, Quinlan TM, Armstrong LR, Chiefari AK, Schoonmaker-Bopp DJ, Dumas NB, Limberger RJ, Musser KA (2012) Enhanced identification and characterization of non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*: a six-year study. Foodborne Pathog Dis 9(11):1028–1036. doi:10.1089/fpd.2012.1202
- Moon JY, Park JH, Kim YB (2005) Molecular epidemiological characteristics of virulence factors on enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 253(2):215–220. doi:10.1016/j. femsle.2005.09.038
- Mora A, Blanco M, Blanco JE, Alonso MP, Dhabi G, Thomson-Carter F, Usera MA, Bartolome R, Prats G, Blanco J (2004) Phage types and genotypes of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates from humans and animals in Spain: identification and characterization of two predominating phage types (PT2 and PT8). J Clin Microbiol 42(9):4007–4015. doi:10.1128/ JCM.42.9.4007-4015.2004
- Nadon CA, Trees E, Ng LK, Moller Nielsen E, Reimer A, Maxwell N, Kubota KA, Gerner-Smidt P (2013) Development and application of MLVA methods as a tool for inter-laboratory surveillance. Euro Surveill 18(35):20565
- Nataro JP, Kaper JB (1998) Diarrheagenic Escherichia coli. Clin Microbiol Rev 11(1):142-201
- Noller AC, McEllistrem MC, Stine OC, Morris JG, Boxrud DJ, Dixon B, Harrison LH (2003) Multilocus sequence typing reveals a lack of diversity among *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates that are distinct by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. J Clin Microbiol 41(2):675–679. doi:10.1128/JCM.41.2.675-679.2003
- Noller AC, McEllistrem MC, Shutt KA, Harrison LH (2006) Locus-specific mutational events in a multilocus variable-number tandem repeat analysis of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. J Clin Microbiol 44(2):374–377. doi:10.1128/Jcm.44.2.374-377.2006
- O'Sullivan J, Bolton DJ, Duffy G, Baylis C, Tozzoli R, Wasteson Y, Lofdahl S (2007) Methods for detection and molecular characterisation of pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. In Pathogenic *Escherichia coli* Network. Pathogenic *Escherichia coli* Network Dublin, Ireland pp 1–32
- Ochman H, Selander RK (1984) Standard reference strains of *Escherichia coli* from natural populations. J Bacteriol 157(2):690–693

- Ogura Y, Ooka T, Asadulghani, Terajima J, Nougayrede JP, Kurokawa K, Tashiro K, Tobe T, Nakayama K, Kuhara S, Oswald E, Watanabe H, Hayashi T (2007) Extensive genomic diversity and selective conservation of virulence-determinants in enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* strains of O157 and non-O157 serotypes. Genome Biol 8(7):R138. doi:10.1186/gb-2007-8-7-r138
- Pacheco ABF, Guth BEC, Soares KCC, Nishimura L, DeAlmeida DF, Ferreira LCS (1997) Random amplification of polymorphic DNA reveals serotype-specific clonal clusters among enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* strains isolated from humans. J Clin Microbiol 35(6):1521–1525
- Pacheco ABF, Soares KC, de Almeida DF, Viboud GI, Binsztein N, Ferreira LCS (1998) Clonal nature of enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* serotype O6:H16 revealed by randomly amplified polymorphic DNA analysis. J Clin Microbiol 36(7):2099–2102
- Paton AW, Paton JC (1996) *Enterobacter cloacae* producing a Shiga-like toxin II-related cytotoxin associated with a case of hemolytic-uremic syndrome. J Clin Microbiol 34(2):463–465
- Paton AW, Paton JC (1998) Detection and characterization of Shiga toxigenic *Escherichia coli* by using multiplex PCR assays for stx(1), stx(2), eaeA, enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* hlyA, rfb(O111), and rfb(O157). J Clin Microbiol 36(2):598–602
- Pearce MC, Chase-Topping ME, McKendrick IJ, Mellor DJ, Locking ME, Allison L, Ternent HE, Matthews L, Knight HI, Smith AW, Synge BA, Reilly W, Low JC, Reid SWJ, Gunn GJ, Woolhouse MEJ (2009) Temporal and spatial patterns of bovine *Escherichia coli* O157 prevalence and comparison of temporal changes in the patterns of phage types associated with bovine shedding and human *E. coli* O157 cases in Scotland between 1998–2000 and 2002–2004. BMC Microbiol 9:276. doi:10.1186/1471-2180-9-276
- Power EGM (1996) RAPD typing in microbiology—a technical review. J Hosp Infect 34(4):247– 265. doi:10.1016/S0195-6701(96)90106-1
- Preston MA, Johnson W, Khakhria R, Borczyk A (2000) Epidemiologic subtyping of *Escherichia coli* serogroup O157 strains isolated in Ontario by phage typing and pulsed-field gel electro-phoresis. J Clin Microbiol 38(6):2366–2368
- Pupo GM, Karaolis DKR, Lan RT, Reeves PR (1997) Evolutionary relationships among pathogenic and nonpathogenic *Escherichia coli* strains inferred from multilocus enzyme electrophoresis and mdh sequence studies. Infect Immun 65(7):2685–2692
- Qi WH, Lacher DW, Bumbaugh AC, Hyma KE, Ouellette LM, Large TM, Tarr CL, Whittam TS, Soc IC (2004) EcMLST: an online database for multi locus sequence typing of pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Proceedings of the 2004 IEEE Computational Systems Bioinformatics Conference.
- Rasko DA, Webster DR, Sahl JW, Bashir A, Boisen N, Scheutz F, Paxinos EE, Sebra R, Chin CS, Iliopoulos D, Klammer A, Peluso P, Lee L, Kislyuk AO, Bullard J, Kasarskis A, Wang S, Eid J, Rank D, Redman JC, Steyert SR, Frimodt-Moller J, Struve C, Petersen AM, Krogfelt KA, Nataro JP, Schadt EE, Waldor MK (2011) Origins of the *Escherichia coli* strain causing an outbreak of hemolytic-uremic syndrome in Germany. New Engl J Med 365(8):709–717
- Regua-Mangia AH, Gonzalez AGM, Cerqueira AMF, Andrade JRC (2012) Molecular characterization of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains isolated from different sources and geographic regions. J Vet Sci 13(2):139–144. doi:10.4142/jvs.2012.13.2.139
- Reid SD, Herbelin CJ, Bumbaugh AC, Selander RK, Whittam TS (2000) Parallel evolution of virulence in pathogenic *Escherichia coli*. Nature 406(6791):64–67
- Ribot EM, Fair MA, Gautom R, Cameron DN, Hunter SB, Swaminathan B, Barrett TJ (2006) Standardization of pulsed-field gel electrophoresis protocols for the subtyping of *Escherichia coli* O157: H7 *Salmonella*, and *Shigella* for PulseNet. Foodborne Pathog Dis 3(1):59–67. doi:10.1089/fpd.2006.3.59
- Sabat AJ, Budimir A, Nashev D, Sa-Leao R, van Dijl JM, Laurent F, Grundmann H, Friedrich AW, ESGEM (2013) Overview of molecular typing methods for outbreak detection and epidemiological surveillance. Euro Surveill 18(4):17–30
- Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR (1977) DNA Sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 74(12):5463–5467. doi:10.1073/pnas.74.12.5463

- Scheutz F, Teel LD, Beutin L, Pierard D, Buvens G, Karch H, Mellmann A, Caprioli A, Tozzoli R, Morabito S, Strockbine NA, Melton-Celsa AR, Sanchez M, Persson S, O'Brien AD (2012) Multicenter evaluation of a sequence-based protocol for subtyping Shiga toxins and standardizing stx nomenclature. J Clin Microbiol 50(9):2951–2963. doi:10.1128/JCM.00860-12
- Schmidt H, Montag M, Bockemuhl J, Heesemann J, Karch H (1993) Shiga-like toxin II-related cytotoxins in *Citrobacter freundii* strains from humans and beef samples. Infect Immun 61(2):534–543
- Schumann P, Pukall R (2013) The discriminatory power of ribotyping as automatable technique for differentiation of bacteria. Syst Appl Microbiol 36(6):369–375. doi:10.1016/j.syapm.2013.05.003
- Scott TM, Parveen S, Portier KM, Rose JB, Tamplin ML, Farrah SR, Koo A, Lukasik J (2003) Geographical variation in ribotype profiles of *Escherichia coli* isolates from humans, swine, poultry, beef, and dairy cattle in Florida. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(2):1089–1092. doi:10.1128/ aem.69.2.1089-1092.2003
- Selander RK, Caugant DA, Ochman H, Musser JM, Gilmour MN, Whittam TS (1986) Methods of multilocus enzyme electrophoresis for bacterial population genetics and systematics. Appl Environ Microbiol 51(5):873–884
- Selander RK, Caugant DA, Whittam TS (1983) Genetic structure and variation in natural populations of *Escherichia coli*. In: Niedhardt FC, Ingraham JL, Low KB, Magasanik B, Schaechter M, Umbarger HE (eds) *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella typhimurium*: cellular and molecular biology, 1st edn. Amercian Society for Microbiology, Washington, DC, pp 1625–1648
- Shabana II, Zaraket H, Suzuki H (2013) Molecular studies on diarrhea-associated *Escherichia coli* isolated from humans and animals in Egypt. Vet Microbiol 167(3–4):532–539. doi:10.1016/j. vetmic.2013.08.014
- Sharma R, Stanford K, Louie M, Munns K, John SJ, Zhang YX, Gannon V, Chui L, Read R, Topp E, McAllister T (2009) *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 lineages in healthy beef and dairy cattle and clinical human cases in Alberta, Canada. J Food Prot 72(3):601–607
- Shringi S, Schmidt C, Katherine K, Brayton KA, Hancock DD, Besser TE (2012a) Carriage of stx_{2a} differentiates clinical and bovine-biased strains of *Escherichia coli* O157. PloS One 7(12):e51572
- Shringi S, Schmidt C, Katherine K, Brayton KA, Hancock DD, Besser TE (2012b) Carriage of *stx*_{2a} differentiates clinical and bovine-biased strains of *Escherichia coli* O157. PloS One 7(12):e51572. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051572
- Souza V, Rocha M, Valera A, Eguiarte LE (1999) Genetic structure of natural populations of *Escherichia coli* in wild hosts on different continents. Appl Environ Microbiol 65(8):3373–3385
- Souza MRSM, Klassen G, De Toni F, Rigo LU, Henkes C, Pigatto CP, Dalagassa CD, Fadel-Picheth CMT (2010) Biochemical properties, enterohaemolysin production, and plasmid carriage of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz 105(3):318–321
- Sowers EG, Wells JG, Strockbine NA (1996) Evaluation of commercial latex reagents for identification of O157 and H7 antigens of *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 34(5):1286–1289
- Stanton E, Park D, Dopfer D, Ivanek R, Kaspar CW (2014) Phylogenetic characterization of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 based on IS629 distribution and Shiga toxin genotype. Microbiology-Sgm 160:502–513. doi:10.1099/Mic.0.073437-0
- Statens Serum Institut (2014). http://www.ssi.dk/English/SSI%20Diagnostica/Products%20 from%20SSI%20Diagnostica/PCR/Ecoli%20vtx1%20and%20vtx2%20Subtyping%20 PCR%20kit.aspx. Accessed 29 Sept 2014
- Steinsland H, Lacher DW, Sommerfelt H, Whittam TS (2010) Ancestral lineages of human enterotoxigenic Escherichia coli. J Clin Microbiol 48(8):2916–2924. doi:10.1128/jcm.02432-09
- Stephenson J (1997) New approaches for detecting and curtailing foodborne microbial infections. JAMA 277(17):1337; 1339–1340. doi:10.1001/jama.277.17.1337
- Stern MJ, Ames GFL, Smith NH, Robinson EC, Higgins CF (1984) Repetitive extragenic palindromic sequences—a major component of the bacterial genome. Cell 37(3):1015–1026. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(84)90436-7

- Steyert SR, Sahl JW, Fraser CM, Teel LD, Scheutz F, Rasko DA (2012) Comparative genomics and stx phage characterization of LEE-negative Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli*. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 2:133. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2012.00133
- Swaminathan B, Barrett TJ, Hunter SB, Tauxe RV (2001) PulseNet: the molecular subtyping network for foodborne bacterial disease surveillance, United States. Emerg Infect Dis 7(3):382– 389. doi:10.3201/eid0703.010303
- Swaminathan B, Gerner-Smidt P, Ng LK, Lukinmaa S, Kam KM, Rolando S, Gutierrez EP, Binsztein N (2006) Building PulseNet International: an interconnected system of laboratory networks to facilitate timely public health recognition and response to foodborne disease outbreaks and emerging foodborne diseases. Foodborne Pathog Dis 3(1):36–50. doi:10.1089/fpd.2006.3.36
- Tenover FC, Arbeit RD, Goering RV, Mickelsen PA, Murray BE, Persing DH, Swaminathan B (1995) Interpreting chromosomal DNA restriction patterns produced by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis: criteria for bacterial strain typing. J Clin Microbiol 33(9):2233–2239
- Urwin R, Maiden MCJ (2003) Multi-locus sequence typing: a tool for global epidemiology. Trends Microbiol 11(10):479–487. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2003.08.006
- van Belkum A, Scherer S, van Alphen L, Verbrugh H (1998) Short-sequence DNA repeats in prokaryotic genomes. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 62(2):275–293
- van Belkum A, Struelens M, de Visser A, Verbrugh H, Tibayrenc M (2001) Role of genomic typing in taxonomy, evolutionary genetics, and microbial epidemiology. Clin Microbiol Rev 14(3):547–560. doi:10.1128/Cmr.14.3.547-560.2001
- Versalovic J, Koeuth T, Lupski JR (1991) Distribution of repetitive DNA sequences in *Eubacteria* and application to fingerprinting of bacterial genomes. Nucl Acids Res 19(24):6823–6831. doi:10.1093/nar/19.24.6823
- Versalovic J, de Bruijn FJ, Lupski JR (1998) Repetitive sequence-based PCR (rep-PCR) DNA fingerprinting of bacterial genomes. In: de Bruijn FJ, Lupski JR, Weinstock GM (eds) Bacterial Genomes: physical structure and analysis. Springer Science + Business Media, New York, pp 437–454
- Vidovic S, Korber DR (2006) Prevalence of *Escherichia coli* O157 in Saskatchewan cattle: characterization of isolates by using random amplified polymorphic DNA PCR, antibiotic resistance profiles, and pathogenicity determinants. Appl Environ Microbiol 72(6):4347–4355. doi:10.1128/aem.02791-05
- Vidovic S, Tsoi S, Medihala P, Liu JX, Wylie JL, Levett PN, Korber DR (2013) Molecular and antimicrobial susceptibility analyses distinguish clinical from bovine *Escherichia coli* O157 strains. J Clin Microbiol 51(7):2082–2088. doi:10.1128/Jcm.00307-13
- Wang G, Whittam TS, Berg CM, Berg DE (1993) RAPD (Arbitrary Primer) PCR is more sensitive than Multilocus Enzyme Electrophoresis for distinguishing related bacterial strains. Nucl Acids Res 21(25):5930–5933. doi:10.1093/nar/21.25.5930
- Welsh J, McClelland M (1990) Fingerprinting genomes using PCR with arbitrary primers. Nucl Acids Res 18(24):7213–7218
- Wendel AM, Johnson DH, Sharapov U, Grant J, Archer JR, Monson T, Koschmann C, Davis JP (2009) Multistate outbreak of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 infection associated with consumption of packaged spinach, August-September 2006: the Wisconsin investigation. Clin Infect Dis 48(8):1079–1086. doi:10.1086/597399
- Whittam TS (1998) Evolution of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and other Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* strains. In: Kaper JB, O'Brien AD (eds) *Escherichi coli* O157:H7 and other Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* strains. ASM Press, Washington, DC, pp 195–212
- Whittam TS, Ochman H, Selander RK (1983) Multilocus genetic structure in natural populations of *Escherichia coli*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 80(6):1751–1755. doi:10.1073/pnas.80.6.1751
- Williams JGK, Kubelik AR, Livak KJ, Rafalski JA, Tingey SV (1990) DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. Nucl Acids Res 18(22):6531–6535. doi:10.1093/nar/18.22.6531
- Wirth T, Falush D, Lan R, Colles F, Mensa P, Wieler LH, Karch H, Reeves PR, Maiden MC, Ochman H, Achtman M (2006) Sex and virulence in *Escherichia coli*: an evolutionary perspective. Mol Microbiol 60(5):1136–1151. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05172.x

- Woodford N, Turton JF, Livermore DM (2011) Multiresistant Gram-negative bacteria: the role of high-risk clones in the dissemination of antibiotic resistance. FEMS Microbiol Rev 35(5):736– 755. doi:10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00268.x
- Wu G, Carter B, Mafura M, Liebana E, Woodward MJ, Anjum MF (2008) Genetic diversity among *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 isolates and identification of genes linked to human infections. Infect Immun 76(2):845–856. doi:10.1128/IAI.00956-07
- Yang Z, Kovar J, Kim J, Nietfeldt J, Smith DR, Moxley RA, Olson ME, Fey PD, Benson AK (2004) Identification of common subpopulations of non-sorbitol-fermenting, beta-glucuronidase-negative *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from bovine production environments and human clinical samples. Appl Environ Microbiol 70(11):6846–6854. doi:10.1128/AEM.70.11.6846-6854.2004
- Yokoyama E, Hashimoto R, Etoh Y, Ichihara S, Horikawa K, Uchimura M (2011) Biased distribution of IS629 among strains in different lineages of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* serovar O157. Infect Genet Evol 11(1):78–82. doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2010.10.007
- Zhang YX, Laing C, Steele M, Ziebell K, Johnson R, Benson AK, Taboada E, Gannon VPJ (2007) Genome evolution in major *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 lineages. BMC Genomics 8:121. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-8-121
- Zhang YX, Laing C, Zhang ZZ, Hallewell J, You CP, Ziebell K, Johnson RP, Kropinski AM, Thomas JE, Karmali M, Gannon VPJ (2010) Lineage and host source are both correlated with levels of Shiga toxin 2 production by *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 76(2):474–482. doi:10.1128/AEM.01288-09
- Zhao SH, Mitchell SE, Meng JH, Kresovich S, Doyle MP, Dean RE, Casa AM, Weller JW (2000) Genomic typing of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 by semi-automated fluorescent AFLP analysis. Microbes Infect 2(2):107–113. doi:10.1016/s1286-4579(00)00278-1
- Ziebell K, Steele M, Zhang Y, Benson A, Taboada EN, Laing C, McEwen S, Ciebin B, Johnson R, Gannon V (2008a) Genotypic characterization and prevalence of virulence factors among Canadian *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 74(14):4314–4323. doi:10.1128/Aem.02821-07
- Ziebell M, Konczy P, Yong I, Frost S, Mascarenhas M, Kropinski AM, Whittam TS, Read SC, Karmali MA (2008b) Applicability of phylogenetic methods for characterizing the public health significance of verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* strains. Appl Environ Microbiol 74(5):1671–1675. doi:10.1128/aem.01619-07

Chapter 4 Emerging and Future Trends and Technologies for the Detection and Typing of *Escherichia coli*

4.1 Future Trends in Foodborne Illness and *Escherichia coli*

Foodborne illness is a significant concern worldwide and many of the cases observed can be prevented. Public health efforts have been directed mainly towards the well-known foodborne diseases and pathogens in the food chain. However, it is estimated that 50-60% of all causative agents of foodborne illnesses are caused by unknown etiological agents (Thomas et al. 2013). Many other pathogens that are known to cause foodborne disease, such as many non-O157 Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* (STEC) serotypes are certainly underestimated due to the lack of diagnostic tools. The list of known agents that cause foodborne disease is likely to grow as new methods to identify them become available, and already known pathogens may also evolve, thereby adding to the public health risks (Newell et al. 2010). Future trends in lifestyle and globalization of travel and trade, including food, demographic changes, and other factors will influence the emergence and reemergence of various foodborne pathogens. There is also a shift in the traditional association of foodborne pathogens from foods of animal origin to other commodities, such as fresh produce, that is being reported by public health authorities worldwide (Jones et al. 2008).

Assessing the changing levels of foodborne disease through baseline surveillance will become vital and systems to do so will invariably develop to accommodate this need. This will involve a global effort but may be challenging to implement as currently some countries do not routinely collect such data or do not have consistent or comparative data over time in order to identify trends. Consistent reporting by all countries would make an important contribution to international surveillance and would promote global strategies to control infection and determine the public health significance of existing and emerging strains (Karmali et al. 2010). A clear focus and example of improved foodborne disease surveillance efforts is with the STEC group. Although the O157 serotype within the STEC group is widely recognized as an important cause of foodborne disease, improved detection methods have seen an increase in the awareness of other non-O157 serotypes that are also present within different reservoirs such as animals, and their role in foodborne disease. Many of

101

L. Rivas et al., *Detection and Typing Strategies for Pathogenic Escherichia coli*, SpringerBriefs in Food, Health, and Nutrition, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4939-2346-5_4

these non-O157 serotypes are not commonly isolated, but in light of the *E. coli* O104:H4 outbreak in Europe, (Inset 1.2) it would be useful to elucidate how prevalent these serotypes are in food environments and determine how readily they can exchange genetic information and acquire virulence factors. This would elucidate the potential of these strains to become virulent and cause significant foodborne disease (Kaspar et al. 2010). There is also the potential to correlate disease incidence with the distribution and diversity of specific genomic sequences with a geographical area. Changes in pathogenicity can therefore be determined and aid in new tracking or diagnostic methods to detect emerging pathogens (Franz et al. 2014).

There are also a number of studies that have reported the effects of various intervention strategies on E. coli O157:H7, but it is unknown whether these strategies are also effective for non-O157 serotypes. The great diversity within the non-O157 serotypes suggests that further work is needed to elucidate the growth and survival properties within the STEC group and the influence of intervention strategies on their survival through the food chain. This also highlights the need to determine the epidemiology and interactions of non-O157 STEC in animals, environmental, and human sources. This could potentially provide more information into the dissemination, growth, and persistence of these strains within the food chain, which in turn can aid in developing further intervention strategies (Kaspar et al. 2010). It is also important, as with all the diarrheagenic pathotypes that more information is gained on the role and incidence of person-to-person transmission and the role that humans play in the dissemination of these strains. With the exception of the STEC group, the problem with many of the diarrheagenic *E. coli* is that they are not classified as notifiable and therefore their role in foodborne disease is unclear. It is apparent that some of these *E. coli* pathotypes may be emerging pathogens (Huang et al. 2006) and therefore more research is required to investigate the true incidence of these pathogens in foodborne disease. A greater understanding of the potential virulence of an isolate based on the presence of various gene markers will also provide information that is useful to determine the risk of specific E. coli isolates to human health. The ability of E. coli to exchange genetic information means that new pathogenic strains are likely to occur (as with E. coli O104:H4 (Inset 1.2)) and in the future we will be better able to identify these through a greater understanding of the gene complement required to cause disease.

4.2 Future Trends in the Detection and Typing of Pathogens

The advancement of molecular methods is set to replace traditional culturing methods, but there are many challenges to overcome before culturing methods become obsolete. This is because cultural methods are vitally important for the characterization of the isolate, particularly for epidemiological studies but also to determine antibiotic resistance, virulence, growth, and survival properties (Cocolin et al. 2011). The major disadvantage of cultural procedures is the time and labor required to obtain an isolate for characterization. The development of cultural media to presumptively identify a pathogen based on phenotypic traits is a growing area (Cocolin et al. 2011) and certainly other technologies are emerging with that promise to assist with identifying presumptive isolates within a mixed flora on an agar plate. An example of this technology is *ba*cterial *r*apid *d*etection using *o*ptical scattering *t*echnology (BARDOT) that directs a laser on colonies to produce species or serovar-specific scatter signatures that are compared to those within a library. This technology has been initially evaluated with particular STEC serotypes and can potentially be used as a screening tool during isolation (Tang et al. 2014).

Other technologies, including antibody-based and nucleic acid-based assays, have revolutionized the detection methodology for microbial pathogens in various food matrices (Ge and Meng 2009). These methods have great advantages of ease of use, high throughput, and low cost but their downfall is their detection limit which often requires an enrichment step which requires time for incubation. Design of improved enrichment formulations to facilitate shorter incubation times will decrease the time-to-test results. Alternative concentration technologies other than enrichment will become vital to achieve the desired amount of cells for detection while achieving a short testing time (Ge and Meng 2009). The main goal for such methods is to increase their sensitivities in order to test the sample directly, thus saving time that is otherwise used during the enrichment process. The possibilities of combining different rapid methods, including improved technologies for separation and concentration of specific bacteria will facilitate the direct detection of pathogens in foods. The main focus is to avoid the need for enrichment, providing rapid alternatives to conventional quantitative culture methods (Kaspar et al. 2010).

Detection through the use of real-time PCR provides a near instantaneous amplification and detection at the same time and are likely to be developed to accurately quantitate foodborne pathogens in foods when no enrichment is required. However, one major limitation of the DNA-based molecular detection assay is the inability to differentiate live versus dead cells. Improvements to prevent the detection of dead cell DNAs may be to incorporate chemicals within the sample that selectively intercalate into dead cell DNA and therefore prevent their amplifications in PCR assays (Ge and Meng 2009). Further technological advancements will see new possibilities and solutions for food safety problems for many smaller laboratories previously unable to undertake specialized testing regimes. It is certainly apparent that more commercial systems are focusing on all inclusive kits. These kits contain all the components necessary for the detection of a pathogen, and assays are placed into a "black box" machine that rapidly produces a result that is easily interpreted and does not require specialized skills. These systems also aim to provide multiplexing functions where multiple pathogens will be readily detected in one assay.

4.2.1 Microarrays

Microarray technology plays a significant and growing role in identification and analysis of foodborne microbial pathogens. Microarrays can utilize a variety of technical formats, but currently incorporate short oligonucleotides (20 to 70 nucleotides) probed onto a glass slide (spotted/chip array) or a single probe attached to a uniquely identified, fluorescently labeled microsphere (bead-based array) (Dunbar 2006; Boxrud 2010). The technology facilitates a significant expansion of the capability of DNA-based methods in terms of the number of DNA sequences that can be analyzed at one time, enabling molecular identification and characterization of multiple pathogens using many genes in a single assay (Rasooly and Herold 2008). Furthermore, the density at which these probes can be arrayed allows for the simultaneous screening of many unique gene sequences from many different species in parallel (Cebula et al. 1995). Microarrays are more frequently being used for the detection of foodborne pathogens and are increasingly being used to genotype strains such as E. coli O157:H7 (Garaizar et al. 2006; Boxrud 2010; Zhang et al. 2006). This capability can also expand to incorporate the identification of virulence factors and antibiotics resistance genes. Developments in the manufacture of microarrays will see the production of both spotted and bead arrays become more economical for use in food applications and may offer improvements in foodborne pathogen identification and characterization protocols compared to traditional methods (Rasooly and Herold 2008).

4.2.2 Matrix Assisted Laser-Desorption Ionization-Time-of-Flight Mass Spectrometry

The emergence of matrix-assisted laser-desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) has enabled rapid and accurate species identification from a single colony and is likely to become an essential identification tool in clinical bacteriology. MALDI-TOF MS machines are costly to purchase and establish within a laboratory but adequate throughput of samples in diagnostic laboratories can see the identification of an organism being significantly cheaper than using traditional biochemical tests or kits. The method is based on the analysis of whole cell mass spectra representing dozens of microbial proteins as peaks with an exactly determinable mass to charge (m/z) ratio (Christner et al. 2014; Pavlovic et al. 2013). Spectral fingerprints vary between microorganisms and some components detected within the spectrum fingerprint are specific to genus, species, and at times subspecies level. These results are also reproducible if bacteria are grown under the same conditions (Carbonnelle et al. 2011). However, the method is poor at differentiating between *E. coli, Shigella* and other related species.

Spectral fingerprints can be compared and matched to known or reference strain profiles within a database that is often created by specialized laboratories. Available databases will grow as the use of the method increases and other relevant organisms in food and clinical microbiology will be included. There is also a potential to use the technology to seek novel "biomarkers" which are distinguishable peaks or proteins that are unique to a group of strains, such as those implicated in outbreaks. This has been demonstrated by Christner et al. (2014) who identified two character-
istic peaks amongst STEC outbreak strains that were found to be of low prevalence among other genome sequenced *E. coli* strains. This technique may therefore be adapted to other typing tasks and assist with epidemiological surveys as a part of routine pathogen identification procedures (Christner et al. 2014). The applicability of the method to detect antibiotic resistance associated to identify bacteria has also been reported (Du et al. 2002). Some studies have evaluated the use of the technology directly to clinical samples (Carbonnelle et al. 2011; Koser et al. 2012; Schubert et al. 2011) and certainly future developments may see similar direct approaches on food products (Pavlovic et al. 2013).

4.2.3 Nanotechnology

The use of nanoscale materials or particles (1–100 nm) and technologies offers a great opportunity to develop fast, accurate, and cost-effective diagnostics for the detection of foodborne pathogens. The properties of nanomaterial used for pathogen detection can be altered by changing the size, shape, composition, and surface modification of the material (Kaittanis et al. 2010). The use of nanoparticles as labels has been combined with novel detection technologies which have led to improvements in sensitivity and multiplexing capabilities (Kaittanis et al. 2010). There are various types of nanosystems and materials that are described in greater detail by Kaittanis et al. 2010.

A growing application of nanoparticles is use as immunosensors (also referred to as "biosensors") which can be described as compact analytical devices that incorporate a biological or biomimetic sensing element, either closely connected to, or integrated within, a transducer system (Velasco-Garcia and Mottram 2003; Tokarskyy and Marshall 2008). There is no strict definition of an immunosensor and various formats and technologies are developing quickly, but many immunosensors use the same principles as an ELISA assay. These assays incorporate the use of nanoparticles which are coupled with specific oligonucleotides that can detect complementary DNA strands through a color change (Chen and Yin 2014; Ma et al. 2014). There are various formats that are described by Tokarskyy and Marshall (2008). Applications of this technology as "proof-of-concept" are appearing more frequently in the literature. For example, Ma et al. (2014) described the use of the paper clip immunoassay that incorporated gold nanoparticles that can quantify bacteria in water samples (Ma et al. 2014). Another example is the use of magnetite–gold nanoparticles bound to E. coli O157:H7-specific antibodies which are used in combination with immunomagnetic separation (IMS) methods and surfaceenhanced Raman spectroscopy for the detection of E. coli O157:H7 in apple juice (Najafi et al. 2014).

The use of quantum dots (QDots) which are a family of nanosized (1–10 nM) particles comprising a few thousand atoms is also being used in different detection systems. QDots exhibit a size-tunable band gap and hence fluorescence spectrum, which allows the exhibition of different colors at one excitation wavelength. To use

QDots in biological applications, crosslinkers (e.g., biotinavidin) have to be used to conjugate them to different biological components (Wang et al. 2012; Fournier-Wirth and Coste 2010). This nanoparticle has been used in combination with IMS to detect 10 cfu/g *E. coli* O157:H7 in ground beef following enrichment (Wang et al. 2012). Another study also described the use of QDots with anti-*E. coli* O157:H7 antibody within glass capillaries to perform a sandwich based assay for the detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 in liquid samples. The QDots were excited by using battery-powered light-emitting-diodes (LED) and the emission from the QDots was then imaged using a cell phone camera (Zhu et al. 2012). The method was able to detect approximately 5–10 cfu/mL in a buffer solution and fat-free milk, without enrichment. The promise is to develop a small, low-cost device that is highly specific and sensitive within a biological system and can offer a rapid alternative to conventional analytical techniques.

A comprehensive review of the use of immunosensors for the detection of *E. coli* O157:H7 with respect to the meat industry, states that the current technology does not offer overwhelming advantages in comparison to immunoassays. If the level of sensitivity becomes better than immunoassays, then immunosensors may become a valuable tool to decrease enrichment procedures and detection times, therefore saving time and money (Tokarskyy and Marshall 2008). Further work in this area is required to elucidate the influence of various food matrices and degree of cross-reactivity with other bacterial species. The major disadvantage of the technology is the cost of expensive equipment, but further development in the technologies may facilitate their use in foods in the future (Tokarskyy and Marshall 2008).

4.2.4 Next-Generation Sequencing of the Whole Bacterial Genome

There have been continuous technological improvements for microbial genomic characterization in the last decades, with various methods such as pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE), Multiple-Locus Variable Number Tandem Repeat Analysis (MLVA) and multilocus sequence typing (MLST) (Chap. 3) commonly applied throughout the world for the investigation of foodborne outbreaks and other epidemiological studies (Struelens and Brisse 2013). Although these methods are often well-established and affordable, the disadvantage is the time required to perform these methods and the lack of discriminatory power when comparing closely related isolates obtained from a single outbreak of a bacterial pathogen. This can hinder the elucidation of precise relationships between these isolates and prevent the identification of source cases or environmental sources (Schurch and Siezen 2010). Recent advances in technology and knowledge in molecular characterization and genetics has seen a rapid development and availability of whole genome sequencing (WGS) methods, such as next-generation sequencing for food safety applications. The decrease in cost of WGS and the development of bench-top sequencing technologies has enabled a fast turnaround of results which is attractive for use in routine diagnostics and typing (Joensen et al. 2014).

WGS has already proven useful in many outbreak investigations and has been reported to be a superior alternative to the current routine typing of pathogens (Chap. 3). The benefit of WGS was evident through the identification, characterization, and elucidation of the source of the highly virulent and unusual STEC 0104:H4 outbreak in Germany in 2011 (Joensen et al. 2014; Frank et al. 2011). The application of high-throughput sequencing technologies allowed the genome and origins of the strain to be characterized in relative real time as the outbreak was occurring (Franz et al. 2014; Mellmann et al. 2011; Rasko et al. 2011) (Inset 1.2). This technology can identify changes in a bacterial genome and therefore provides the maximum possible discriminatory power between two isolates. These changes can include single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and small insertions and deletions (Schurch and Siezen 2010). This technology shows potential to transform our understanding of the evolution of pathogens and the global spread of strains and their antibiotic resistance. This in turn will significantly influence diagnostic microbiology and surveillance worldwide (Koser et al. 2012; Franz et al. 2014).

Along with the rapid development of WGS in diagnostic microbiology, a number of challenges need to be overcome before it is used as a routine method in laboratories. Firstly, the development of WGS technologies and platforms is rapidly expanding and therefore it can be difficult to keep up to date with the latest information in this area. Implementation is also hindered by the uncertainty of which technologies to use and the cost benefits and requirements of these systems (Wain and Mavrogiorgou 2013). Secondly, WGS can produce huge amounts of information and data, and extraction and identification of useful data can be challenging and involves specialized bioinformatics training and time with current computer programs. Therefore, in order to become a routine method, a system that can automatically convert relevant data quickly in a fully automated and reliable form without human intervention, yet is easily interpreted, is essential (Koser et al. 2012). Such systems or software will require the use of continuously updated databases that would not only be used to compare genomes with others but also detect transmission routes, virulence, and antibiotic properties. Ideally these databases should be available internationally and certainly these avenues and hindrances are currently being investigated by organizations such as the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) (Koser et al. 2012; Struelens and Brisse 2013; Aarestrup et al. 2012).

As it currently stands, WGS is not suitable for routine primary detection of a pathogen, especially within a clinical sample where the pathogen is present in low numbers and amongst the normal microflora. Current detection methods are also significantly cheaper and rapid in fulfilling this requirement of detection and identification. In order for WGS to become cost-effective within a routine testing regime, other improvements must be considered. Improved throughput of analysis of WGS requires the simplification of sample preparation in order to obtain a product within a few hours that would not require specialized techniques. The resulting products, or read lengths would also have to be sufficiently long (Koser et al. 2012). The technology must also become sensitive enough to sequence DNA from a single colony without the need for subculturing or DNA preamplification steps, which

saves time and labor costs. Therefore, for implementation of WGS as a diagnostic test, technical challenges remain but the estimation of time and cost outcomes also needs to be assessed for each sample type and disease syndrome (Wain and Mavro-giorgou 2013). It is likely that the additional improvements of WGS technologies will replace conventional culture-based and molecular typing methods to provide point-of-care clinical diagnosis and aid in treatment and rapid response of outbreak investigations (Aarestrup et al. 2012).

Future developments in WGS will also see more use of "metagenomics" where the genomic information obtained from the whole sample is analyzed. This type of analysis can identify the microbial diversity and community composition within a sample and assist in establishing an ecological role of pathogens in a particular niche. This is especially relevant for microorganisms that cannot be cultured and identified through traditional methods (Sharma et al. 2008). It is likely that an increase in metagenomic studies of clinical samples will identify many other etiological agents that cause disease (Koser et al. 2012). Most studies in diarrheagenic E. *coli* centers on the STEC pathotype due to its significant role in foodborne disease, but the role in other E. coli pathotypes in foodborne disease may become clearer through metagenomic studies. It may be possible that other pathotypes of E. coli are among the millions of cases of illness where agents with insufficient data to estimate agent-specific burdens have not been identified (Kaspar et al. 2010). This may also identify other novel virulence genes that in turn create changes in the classification scheme that describes each of these pathotypes and may even identify other pathotypes.

References

- Aarestrup FM, Brown EW, Detter C, Gerner-Smidt P, Gilmour MW, Harmsen D, Hendriksen RS, Hewson R, Heymann DL, Johansson K, Ijaz K, Keim PS, Koopmans M, Kroneman A, Lo Fo Wong D, Lund O, Palm D, Sawanpanyalert P, Sobel J, Schlundt J (2012) Integrating genomebased informatics to modernize global disease monitoring, information sharing, and response. Emerg Infect Dis 18(11):e1. doi:10.3201/eid/1811.120453
- Boxrud D (2010) Advances in subtyping methods of foodborne disease pathogens. Curr Opin Biotechnol 21(2):137–141. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2010.02.011
- Carbonnelle E, Mesquita C, Bille E, Day N, Dauphin B, Beretti JL, Ferroni A, Gutmann L, Nassif X (2011) MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry tools for bacterial identification in clinical microbiology laboratory. Clin Biochem 44(1):104–109. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2010.06.017
- Cebula T, Payne W, Feng P (1995) Simultaneous identification of strains of *Escherichia coli* serotype O157:H7 and their Shiga-like toxin type by mismatch amplification mutation assaymultiplex PCR. J Clin Microbiol 33:248–250
- Chen GZ, Yin ZZ (2014) Electrochemical immunoassay of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 using Ag@ SiO2 nanoparticles as LABELS. J Anal Meth Chem 2014:247034. doi:10.1155/2014/247034
- Christner M, Trusch M, Rohde H, Kwiatkowski M, Schluter H, Wolters M, Aepfelbacher M, Hentschke M (2014) Rapid MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry strain typing during a large outbreak of Shiga-toxigenic *Escherichia coli*. PLoS ONE 9(7):e101924. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0101924

- Cocolin L, Rajkovic A, Rantsiou K, Uyttendaele M (2011) The challenge of merging food safety diagnostic needs with quantitative PCR platforms. Trends Food Sci Tech 22(Supplement 1):S30–S38. doi:10.1016/j.tifs.2011.02.009
- Du Z, Yang R, Guo Z, Song Y, Wang J (2002) Identification of *Staphylococcus aureus* and determination of its methicillin resistance by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Anal Chem 74(21):5487–5491
- Dunbar SA (2006) Applications of Luminex xMAP technology for rapid, high-throughput multiplexed nucleic acid detection. Clin Chim Acta 363(1–2):71–82. doi:10.1016/j.cccn.2005.06.023
- Fournier-Wirth C, Coste J (2010) Nanotechnologies for pathogen detection: future alternatives? Biologicals 38(1):9–13. doi:10.1016/j.biologicals.2009.10.010
- Frank C, Werber D, Cramer JP, Askar M, Faber M, an der Heiden M, Bernard H, Fruth A, Prager R, Spode A, Wadl M, Zoufaly A, Jordan S, Kemper MJ, Follin P, Muller L, King LA, Rosner B, Buchholz U, Stark K, Krause G, Team HUSI (2011) Epidemic profile of Shiga-toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 outbreak in Germany. New Engl J Med 365(19):1771–1780. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1106483
- Franz E, van Hoek AHAM, van der Wal FJ, de Boer A, Zwartkruis-Nahuis A, van der Zwaluw K, Aarts HJM, Heuvelink AE (2012) Genetic features differentiating bovine, food, and human isolates of Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157 in the Netherlands. J Clin Microbiol 50(3):772–780. doi:10.1128/Jcm.05964-11
- Garaizar J, Rementeria A, Porwollik S (2006) DNA microarray technology: a new tool for the epidemiological typing of bacterial pathogens? FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 47(2):178–189. doi:10.1111/j.1574-695X.2006.00081.x
- Ge B, Meng J (2009) Advanced technologies for pathogen and toxin detection in foods: current applications and future directions. J Lab Autom 14(4):235–241
- Huang DB, Mohanty A, DuPont HL, Okhuysen PC, Chiang T (2006) A review of an emerging enteric pathogen: enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli*. J Med Microbiol 55(Pt 10):1303–1311. doi:10.1099/jmm.0.46674-0
- Joensen KG, Scheutz F, Lund O, Hasman H, Kaas RS, Nielsen EM, Aarestrup FM (2014) Realtime whole-genome sequencing for routine typing, surveillance, and outbreak detection of verotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. J Clin Microbiol 52(5):1501–1510. doi:10.1128/JCM.03617-13
- Jones KE, Patel NG, Levy MA, Storeygard A, Balk D, Gittleman JL, Daszak P (2008) Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. Nature 451(7181):990–993. doi:10.1038/nature06536
- Kaittanis C, Santra S, Perez JM (2010) Emerging nanotechnology-based strategies for the identification of microbial pathogenesis. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 62(4–5):408–423. doi:10.1016/j. addr.2009.11.013
- Karmali MA, Gannon V, Sargeant JM (2010) verocytotoxin-producing *Escherichia coli* (VTEC). Vet Microbiol 140(3–4):360–370. doi:10.1016/j.vetmic.2009.04.011
- Kaspar C, Doyle ME, Archer J (2010) White paper on non-O157:H7 Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* from mean and non-meat sources. http://fri.wisc.edu/docs/pdf/FRI_Brief_Non-O157STEC_4_10.pdf. Accessed 30 Sept 2014
- Koser CU, Ellington MJ, Cartwright EJP, Gillespie SH, Brown NM, Farrington M, Holden MTG, Dougan G, Bentley SD, Parkhill J, Peacock SJ (2012) Routine use of microbial whole genome sequencing in diagnostic and public health microbiology. PLoS Pathog 8(8):e1002824. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002824 (doi:ARTN e1002824)
- Ma S, Tang Y, Liu J, Wu J (2014) Visible paper chip immunoassay for rapid determination of bacteria in water distribution system. Talanta 120:135–140. doi:10.1016/j.talanta.2013.12.007
- Mellmann A, Harmsen D, Cummings CA, Zentz EB, Leopold SR, Rico A, Prior K, Szczepanowski R, Ji Y, Zhang W, McLaughlin SF, Henkhaus JK, Leopold B, Bielaszewska M, Prager R, Brzoska PM, Moore RL, Guenther S, Rothberg JM, Karch H (2011) Prospective genomic characterization of the German enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O104:H4 outbreak by rapid next generation sequencing technology. PloS One 6(7):e22751. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0022751

- Najafi R, Mukherjee S, Hudson J Jr, Sharma A, Banerjee P (2014) Development of a rapid capturecum-detection method for *Escherichia coli* O157 from apple juice comprising nano-immunomagnetic separation in tandem with surface enhanced Raman scattering. Int J Food Microbiol 189c:89–97. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2014.07.036
- Newell D, Koopmans M, Verhoef L, Duizer E, Aidara-Kane A, Sprong H, Opsteegh M, Langelaar M, Threfall J, Scheutz F, van der Giessen J, Kruse H (2010) Food-borne diseases—the challenges of 20 years ago still persist while new ones continue to emerge. Int J Food Microbiol 139:13983–815
- Pavlovic M, Huber I, Konrad R, Busch U (2013) Application of MALDI-TOF MS for the identification of foodborne bacteria. Open Microbiol J 7:135–141.
- Rasko DA, Webster DR, Sahl JW, Bashir A, Boisen N, Scheutz F, Paxinos EE, Sebra R, Chin CS, Iliopoulos D, Klammer A, Peluso P, Lee L, Kislyuk AO, Bullard J, Kasarskis A, Wang S, Eid J, Rank D, Redman JC, Steyert SR, Frimodt-Moller J, Struve C, Petersen AM, Krogfelt KA, Nataro JP, Schadt EE, Waldor MK (2011) Origins of the *Escherichia coli* strain causing an outbreak of hemolytic-uremic syndrome in Germany. New Engl J Med 365(8):709–717
- Rasooly A, Herold KE (2008) Food microbial pathogen detection and analysis using DNA microarray technologies. Foodborne Pathog Dis 5(4):531–550. doi:10.1089/fpd.2008.0119
- Schubert S, Weinert K, Wagner C, Gunzl B, Wieser A, Maier T, Kostrzewa M (2011) Novel, improved sample preparation for rapid, direct identification from positive blood cultures using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry. J Mol Diagn 13(6):701–706. doi:10.1016/j.jmoldx.2011.07.004
- Schurch AC, Siezen RJ (2010) Genomic tracing of epidemics and disease outbreaks. Microb Biotechnol 3(6):628–633. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7915.2010.00224.x
- Sharma P, Kumari H, Kumar M, Verma M, Kumari K, Malhotra S, Khurana J, Lal R (2008) From bacterial genomics to metagenomics: concept, tools and recent advances. Indian J Microbiol 48(2):173–194. doi:10.1007/s12088-008-0031-4
- Struelens MJ, Brisse S (2013) From molecular to genomic epidemiology: transforming surveillance and control of infectious diseases. Euro Surveill 18(4):20386
- Tang Y, Kim H, Singh AK, Aroonnual A, Bae E, Rajwa B, Fratamico PM, Bhunia AK (2014) Light scattering sensor for direct identification of colonies of *Escherichia coli* serogroups O26, O45, O103, O111, O121, O145 and O157. PLoS ONE 9(8):e105272. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0105272
- Thomas MK, Murray R, Flockhart L, Pintar K, Pollari F, Fazil A, Nesbitt A, Marshall B (2013) Estimates of the burden of foodborne illness in Canada for 30 specified pathogens and unspecified agents, circa 2006. Foodborne Pathog Dis 10(7):639–648. doi:10.1089/fpd.2012.1389
- Tokarskyy O, Marshall DL (2008) Immunosensors for rapid detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7—perspectives for use in the meat processing industry. Food Microbiol 25(1):1–12. doi:10.1016/j.fm.2007.07.005
- Velasco-Garcia MN, Mottram T (2003) Biosensor technology addressing agricultural problems. Biosyst Eng 84(1):1–12. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1537-5110(02)00236-2
- Wain J, Mavrogiorgou E (2013) Next-generation sequencing in clinical microbiology. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 13(3):225–227. doi:10.1586/erm.13.8
- Wang L, Wu CS, Fan X, Mustapha A (2012) Detection of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 and *Salmonella* in ground beef by a bead-free quantum dot-facilitated isolation method. Int J Food Microbiol 156(1):83–87. doi:10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2012.03.003
- Zhang W, Qi W, Albert TJ, Motiwala AS, Alland D, Hyytia-Trees EK, Ribot EM, Fields PI, Whittam TS, Swaminathan B (2006) Probing genomic diversity and evolution of *Escherichia coli* O157 by single nucleotide polymorphisms. Genome Res 16(6):757–767. doi:10.1101/ gr.4759706
- Zhu H, Sikora U, Ozcan A (2012) Quantum dot enabled detection of *Escherichia coli* using a cellphone. Analyst 137(11):2541–2544. doi:10.1039/c2an35071h